## GEOMETRIC TRANSFORMATIONS AND SOLITON EQUATIONS

CHUU-LIAN TERNG\*

ABSTRACT. We give a survey of the following six closely related topics: (i) a general method for constructing a soliton hierarchy from a splitting of a loop algebra into positive and negative subalgebras, together with a sequence of commuting positive elements, (ii) a method—based on (i)—for constructing soliton hierarchies from a symmetric space, (iii) the dressing action of the negative loop subgroup on the space of solutions of the related soliton equation, (iv) classical Bäcklund, Christoffel, Lie, and Ribaucour transformations for surfaces in three-space and their relation to dressing actions, (v) methods for constructing a Lax pair for the Gauss-Codazzi Equation of certain submanifolds that admit Lie transforms, (vi) how soliton theory can be used to generalize classical soliton surfaces to submanifolds of higher dimension and co-dimension.

**2000** Mathematics Subject Classification: 37K05, 37K10 37K25, 37K30, 37K35, 53A05, 53B25.

**Keywords and Phrases:** Soliton hierarchy, soliton equation, Geometric transformation, soliton submanifolds.

## Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	The moving frame method for submanifolds	6
3.	Line congruences and Bäcklund transforms	9
4.	Sphere congruences and Ribaucour transforms	15
5.	Combescure transforms, O-surfaces, and $k$ -tuples	17
6.	From moving frame to Lax pair	20
7.	Soliton hierarchies constructed from symmetric spaces	28
8.	The $\frac{U}{K}$ -system and the Gauss-Codazzi equations	36
9.	Loop group actions	43
10.	Action of simple elements and geometric transforms	48
References		55

<sup>\*</sup>Research supported in part by NSF Grant DMS-0707132.

### 1. INTRODUCTION

Although it is difficult to give a formal definition of soliton equations, it is generally agreed that a soliton equation is a non-linear wave equation having the following properties (cf. [27, 3, 40, 54]):

## Existence of explicit *n*-soliton solutions

A solitary wave is a traveling wave of the form u(x,t) = f(x-ct) for some smooth function f that decays rapidly as  $|x| \to \infty$ . An *n*-soliton solution is a solution that is asymptotic to a nontrivial sum of n solitary waves  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i(x - c_it)$  as  $t \to -\infty$  and to the sum of the same waves  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i(x - c_it + r_i)$  with some nonzero phase shifts  $r_i$  as  $t \to \infty$ . In other words, during nonlinear interaction, the individual solitary waves pass through each other, keeping their velocities and shapes, but with phase shifts.

## **ODE Bäcklund transformation**

An ODE Bäcklund transformation is a system of compatible ODEs associated to a given solution of the soliton equation such that solutions of the ODE system are again solutions of the soliton equation. If we apply these transformations to the vacuum solutions repeatedly, then we get explicit multi-soliton solutions.

#### Bi-Hamiltonian structure and commuting flows

A pair of Poisson structures  $(\{,\}_0,\{,\}_1)$  on M is called a *bi-Hamiltonian* structure if  $c_0\{,\}_0 + c_1\{,\}_1$  is a Poisson structure for all constants  $c_0, c_1$ . A soliton equation is an evolution equation on a function space. One important property is that this function space admits a bi-Hamiltonian structure such that the equation is Hamiltonian with respect to both Poisson structures. Moreover, one can use these two Poisson structures to construct a hierarchy of commuting Hamiltonian PDEs.

#### Lax pair and inverse scattering

A PDE for  $q : \mathbb{R}^n \to V$  is said to have a  $\mathcal{G}$ -valued *Lax pair* or a *zero* curvature formulation if there is a family of  $\mathcal{G}$ -valued connection 1-forms  $\theta_{\lambda}$ on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  written in terms of q and derivatives of q for  $\lambda$  lies in an open subset  $\mathcal{O}$  of  $\mathbb{C}$  such that the PDE for q is given by the condition that  $\theta_{\lambda}$  is flat for all  $\lambda \in \mathcal{O}$ , where  $\mathcal{G}$  is a finite dimensional Lie algebra. The Lax pair gives a linear system with a "spectral parameter"  $\lambda$ . The scattering data of a solution is the "singularity" of parallel frames of  $\theta_{\lambda}$ . The inverse scattering reconstructs the solution from its scattering data (cf. [5, 54]).

The above properties will be discussed in more detail in later sections. Soliton equations also have algebraic geometric solutions via the spectral curve formulation (cf. [36]), a tau function and a Virasoro action (cf. [63, 61]).

#### Model soliton equations

Below are some soliton equations found in 1960s and 70s: The Kortewegde Vries equation (KdV)

$$q_t = \frac{1}{4}(q_{xxx} + 6qq_x),$$

the non-linear Schrödinger equation (NLS) [64]

$$q_t = \frac{\mathbf{i}}{2}(q_{xx} + 2|q|^2q),$$

the modified KdV (mKdV)

$$q_t = \frac{1}{4}(q_{xxx} + 6q^2 q_x),$$

the sine-Gordon equation (SGE)

$$q_{xt} = \sin q,$$

and the 3-wave equation [65] for  $u = (u_{ij}) \in su(3)$  with  $u_{ii} = 0$  for  $1 \le i \le 3$ :

$$(u_{ij})_t = \frac{b_i - b_j}{a_i - a_j} (u_{ij})_x + \frac{b_k - b_j}{a_k - a_j} u_{ik} u_{kj}, \qquad 1 \le i, j, k \le 3 \text{ distinct},$$

where  $a_1, a_2, a_3$  are fixed distinct real numbers and  $b_1, b_2, b_3$  are fixed real constants. Although KdV and SGE as soliton equations were discovered in the 1960s and 1970s, they were already studied in the nineteen century.

## Construction of soliton hierarchy from splittings of Lie algebras

Zakharov-Shabat found a sl(2)-valued Lax pair for NLS in [64], Ablowitz-Kaup-Newell-Segur [1] found sl(2)-valued Lax pairs for KdV, mKdV, and SGE, Zakharov-Shabat [65] considered equations admitting a zero curvature formulation depending rationally on  $\lambda$ , Adler [4] derived KdV from a splitting of the Lie algebra of pseudo-differential operators on the real line, Kupershmidt-Wilson [37] found a  $n \times n$  generalization of mKdV, Drinfeld-Sokolov [27] and Wilson [63] constructed soliton hierarchies from splitting of loop algebras. These works led to a general method to construct soliton equations from a splitting of Lie algebras. Many properties of soliton equations can be derived in a unifying way from Lie algebra splittings (cf. [27, 63, 57]).

## Soliton hierarchy associated to symmetric spaces

Given a symmetric space  $\frac{U}{K}$ , there is a natural Lie subalgebra  $\mathcal{L}$  of the Lie algebra of loops in  $\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathbb{C}$  and a splitting of  $\mathcal{L}$ , where  $\mathcal{U}$  is the Lie algebra of U. We call the soliton hierarchy constructed from this splitting the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -hierarchy. For example, the SU(2)-hierarchy contains NLS, the  $\frac{SU(2)}{SO(2)}$ -hierarchy contains the mKdV, and the SU(3)-hierarchy contains the 3-wave equation. If the rank of  $\frac{U}{K}$  is n, then the first n flows in the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -hierarchy are PDEs of first order similar to the 3-wave equation. We put these first n flows together to construct the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system in [51]. It turns out that many  $\frac{U}{K}$ -systems are Gauss-Codazzi equations for special classes of submanifolds admitting geometric transforms.

## Soliton equations in classical differential geometry

4

Soliton equations were also found in classical differential geometry. The SGE arose first through the theory of surfaces of constant Gauss curvature K = -1 in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , and the reduced 3-wave equation can be found in Darboux's work [23] on triply orthogonal coordinate systems of  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . In 1906, da Rios, a student of Levi-Civita, wrote a master's thesis, in which he modeled the movement of a thin vortex by the motion of a curve propagating in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  along its binormal with curvature as speed. It was much later, in 1971, that Hasimoto showed the equivalence of this system with the NLS. These equations were rediscovered independently of their geometric history. The main contribution of the classical geometers lies in their methods for constructing explicit solutions of these equations from geometric transforms. For example:

## K = -1 surfaces in $\mathbb{R}^3$ , SGE, and Bäcklund transforms [28]

There is a Tchebyshef line of curvature coordinate system on surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  with K = -1 such that the Gauss-Codazzi equation written in this coordinate system is the SGE. Given a surface M with K = -1 in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , there is a one parameter family of new surfaces of curvature -1 related to M by Bäcklund transformations (a special type of line congruence, see section 3). Moreover, this family of new K = -1 surfaces can be constructed from a system of ODEs and infinitely many families of explicit solutions of SGE are constructed.

## Isothermic surfaces in $\mathbb{R}^3$ and Ribaucour transforms [22]

A surface in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  is called *isothermic* if it is parametrized by a conformal line of curvature coordinate system. The Gauss-Codazzi equation written as a first order system is a soliton equation. Given an isothermic surface Min  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , there is a family of isothermic surfaces related to M by Ribaucour transforms (a special type of sphere congruence, see section 4). Moreover, this family of new isothermic surfaces can be constructed by solving a system of compatible ODEs.

## Higher dimension generalizations via differential geometry

In late 1970s, S. S. Chern suggested to Tenenblat and the author that the Gauss-Codazzi Equation of *n*-submanifolds in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$  with negative constant sectional curvature might be a new soliton equation in more than two variables. We found a good coordinate system to write down the Gauss-Codazzi equations in terms of a map from  $\mathbb{R}^n$  to O(n) (the generalized sine-Gordon equation GSGE), constructed Bäcklund transformations, a permutability formula, and explicit multi-soliton solutions for GSGE in [49, 50]. Ablowitz, Beals, and Tenenblat [2] constructed a Lax pair for GSGE and used the inverse scattering method to solve the Cauchy problem for GSGE for small rapidly decaying initial data on a non-characteristic line. Although GSGE is a PDE in *n* variables, it is really a system of *n* commuting determined hyperbolic systems in one space and one time variables. Tenenblat generalized Bäcklund theory to other space forms in [47]. Dajczer and Tojeiro

constructed Ribaucour transforms for flat Lagrangian submanifolds in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  and  $\mathbb{C}P^n$  in [19, 20]. It turns out that all these geometric equations arise naturally as  $\frac{U}{K}$ -systems or twisted  $\frac{U}{K}$ -systems in soliton theory.

## $\mathbb R\text{-}action$ and associated family

One reason why many soliton equations arise in submanifold geometry can be seen from the method of moving frames: A local orthonormal frame  $g = (e_1, \ldots, e_{n+k})$  for a submanifold  $M^n$  in  $\mathbb{R}^{n+k}$  is called *adapted* if  $e_1, \ldots, e_n$ are tangent to M. The Gauss-Codazzi equation (GCE) for M is given by the flatness for the Maurer-Cartan form  $\theta = g^{-1} dg$ . Consider a class of n-submanifolds in  $\mathbb{R}^{n+k}$  satisfying a certain geometric condition. Suppose

- (a) we can use this geometric condition to find a "good" coordinate system on these submanifolds such that its Maurer-Cartan form  $\theta$  and hence the GCE has specially "simple" form,
- (b) there is an ℝ-action on solutions of the GCE, and we call an orbit of the induced ℝ-action on this class of submanifolds an associated family.

Then the induced  $\mathbb{R}$ -action on the Maurer-Cartan form often gives a Lax pair for the Gauss-Codazzi equation, which is one of the characteristic properties of soliton equations. Thus we call a class of submanifolds *soliton submanifolds* if its Gauss-Codazzi equation is a soliton equation.

## Higher dimension generalization via soliton theory

Constructions and generalization of geometric transforms for soliton surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  to submanifolds in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  are beautiful but mysterious and usually are done case by case. However, geometric transforms for soliton submanifolds in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  can be constructed in a unified way from the action of "simple" rational loops on the space of solutions of soliton equations and the permutability formula is then a consequence of the geometric transforms being part of a group action. If the Gauss-Codazzi equation of a class of surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  admitting geometric transforms is a soliton equation associated to a rank 2 symmetric space, then we can often use the same type of symmetric space of higher rank to construct a natural generalization of a class of soliton surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  to higher dimension and co-dimension soliton submanifolds. For example, the Gauss-Codazzi equation for Christoffel pairs of isothermic surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  is the  $\frac{O(4,1)}{O(3) \times O(1,1)}$ -system [17], which led to a natural generalization to k tuples of isothermic k-submanifolds in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  whose equation is the  $\frac{O(n+k-1,1)}{O(n)\times O(k-1,1)}$ -system. Moreover, the action of rational loops on this  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system gives rise to natural generalizations of Ribaucour transforms and permutability formulae for these k tuples of isothermic submanifolds in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ (cf. [25]).

This article is organized as follows: We set up notations for the moving frame method for submanifolds in section 2, review the classical notion of line congruences and geometric Bäcklund transformations for surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  with K = -1 and *n*-submanifolds in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$  with constant sectional curvature

-1 in section 3, and explain the notions of sphere congruences and Ribaucour transforms for isothermic surfaces in section 4. In section 5 we review Combescure transforms, O surfaces, and k-tuples in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and the fact that k-tuples in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  give a natural generalization of isothermic surface theory to arbitrary dimension and co-dimension isothermic submanifolds. In section 6 we derive the Lax pairs for Gauss-Codazzi equations using the moving frame of the associated family for surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  with K = -1, isothermic surfaces, k-tuples in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , and flat Lagrangian submanifolds in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . In section 7 we give a brief discussion of the method of constructing soliton hierarchies from splittings of loop algebras and derive formal inverse scattering, commuting flows, and bi-Hamiltonian structure from the splitting. We give definitions of  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system, twisted  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system, and the -1 flow on the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system and their Lax pairs in section 8. We review the construction of the action of the group of rational maps  $f: S^2 = \mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\} \to U_{\mathbb{C}}$  such that  $f(\infty) = I$  and f satisfies the  $\frac{U}{K}$ - reality condition on the space of solutions of the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system in section 9. In the final section, we give the relation between the rational loop group action on the space of solutions of  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system and geometric transformations of the corresponding soliton submanifolds.

The author selects only few classes of soliton submanifolds in Euclidean space to explain the relation between various geometric transforms and group actions on solutions of soliton equations. The reader may find more examples of soliton submanifolds of space forms and symmetric spaces in [47, 7, 30, 11, 39, 9, 10], soliton surfaces in affine geometry in [8, 62], and soliton submanifolds of conformal geometry in [26, 13]. For the theory of soliton equations, we refer the reader to [27, 3, 40] and for the theory of transformations we refer the reader to [32, 48, 33]. We also refer to these references for more complete lists of works related to soliton equations and soliton submanifolds.

#### 2. The moving frame method for submanifolds

Let  $f: M^n \to \mathbb{R}^{n+k}$  be an immersion, and (,) the standard inner product on  $\mathbb{R}^{n+k}$ . The first and second fundamental forms I, II and the induced normal connection  $\nabla^{\perp}$  form a complete set of local invariants and they must satisfy the Gauss-Codazzi equations. Below we set up notations for the method of moving frames of Cartan and Chern.

Let  $g = (e_1, \ldots, e_{n+k})$  be a local orthonormal frame on M such that  $e_1, \ldots, e_n$  are tangent to M, and let  $w_1, \ldots, w_n$  be the 1-forms on M dual to  $e_1, \ldots, e_n$ . Then

$$\mathrm{d}f = \sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i e_i. \tag{2.1}$$

Since  $g^t g = I$ , the Maurer-Cartan form

$$w = (w_{AB}) := g^{-1} \operatorname{d} g$$

is o(n+k)-valued. In other words, dg = gw, i.e.,

$$de_B = \sum_{A=1}^{n+k} w_{AB} e_A$$
, or equivalently,  $w_{AB} = (de_B, e_A)$ 

We use the following index conventions:

$$1 \le i, j, k \le n, \quad n+1 \le \alpha, \beta, \gamma \le n+k, \quad 1 \le A, B, C \le n+k.$$

Then I, II,  $\nabla^{\perp}$  are given by

$$\mathbf{I} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i^2, \quad \mathbf{II} = \sum_{i=1,\alpha=n+1}^{n,n+k} w_i w_{i\alpha} e_{\alpha}, \quad \nabla^{\perp} e_{\alpha} = (\mathbf{d} e_{\alpha})^{\perp} = \sum_{\beta} w_{\beta\alpha} e_{\beta},$$

where  $\xi^{\perp}$  denotes the projection of  $\xi$  onto  $\nu(M)$  along TM. The shape operator  $A_v$  along a normal vector  $v \in \nu(M)_p$  is the self-adjoint operator on  $TM_p$  defined by  $(II(u_1, u_2), v) = (A_v(u_1), u_2)$  for all  $u_1, u_2 \in TM_p$ .

## Lemma 2.1. Cartan Lemma

The Levi-Civita connection 1-form  $(w_{ij})_{1 \le i,j \le n}$  for  $I = \sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i^2$  is obtained by solving the structure equation:

$$dw_i = -\sum_{j=1}^n w_{ij} \wedge w_j, \quad w_{ij} + w_{ji} = 0, \quad 1 \le i, j \le n.$$
 (2.2)

For example, the Levi-Civita connection 1-form  $(w_{ij})$  for a diagonal metric  $I = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i(x)^2 dx_i^2$  is

$$w_{ij} = \frac{(a_i)_{x_j}}{a_j} \,\mathrm{d}x_i - \frac{(a_j)_{x_i}}{a_i} \,\mathrm{d}x_j.$$
(2.3)

## Gauss-Codazzi equations

Since  $w = g^{-1} dg$ , w is a flat o(n + k)-valued connection 1-form, i.e.,  $dw = -w \wedge w$ . Or equivalently,

$$dw_{AB} = -\sum_{C} w_{AC} \wedge w_{CB}, \quad 1 \le A \le n+k.$$
(2.4)

This gives the Gauss-Codazzi-Ricci equation for M:

$$\Omega_{ij} = \mathrm{d}w_{ij} + \sum_{k} w_{ik} \wedge w_{kj} = \sum_{\alpha} w_{i\alpha} \wedge w_{j\alpha}, \qquad (2.5)$$

$$dw_{i\alpha} = -\sum_{j} w_{ij} \wedge w_{j\alpha} - \sum_{\beta} w_{i\beta} \wedge w_{\beta\alpha}, \qquad (2.6)$$

$$\Omega_{\alpha\beta}^{\perp} = dw_{\alpha\beta} + \sum_{\gamma} w_{\alpha\gamma} \wedge w_{\gamma\beta} = \sum_{i} w_{i\alpha} \wedge w_{i\beta}, \qquad (2.7)$$

where  $\Omega_{ij}$  and  $\Omega^{\perp}_{\alpha,\beta}$  are the curvature tensors for I and for the induced normal connection  $\nabla^{\perp}$  respectively.

Write  $w_{i\alpha} = \sum_{j} h_{ij}^{\alpha} w_{j}$ . Then  $h_{ij}^{\alpha} = h_{ji}^{\alpha}$  and the matrix for the shape operator  $A_{e_{\alpha}}$  is  $(h_{ij}^{\alpha})$  with respect to the tangent basis  $e_1, \ldots, e_n$ . The Ricci equation gives

$$\Omega_{\alpha,\beta}^{\perp} = \sum_{i} w_{i\alpha} \wedge w_{i\beta} = \sum_{i,k,l} h_{ik}^{\alpha} h_{il}^{\beta} w_k \wedge w_l.$$

### Flat and non-degenerate normal bundle

The normal bundle is *flat* if the normal curvature is zero, i.e.,  $\Omega_{\alpha\beta}^{\perp} = 0$ , or equivalently  $[A_{e_{\alpha}}, A_{e_{\beta}}] = 0$  for all  $n+1 \leq \alpha, \beta \leq n+k$ . So the normal bundle is flat if and only if all shape operators commute. In this case, for fixed  $p \in M$ , we can find a common eigenbasis for the shape operators  $\{A_v \mid v \in \nu(M)_p\}.$ 

The normal bundle of an *n*-dimensional submanifold in  $\mathbb{R}^{n+k}$  is nondegenerate if for each p the space of shape operators  $\{A_v \mid v \in \nu(M)_p\}$ has dimension k.

## Theorem 2.2. Fundamental Theorem of submanifolds in $\mathbb{R}^{N}$ [41]

Let M be an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , and  $\eta$  an orthogonal rank k vector bundle on M with an O(k)-connection  $\nabla$ . Let  $\mathfrak{g}$  be a Riemannian metric on M. and  $\xi$  a smooth section of  $S^2(T^*M) \otimes \eta$ . We construct an o(n+k)-valued 1-form as follows:

- (1) Choose 1-forms  $w_1, \ldots, w_n$  such that  $\mathfrak{g} = \sum_{i=1}^n w_i^2$ .
- (2) Solve  $(w_{ij})_{1 \le i,j \le n}$  from the structure equation (2.2).
- (3) Choose a local orthonormal frame  $(s_{n+1}, \ldots, s_{n+k})$  for  $\eta$ . Write the
- $\begin{array}{l} \text{connection } \nabla^{\perp} s_{\alpha} = \sum_{\beta} w_{\beta\alpha} s_{\beta}. \\ \text{(4) } Write \ \xi \ = \ \sum_{\alpha,i,j} h_{ij}^{\alpha} w_i w_j s_{\alpha} \ \text{with } h_{ij}^{\alpha} \ = \ h_{ji}^{\alpha}. \ \text{Set } w_{i\alpha} \ = \ -w_{\alpha i} \ = \ \end{array}$  $\sum_{j} h_{ij}^{\alpha} w_j$ .

If  $w := (w_{AB})_{1 \le A, B \le n+k}$  is a flat o(n+k)-valued connection 1-form, i.e.,  $dw = -w \wedge w$ , then given  $x_0 \in M$ ,  $p_0 \in \mathbb{R}^{n+k}$ , and an orthonormal basis  $\{v_1, \ldots, v_{n+k}\}$  of  $\mathbb{R}^{n+k}$ , the following system of first order PDE for  $(f, e_1, \ldots, e_{n+k})$  is solvable and has a unique solution defined in an open subset  $\mathcal{O}$  of  $x_0$  in M:

$$\begin{cases} df = \sum_{i} w_{i}e_{i}, \\ de_{A} = \sum_{B} w_{BA}e_{B}, \\ f(x_{0}) = p_{0}, \quad e_{A}(0) = v_{A}. \end{cases}$$
(2.8)

Moreover,

- (a)  $f: \mathcal{O} \to \mathbb{R}^{n+k}$  is an immersion with  $\mathbf{I} = \mathfrak{g}$  and  $\mathbf{II} = \sum h_{ij}^{\alpha} w_i w_j e_{\alpha}$ ,
- (b)  $e_{\alpha}(x) \mapsto s_{\alpha}(x)$  gives a vector bundle isomorphism from  $\nu(M)$  to  $\eta$ that preserves the orthogonal structure and maps the induced normal connection  $\nabla^{\perp}$  to  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and II of f to  $\xi$ .

Remark 2.3. The Fundamental Theorem 2.2 can be formulated as the flatness of a  $\mathcal{G}$ -valued connection 1-form, where  $\mathcal{G}$  is the Lie algebra of the rigid motion group G of  $\mathbb{R}^{n+k}$ : First note that G can be embedded in GL(n+k+1) by

$$\phi_{g,v}(x) = gx + v \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} g & v \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad g \in O(n+k), v \in \mathbb{R}^{n+k}.$$

The Lie algebra of the rigid motion group is the subalgebra of gl(n+k+1):

$$\mathcal{G} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} A & v \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \middle| A \in o(n+k), v \in \mathbb{R}^{n+k} \right\}.$$

The equation for isometric immersion for given I, II,  $\nabla^{\perp}$  is (2.8), or equivalently

$$d\begin{pmatrix} g & f \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = \tau \begin{pmatrix} g & f \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{where} \quad \tau = \begin{pmatrix} w_{ij} & w_{i\alpha} & w_i \\ w_{\alpha i} & w_{\alpha\beta} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

This system is solvable for any initial data  $c_0 \in O(n+k)$  and  $p_0 \in \mathbb{R}^{n+k}$  if and only if  $\tau$  is flat. Or equivalently,  $w_i, w_{AB}$  satisfy the structure equation (2.2) and the Gauss-Codazzi equation (2.4).

## 3. Line congruences and Bäcklund transforms

We review the classical notion of line congruences and geometric Bäcklund transforms for K = -1 surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  and for *n*-submanifolds in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$  with constant sectional curvature -1 ([28, 49, 50]).

A line congruence in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  is a smooth 2- parameter family of lines,

$$\ell(x) = \{c(x) + tv(x) \mid t \in \mathbb{R}\}$$

defined for x in an open subset  $\mathcal{O}$  of  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . A surface  $f : \mathcal{O} \to \mathbb{R}^3$  is called a *focal surface* of the line congruence  $\ell$  if  $f(x) \in \ell(x)$  and  $\ell(x)$  is tangent to f at f(x) for each  $x \in \mathcal{O}$ . To find a focal surface is to find a function  $t : \mathcal{O} \to \mathbb{R}$  such that f(x) = c(x) + t(x)v(x) is an immersion and v(x) is tangent to f at f(x). This condition is equivalent to

$$\det(f_{x_1}, f_{x_2}, v) = 0,$$

which is a quadratic equation in t. So generically, there are exactly two focal surfaces for a line congruence. Moreover, the two focal surfaces determine the line congruence. Hence we call a diffeomorphism  $\phi : M \to \tilde{M}$  a line congruence if the line jointing p and  $\phi(p)$  is tangent to M and  $\tilde{M}$  at p and  $\phi(p)$  respectively for all  $p \in M$ .

K = -1 surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  and the sine-Gordon equation (cf. [28, 41])

We can use the Codazzi equation to prove that if M is a surface in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  with K = -1, then locally there exists a line of curvature coordinate system  $(x_1, x_2)$  such that

$$I = \cos^2 q \, dx_1^2 + \sin^2 q \, dx_2^2, \quad II = 2\sin q \cos q \, (\, dx_1^2 - \, dx_2^2) \tag{3.1}$$

for some smooth function q. We call  $(x_1, x_2)$  the *Tchebyshef line of curvature* coordinate system. Note that q is the angle between the asymptotic lines. Let  $w_1 = \cos q \, dx_1$  and  $w_2 = \sin q \, dx_2$ . By (2.3),  $w_{12} = -q_{x_2} \, dx_1 - q_{x_1} \, dx_2$ . Use II to see that  $w_{13} = \sin q \, dx_1$  and  $w_{23} = -\cos q \, dx_2$ . The Gauss-Codazzi equation is given by the flatness of

$$w = (w_{AB}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -q_{x_2} \, \mathrm{d}x_1 - q_{x_1} \, \mathrm{d}x_2 & \sin q \, \mathrm{d}x_1 \\ q_{x_2} \, \mathrm{d}x_1 + q_{x_1} \, \mathrm{d}x_2 & 0 & -\cos q \, \mathrm{d}x_2 \\ -\sin q \, \mathrm{d}x_1 & \cos q \, \mathrm{d}x_2 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.2)

which gives the sine-Gordon equation (SGE)

$$q_{x_1x_1} - q_{x_2x_2} = \sin q \cos q. \tag{3.3}$$

Change to light cone coordinates s, t:

$$x_1 = s + t, \quad x_2 = s - t.$$

The fundamental forms (3.1) become

I = 
$$ds^2 + 2\cos(2q) ds dt + dt^2$$
, II =  $2\sin(2q) ds dt$ .

The SGE in (s, t) coordinate system is

$$q_{st} = \sin q \cos q. \tag{3.4}$$

We call (s, t) the Tchebyshef asymptotic coordinate system.

#### Definition 3.1. Bäcklund transformation

A line congruence  $\phi: M \to M^*$  is called a *Bäcklund transformation* (BT) with constant  $\theta$  if for any  $p \in M$ , the distance between p and  $p^* = \phi(p)$  is  $\sin \theta$ , and the angle between the normal line of M at p and the normal line of  $M^*$  at  $p^*$  is equal to  $\theta$ .

#### Theorem 3.2. Bäcklund Theorem

If  $\phi: M \to M^*$  is a Bäcklund transformation with constant  $\theta$ , then both M and  $M^*$  have constant Gaussian curvature K = -1 and  $\phi$  preserves Tchebyshef line of curvature and asymptotic coordinates. Conversely, given a surface M in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  with K = -1, a constant  $0 < \theta < \pi$ ,  $p_0 \in M$ , and  $v_0 \in TM_{p_0}$  a unit vector, then there exist a unique surface  $M^*$  and a Bäcklund transformation  $\phi: M \to M^*$  with constant  $\theta$  such that  $\phi(p_0) = p_0 + \sin \theta v_0$ .

Analytically to find a BT  $\phi$  with constant  $\theta$  for a given K = -1 surface M in Theorem 3.2 is to find a unit tangent field v on M such that  $\phi(x) = x + \sin \theta v(x)$  is a BT. Let  $e_i$  denote the unit principal directions for i = 1, 2 and write  $v = \cos q^* e_1 + \sin q^* e_2$ , then the condition that  $\phi$  is a BT with constant  $\theta$  is equivalent to  $q^*$  solving a system of compatible first order ODEs:

Theorem 3.3. ODE Bäcklund transform

Given q(s,t) and a non-zero real constant  $\mu$ , the following system is solvable for  $q^*$ 

BT<sub>q,µ</sub> 
$$\begin{cases} (q^* + q)_s = \mu \sin(q^* - q), \\ (q^* - q)_t = \frac{1}{\mu} \sin(q^* + q), \end{cases}$$
 (3.5)

if and only if q is a solution of the SGE (3.4). Moreover, if q is a solution of the SGE then a solution  $q^*$  of (3.5) is again a solution of the SGE.

The parameter  $\theta$  for geometric BT in Theorem 3.2 and constant  $\mu$  in system 3.5 are related by  $\mu = \tan \frac{\theta}{2}$ .

Given a solution q of SGE, we can solve the system  $\mathrm{BT}_{q,\mu}$  to get a family of new solutions of SGE. If we apply this method again, then we get a second family of solutions. This gives infinitely many families of solutions from a given solution of SGE. For example, the constant function q = 0 is called the *trivial or vacuum solution* of the SGE. The system  $\mathrm{BT}_{0,\mu}$  is

$$\begin{cases} \alpha_s = \mu \sin \alpha, \\ \alpha_t = \frac{1}{\mu} \sin \alpha. \end{cases}$$

It has an explicit solution

$$\alpha(s,t) = 2\tan^{-1}\left(e^{\mu s + \frac{1}{\mu}t}\right).$$
(3.6)

We can solve Bäcklund transformation  $BT_{\alpha,\mu_1}$  to get another family of solutions. However,  $BT_{\alpha,\mu_1}$  is not as easy to solve as  $BT_{0,\mu}$ . But instead of solving  $BT_{\alpha,\mu_1}$  we can use the following Theorem:

## Theorem 3.4. Bianchi Permutability Theorem

Let  $0 < \theta_1, \theta_2 < \pi$  be constants such that  $\sin^2 \theta_1 \neq \sin^2 \theta_2$ , and  $\ell_i : M_0 \rightarrow M_i$  Bäcklund transformations with constant  $\theta_i$  for i = 1, 2. Then there exist a unique surface  $M_3$  and Bäcklund transformations  $\tilde{\ell}_1 : M_2 \rightarrow M_3$  and  $\tilde{\ell}_2 : M_1 \rightarrow M_3$  with constant  $\theta_1, \theta_2$  respectively such that  $\tilde{\ell}_1 \circ \ell_2 = \tilde{\ell}_2 \circ \ell_1$ . Moreover, if  $q_i$  is the solution of the SGE corresponding to  $M_i$  for  $0 \leq i \leq 3$ , then

$$\tan\left(\frac{q_3 - q_0}{2}\right) = \frac{\mu_1 + \mu_2}{\mu_1 - \mu_2} \tan\left(\frac{q_1 - q_2}{2}\right), \qquad (3.7)$$

where  $\mu_i = \tan \frac{\theta_i}{2}$ .

## Global verses local

It follows from the Fundamental Theorem of Surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  that there is a bijective correspondence between solutions q of the SGE (3.3) satisfying  $\operatorname{Im}(q) \subset (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$  and local surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  with K = -1 up to rigid motions. So we can construct infinitely many families of K = -1 surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  by solving compatible systems of ODEs. Note that if  $q : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$  is a smooth solution of SGE such that  $\sin q \cos q$  is zero at a point  $p_0$ , then although the map f constructed from the Fundamental Theorem of Surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  fails to be an immersion at  $p_0$ , it is smooth at  $p_0$ ,  $df_{p_o}$  has rank 1 and the tangent bundle is smooth at  $p_0$ . Thus global solutions of SGE give K = -1 surfaces

in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  with cusp singularities but smooth tangent bundle. This is a common phenomenon for soliton submanifolds: Although the Cauchy problem for small norm initial data can be solved globally, the corresponding soliton submanifolds often are only defined locally.

## Explicit multi-soliton solutions for the SGE

Write the solutions  $\alpha$  of  $BT_{0,\mu}$  given in (3.6) in space-time coordinates  $x_1 = s + t$  and  $x_2 = s - t$  to get  $\alpha(x_1, x_2) = 2 \tan^{-1} e^{\csc \theta x_1 - \cot \theta x_2}$ . So

$$\alpha_{x_1} = \frac{2\csc\theta e^{\csc\theta x_1 - \cot\theta x_2}}{1 + e^{2(\csc\theta x_1 - \cot\theta x_2)}}.$$

Note that  $\alpha$  is a traveling wave solution and  $\alpha_{x_1}$  decays to zero as  $|x_1| \to \infty$ . Hence SGE viewed as an equation of  $\alpha_{x_1}$  has solitary wave solutions. These are the 1-soliton solutions of the SGE. If we apply permutability formulae to these 1-solutions, then we get 2-soliton solutions. Moreover, these solutions are asymptotically equal to a sum of two solitary waves as  $x_2 \to -\infty$  and to the sum of the same two solitary waves as  $x_2 \to \infty$  but with phase shifts (cf. [18]). Explicit multi-soliton solutions of SGE can be obtained by applying permutability formulas repeatedly.

## Lie or Lorentz transform

Lie observed that SGE is invariant under the Lorentz transformations, which are called Lie transforms: If q(s,t) is a solution of SGE (3.4) and r a non-zero real constant, then  $\tilde{q}(s,t) := q(rs, r^{-1}t)$  is also a solution of SGE.

## Associated family of K = -1 surfaces in $\mathbb{R}^3$

Given a K = -1 surface M in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , let q(s,t) denote the corresponding solution of the SGE,  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  a non-zero constant, and  $q^{\lambda}(s,t) = q(\lambda s, \lambda^{-1}t)$ . The family of K = -1 surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  corresponding to SGE solution  $q^{\lambda}$  is called the *associated family of* K = -1 surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  containing M. In section 6, we will use the moving frame of this associated family to derive the standard Lax pair for SGE.

## *n*-submanifolds in $\mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$ with sectional curvature -1 and GSGE

The hyperbolic *n*-manifold  $\mathbb{H}^n$  is the simply connected, complete, *n*-dimensional Riemannian manifold with constant sectional curvature -1. É. Cartan proved that  $\mathbb{H}^n$  can not be locally isometrically immersed in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n-2}$ , but can be locally isometrically immersed in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$  and the normal bundle of such immersions must be flat ([15]). Moore used Codazzi equations to prove the existence of line of curvature coordinate systems on such immersions, a slight improvement of Moore's result was given in [50] to get an analogue of Tchebyshef line of curvature coordinate systems, and the corresponding Gauss-Codazzi equation is called the *generalized sine-Gordon equation* (GSGE). Bäcklund theory was generalized to GSGE in [49, 50].

**Theorem 3.5.** Let  $M^n$  be a simply connected submanifold of  $\mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$  with constant sectional curvature -1. Then the normal bundle  $\nu(M)$  is flat and there exist coordinates  $(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ , an O(n)-valued map  $A = (a_{ij})$ , and

parallel normal frames  $e_{n+1}, \ldots, e_{2n-1}$  such that the first and second fundamental forms are of the form

$$\mathbf{I} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{1i}^2 dx_i^2, \quad \mathbf{II} = \sum_{i=1,j=2}^{n} a_{1i} a_{ji} dx_i^2 e_{n+j-1}.$$

We call x the Tchebyshef line of curvature coordinate system for M.

To write down the Gauss-Codazzi equation for these immersions we set

$$w_i = a_{1i} dx_i, \quad 1 \le i \le n, \tag{3.8}$$

$$w_{i,n+j-1} = -w_{n+j-1,i} = a_{ji}dx_i.$$
(3.9)

By (2.3),  $w_{ij} = f_{ij} dx_i - f_{ji} dx_j$ , where

$$f_{ij} = \begin{cases} \frac{(a_{1i})x_j}{a_{1j}}, & i \neq j, \\ 0, & i = j, \end{cases}$$
(3.10)

Set  $F = (f_{ij})$ . Then

$$\omega = (w_{ij})_{i,j \le n} = \delta F - F^t \delta, \quad \delta = \operatorname{diag}(\,\mathrm{d}x_1, \dots, \,\mathrm{d}x_n) \tag{3.11}$$

is the Levi-Civita o(n)-connection of the induced metric I. The Gauss-Codazzi equation and the structure equation give

$$\begin{cases} dw + w \wedge w = -\delta A^t e_{11} A \delta, \\ (a_{ki})_{x_j} = f_{ij} a_{kj}, \qquad 1 \le i \ne j \le n, 1 \le k \le n, \end{cases}$$
(3.12)

where  $e_{11}$  is the  $n \times n$  matrix with all entries zero except the 11-th entry is 1. Or equivalently, it is the second order PDE system for the O(n)-valued map  $A = (a_{ij})$ :

$$\begin{cases} (f_{ij})_{x_j} + (f_{ji})_{x_i} + \sum_k f_{ik} f_{jk} = a_{1i} a_{1j}, & i \neq j, \\ (f_{ij})_{x_k} = f_{ik} f_{kj}, & i, j, k \text{ distinct}, \\ (a_{ki})_{x_j} = a_{kj} f_{ij}, & i \neq j, \forall k. \end{cases}$$
(3.13)

This is the *GSGE*, and when n = 2, it is the SGE. Since  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{ki}^2 = 1$ ,

$$a_{ki}(a_{ki})_{x_i} = -\sum_{j \neq i} a_{kj}(a_{kj})_{x_i} = -\sum_{j \neq i} a_{kj}f_{ji}a_{ki}.$$

So we have

$$(a_{ki})_{x_i} = -\sum_j a_{kj} f_{ji}.$$
 (3.14)

It follows from (3.14) and the third equation of (3.13) that

$$\mathrm{d}A = A(\delta F^t - F\delta).$$

So (3.12) is equivalent to

$$\begin{cases} dw + w \wedge w = -\delta A^t e_{11} A \delta, & \text{where } w = \delta F - F^t \delta, \\ A^{-1} dA = \delta F^t - F \delta \end{cases}$$
(3.15)

Note that we associate to an *n*-submanifold of  $\mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$  three flat connections: the flat o(n)-connection  $\delta F^t - F\delta$ , the flat o(n, 1)-connection

$$\begin{pmatrix} \delta F - F^t \delta & \xi^t \\ \xi & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{where } \xi = (w_1, \dots, w_n),$$

and the flat o(2n-1) Maurer-Cartan form  $(w_{AB})_{A,B\leq 2n-1}$ .

To generalize Bäcklund transformations to higher dimensions, we first recall the notion of k angles between two k-dimensional linear subspace  $V_1$ and  $V_2$  of a 2k-dimensional inner product space (V, (, )): Let  $\pi$  denote the orthogonal projection of V onto  $V_1$ . Define a symmetric bilinear form on  $V_2$  by  $\langle v_1, v_2 \rangle = (\pi(v_1), \pi(v_2))$ . Then there is a self-adjoint operator A on  $V_2$  such that  $\langle v_1, v_2 \rangle = (A(v_1), v_2)$ . The k angles between  $V_1$  and  $V_2$  are  $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_k$  if  $\cos^2 \theta_1, \ldots, \cos^2 \theta_k$  are the eigenvalues of A.

**Definition 3.6.** Let  $M, M^*$  be two *n*-dimensional submanifolds of  $\mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$  with flat normal bundle. A diffeomorphism  $\phi : M \to M^*$  is called a *Bäcklund* transformation with constant  $\theta$  if for all  $p \in M$ 

- (1) the line joining p and  $p^* = \phi(p)$  is tangent to M at p and to  $M^*$  at  $p^*$ ,
- (2)  $||\overline{pp^*}|| = \sin\theta$ ,
- (3) the (n-1) angles between the normal space  $\nu(M)_p$  and  $\nu(M^*)_{p^*}$ are all equal to the constant  $\theta$  (note that these normal spaces are two (n-1) dimensional linear subspaces of the (2n-2) dimensional subspace of  $\mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$  that is perpendicular to  $p-p^*$ ).

Let  $\ell(p)$  denote the line in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$  through p and  $\phi(p)$  for a Bäcklund transformation  $\phi : M \to M^*$ . Then condition (1) says that  $\ell$  is an *n*-parameter family of lines in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$  (i.e., an *n*-dimension line congruence in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$ ) and  $M, M^*$  are focal surfaces of  $\ell$ .

**Theorem 3.7.** If  $\phi : M \to M^*$  is a Bäcklund transformation for ndimensional submanifolds in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$  with constant  $\theta$ , then both  $M, M^*$  have constant sectional curvature -1. Moreover,  $\phi$  maps Tchebyshef line of curvature coordinate system of M to that of  $M^*$ .

Let

 $I_{k,n-k} = diag(\epsilon_1, \dots, \epsilon_n), \text{ where } \epsilon_i = 1 \text{ for } i \leq k, \epsilon_i = -1 \text{ for } k < i \leq n.$ 

Bäcklund transform analytically gives

**Theorem 3.8.** Given a smooth  $A : \mathbb{R}^n \to O(n)$  and real non-zero constant  $\lambda$ , the following system for  $X : \mathbb{R}^n \to O(n)$ ,

$$BT_{A,\lambda}: \qquad dX = X\delta A^t D_\lambda X - X\omega - D_\lambda A\delta, \qquad (3.16)$$

is solvable if and only if A is a solution of GSGE, where  $D_{\lambda} = \frac{(\lambda I + \lambda^{-1}J)}{2}$ ,  $J = I_{1,n-1}$ . Moreover, the solution X is again a solution of GSGE.

The constant  $\theta$  and  $\lambda$  are related by  $\lambda = \tan \frac{\theta}{2}$ .

There is an analogue of Permutability Theorem for GSGE:

**Theorem 3.9.** Let  $\phi_i : M_0 \to M_i$  be Bäcklund transformations for ndimensional submanifolds in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$  with constant  $\theta_i$  for i = 1, 2. If  $\sin^2 \theta_1 \neq \sin^2 \theta_2$ , then there exist unique  $M_3$  and Bäcklund transformations  $\psi_1 : M_2 \to M_3$  and  $\psi_2 : M_1 \to M_3$  with angles  $\theta_1, \theta_2$  respectively such that  $\psi_1 \circ \phi_2 = \psi_2 \circ \phi_1$ . Moreover, if  $A_i$  is the solution of the GSGE corresponding to  $M_i$  for i = 0, 1, 2, 3, then

$$A_3 A_0^{-1} = (-D_2 + D_1 A_2 A_1^{-1}) (D_1 - D_2 A_2 A_1^{-1})^{-1} \mathbf{I}_{1,n-1},$$
(3.17)

where  $D_i = \operatorname{diag}(\operatorname{csc} \theta_i, \operatorname{cot} \theta_i, \dots, \operatorname{cot} \theta_i)$ .

In other words, given a solution  $A_0$  of the GSGE, we solve  $\operatorname{BT}_{A_0,\lambda_i}$  with  $\lambda_i = \operatorname{csc} \theta_i + \operatorname{cot} \theta_i$  to get  $A_i$  for i = 1, 2. Then  $A_3$  defined by the algebraic formula (3.17) is a solution of  $\operatorname{BT}_{A_1,\lambda_2}$  and  $\operatorname{BT}_{A_2,\lambda_1}$ . Since the constant map A = I is a solution of the GSGE, we can apply BT and permutability formula to construct infinitely many families of explicit solutions of the GSGE.

#### 4. Sphere congruences and Ribaucour transforms

We review the notion of sphere congruences, Christoffel and Ribaucour transforms for isothermic surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  (cf. [22]).

A sphere congruence in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  is a smooth 2-parameter family of 2-spheres in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ :

$$S(x) = \{c(x) + r(x)y \mid y \in S^2\}, \quad x \in \mathcal{O},$$

where  $c: \mathcal{O} \to \mathbb{R}^3$  and  $r: \mathcal{O} \to (0, \infty)$  are smooth maps, and  $\mathcal{O}$  is an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . A surface  $f: \mathcal{O} \to \mathbb{R}^3$  is called an *envelope* of the sphere congruence S if  $f(p) \in S(p)$  and f is tangent to the sphere S(p) at f(p). To construct envelopes of S, we need to find a map  $y: \mathcal{O} \to S^2$  such that f(x) = c(x) + r(x)y(x) satisfying

$$f_{x_1} \cdot y = f_{x_2} \cdot y = 0. \tag{4.1}$$

Generically there are exactly two envelopes. If M and M are two envelopes of the sphere congruence S, then there is a natural map  $\phi : M \to \tilde{M}$  such that for each  $p \in M$ , there exists  $x \in \mathcal{O}$  such that the sphere S(x) is tangent to M and  $\tilde{M}$  at p and  $\phi(p)$  respectively. Note that the map  $\phi$  determines the sphere congruence S. Hence we make the following definition:

## Definition 4.1. Ribaucour transform for surfaces in $\mathbb{R}^3$

A diffeomorphism  $\phi : M \to M$  is called a *sphere congruence* if for each  $p \in M$ , the normal line of M at p intersects the normal line of  $\tilde{M}$  at  $\phi(p)$  at equal distance r(p). A sphere congruence  $\phi$  from a surface M in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  to a surface  $\tilde{M}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  is called a *Ribaucour transform* if  $\phi$  maps line of curvature coordinates of M to those of  $\tilde{M}$ .

#### Isothermic surfaces

An immersion  $f(x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^3$  is called *isothermic* if  $(x_1, x_2)$  is both a conformal and line of curvature coordinate system. In other words, f is isothermic if fundamental forms for f are

$$\mathbf{I} = e^{2q} (\,\mathrm{d}x_1^2 + \,\mathrm{d}x_2^2), \quad \mathbf{II} = e^q (r_1 \,\mathrm{d}x_1^2 + r_2 \,\mathrm{d}x_2^2), \tag{4.2}$$

for some smooth functions  $q, r_1$  and  $r_2$ .

 $\operatorname{Set}$ 

$$w_1 = e^q \, \mathrm{d}x_1, \quad w_2 = e^q \, \mathrm{d}x_2, \quad w_{13} = r_1 \, \mathrm{d}x_1, \quad w_{23} = r_2 \, \mathrm{d}x_2.$$

By (2.3),  $w_{12} = q_{x_2} dx_1 - q_{x_1} dx_2$ . The Gauss-Codazzi equation is:

$$\begin{cases}
q_{x_1x_1} + q_{x_2x_2} + r_1r_2 = 0, \\
(r_1)_{x_2} = q_{x_2}r_2, \\
(r_2)_{x_1} = q_{x_1}r_1.
\end{cases}$$
(4.3)

For example, constant mean curvature surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  away from umbilic points are isothermic.

## Ribaucour transform for isothermic surfaces

Given an isothermic surface M in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , there exist an one parameter family of isothermic surfaces  $M_{\lambda}$  and Ribaucour transforms  $\phi_{\lambda} : M \to M_{\lambda}$ . Moreover,  $\phi_{\lambda}$  can be constructed by solving a system of compatible ODEs. Bianchi proved a permutability formula for these Ribaucour transforms between isothermic surfaces.

## **Christoffel Transform**

A Christoffel transform is an orientation reversing conformal diffeomorphism  $\phi : M \to \tilde{M}$  such that  $TM_p$  is parallel to  $T\tilde{M}_{\phi(p)}$  for all  $p \in M$ . We call  $(M, \tilde{M})$  a Christoffel pair. Note that if  $(q, r_1, r_2)$  is a solution of (4.3) then so is  $(-q, r_1, -r_2)$ . This fact gives the Christoffel transform for isothermic surfaces:

**Theorem 4.2.** A surface M in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  is isothermic if and only if there exist a second surface  $\tilde{M}$  and a Christoffel transform  $\phi : M \to \tilde{M}$ . Moreover, if  $f(x_1, x_2) \mapsto \tilde{f}(x_1, x_2)$  is a Christoffel transform, then the fundamental forms of M and  $\tilde{M}$  are of the forms

$$I = e^{2q} (dx_1^2 + dx_2^2), \qquad II = e^q (r_1 dx_1^2 + r_2 dx_2^2),$$
  

$$\tilde{I} = e^{-2q} (dx_1^2 + dx_2^2), \qquad \tilde{II} = e^{-q} (r_1 dx_1^2 - r_2 dx_2^2).$$

for some smooth solution  $(q, r_1, r_2)$  of (4.3).

## Associated family of Christoffel pairs

If  $(f_1, f_2)$  is a Christoffel pair of isothermic surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , then

$$\{(\lambda f_1, \lambda f_2) \mid \lambda \in \mathbb{R}\}\$$

is an associated family of Christoffel pairs of isothermic surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . The induced action of  $\mathbb{R}^+$  on the space of solutions of (4.3) is

$$s * (q, r_1, r_2) = (q + \ln s, r_1, r_2), \quad s \in \mathbb{R}^+.$$

## 5. Combescure transforms, O-surfaces, and k-tuples

We review the notions of conjugate coordinates on surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , the Combescure transforms between surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , O surfaces defined in [45], and k-tuples of k-submanifolds in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  defined in [11, 25].

In classical geometry, a local coordinate system  $(x_1, x_2)$  on a surface Min  $\mathbb{R}^3$  is said to be *conjugate* if the position function  $f(x_1, x_2)$  satisfies

$$f_{x_1x_2} = h_1 f_{x_1} + h_2 f_{x_2}$$

for some smooth functions  $h_1, h_2$ ; or equivalently, II is diagonalized with respect to  $(x_1, x_2)$ . The collection of coordinate curves  $\{x_i = c_i \mid c_i \in \mathbb{R}, i = 1, 2\}$  is called a *conjugate net* on M. An orthogonal conjugate coordinate system on a surface in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  is a line of curvature coordinate system, and the corresponding net is called an *O-net* (cf. [28]). Note that a surface away from umbilic points admits line of curvature coordinates.

Given surfaces  $M, \tilde{M}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , a diffeomorphism  $\phi: M \to \tilde{M}$  is a *Combescure* transform if  $TM_p = T\tilde{M}_{\phi(p)}$  for all  $p \in M$ . These classical notions can be generalized to submanifolds in Euclidean spaces as follows:

#### Conjugate coordinate system for submanifolds in $\mathbb{R}^n$

A coordinate system x on a k-dimensional submanifold M in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is called conjugate if the position function f(x) satisfies the following conditions:

$$f_{x_i x_j} = \sum_{\ell=1}^k c_{ij\ell} f_{x_\ell}, \quad 1 \le i < j \le k$$

for some smooth functions  $c_{ij\ell}$ . We call the collection of all coordinate curves of a conjugate coordinate system a *conjugate net* on the submanifold.

If f(x) is an immersion parametrized by conjugate coordinate system, then  $f_{x_i}$  are eigenvectors of the shape operator  $A_v$  along any normal vector field v. So all shape operators commute, which implies that the normal bundle of f must be flat. An orthogonal conjugate coordinate system on a submanifold in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is a line of curvature coordinate system. Unlike surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , submanifolds in Euclidean space with flat normal bundle generically do not admit line of curvature coordinate systems.

#### Definition 5.1. Combescure transform for submanifolds

A diffeomorphism  $\phi$  from a k-dimensional submanifold M to another Min  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is called a *Combescure transform* if  $TM_p = T\tilde{M}_{\phi(p)}$  for all  $p \in M$ .

#### **Definition 5.2.** Combescure O-transform [25]

Let  $M, \tilde{M}$  be submanifolds in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  admitting line of curvature coordinates (so they have flat normal bundles). A Combescure transform  $\phi : M \to \tilde{M}$ is called a *Combescure O-transform* if

- (1)  $\phi$  preserves line of curvature coordinates,
- (2) if v is parallel normal field on M, then v is a parallel normal field on  $\tilde{M}$  (since  $TM_p = T\tilde{M}_{\phi(p)}$  for all  $p \in M$ , we can identify  $\nu(M)_p$ as  $\nu(\tilde{M})_{\phi(p)}$ ).

## **Definition 5.3. Combescure O-map** [25]

Let  $\Omega$  be an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^k$ , and  $\mathcal{M}_{n \times \ell}$  the space of real  $n \times \ell$  matrices with  $\ell \leq k$ . A smooth map  $Y = (Y_1, \ldots, Y_\ell) : \Omega \to \mathcal{M}_{n \times \ell}$  is called a *Combescure O-map* if it satisfies the following conditions:

- (a) Each  $Y_i : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^n$  is an immersion with flat normal bundle and parametrized by line of curvature coordinates.
- (b) The map  $Y_i(x) \mapsto Y_{i+1}(x)$  is a Combescure O-transform for  $1 \le i \le \ell 1$ .
- (c) Let  $e_i$  be the unit direction of  $(Y_1)_{x_j}$  for  $1 \le j \le k$  (so  $e_i$  is parallel to  $(Y_i)_{x_i}$  for  $2 \le i \le \ell$ ), and  $a_{ij}$ 's defined by  $(Y_i)_{x_j} = a_{ij}e_j$  for  $1 \le i \le \ell$  and  $j \le k$ . We call  $(a_{ij})$  the metric matrix associated to Y. The rank of  $(a_{ij}(x))$  is  $\ell$  for all  $x \in \Omega$ ,

**Remark 5.4.** Let  $Y = (Y_1, \ldots, Y_\ell) : \Omega \to \mathcal{M}_{n \times \ell}$  be a Combescure Omap, and  $(a_{ij})$  the metric matrix associated to Y. Let  $(e_{k+1}, \ldots, e_n)$  be an orthonormal parallel normal frame for  $Y_1$ , and  $g = (e_1, \ldots, e_n)$ . Then g is an adapted frame on  $Y_j$  for all  $1 \leq j \leq k$ . Hence they have the same Maurer-Cartan form  $g^{-1} dg = (w_{AB})$ . By Cartan Lemma 2.1 and (2.3), we have

$$w_{rs} = \frac{(a_{ir})_{x_s}}{a_{is}} \, \mathrm{d}x_r - \frac{(a_{is})_{x_r}}{a_{ir}} \, \mathrm{d}x_s, \quad 1 \le r \ne s \le k, \quad 1 \le i \le \ell.$$

So

$$\frac{(a_{ir})_{x_s}}{a_{is}} = \frac{(a_{1r})_{x_s}}{a_{1s}}, \quad 1 \le r \ne s \le k, \ 1 \le i \le \ell.$$

Geometrically, this means that  $\nabla_j e_i = \nabla_1 e_i$  for all  $i, j \leq k$ , where  $\nabla_j$  is the Levi-Civita connection of the induced metric  $I_j$  of  $Y_j$ . Since x is a line of curvature coordinate system, there exist smooth functions  $h_{i\alpha}$  such that

 $w_{i\alpha} = h_{i\alpha} \,\mathrm{d}x_i, \quad 1 \le i \le k, k < \alpha \le n.$ 

## **Definition 5.5.** O surfaces ([45])

Two surfaces  $f_1(x), f_2(x)$  in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  parametrized by line of curvature coordinates are called *O*-surfaces if

- (a) the map  $f_1(x) \mapsto f_2(x)$  is a Combescure transform for all  $i \neq j$ ,
- (b)  $\frac{(a_{21})_{x_2}}{a_{22}} = \frac{(a_{11})_{x_2}}{a_{11}}$  and  $\frac{(a_{22})_{x_1}}{a_{21}} = \frac{(a_{12})_{x_1}}{a_{11}}$ , where  $e_j$  is the unit direction of  $(f_1)_{x_j}$  (hence  $e_j$  is parallel to  $(f_2)_{x_j}$ ) for j = 1, 2 and  $a_{ij}$ 's are defined by  $(f_i)_{x_j} = a_{ij}e_j$  for i, j = 1, 2.

As a consequence of Remark 5.4, we have

**Proposition 5.6.** Two surfaces f(x),  $\tilde{f}(x)$  parametrized by line of curvature coordinates are O surfaces if and only if the map  $(f, \tilde{f})$  is a Combescure O-map.

## **Definition 5.7.** k-tuples in $\mathbb{R}^n$ [11, 25]

A Combescure O-map  $Y = (Y_1, \ldots, Y_k)$  of k-dimensional submanifolds in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is called

- (1) a k-tuple of k-submanifolds in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of type  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$  (or just k-tuple in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of type  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$ ) if all rows of the metric matrix of Y have constant length in  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$ .
- (2) a k-tuples of k-submanifolds in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of type  $O(k \ell, \ell)$  if the metric matrix of Y lies in  $O(k \ell, \ell)$ ,
- (3) a a k-tuple of k-submanifolds in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of null  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$  type if all rows of the metric matrix of Y are null vectors in  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$ .

Combescure O-maps and 2-tuples occur naturally in surface geometry:

**Example 5.8.** If f(x) is a surface in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  parametrized by line of curvature coordinates, then  $\{f, e_3\}$  and  $\{f, f + re_3\}$  are O surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , where  $r \in \mathbb{R}$  is a constant and  $e_3$  is the unit normal.

**Example 5.9.** A Christoffel pair of isothermic surfaces  $(f_1, f_2)$  is a Combescure O-map whose metric matrix  $(a_{ij})$  is of the form  $\begin{pmatrix} e^q & e^q \\ e^{-q} & -e^{-q} \end{pmatrix}$  for some q, i.e., it is a 2-tuple in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  of null  $\mathbb{R}^{1,1}$  type.

## Example 5.10. [11, 45]

A 2-tuple  $(f_1, f_2)$  of surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  of type O(1, 1) is a Combescure Omap whose metric matrix is of the form  $\begin{pmatrix} \cosh q & \sinh q \\ \sinh q & \cosh q \end{pmatrix}$ , and the two fundamental forms for  $Y_1, Y_2$  are

$$\begin{cases} I_1 = \cosh^2 u \, dx_1^2 + \sinh^2 u \, dx_2^2, \\ II_1 = r_1 \cosh u \, dx_1^2 + r_2 \sinh u \, dx_2^2, \\ I_2 = \sinh^2 u \, dx_1^2 + \cosh^2 u \, dx_2^2, \\ II_2 = r_1 \sinh u \, dx_1^2 + r_2 \cosh u \, dx_2^2. \end{cases}$$

Note that

(1) the Gaussian curvature of  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  are equal,  $K_1(x) = K_2(x)$ ,

(2)  $(Y_1 + Y_2, Y_1 - Y_2)$  is an isothermic pair.

**Example 5.11.** [11, 45] A 2-tuple  $(f_1, f_2)$  of surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  of type O(2) is a Combescure O-map whose metric matrix is of the form  $\begin{pmatrix} \cos q & \sin q \\ -\sin q & \cos q \end{pmatrix}$ , and the fundamental forms of  $Y_1, Y_2$  are

$$\begin{cases} I_1 = \cos^2 q \, dx_1^2 + \sin^2 q \, dx_2^2, \\ II_1 = r_1 \cos q \, dx_1^2 + r_2 \sin q \, dx_2^2, \end{cases} \begin{cases} I_2 = \sin^2 q \, dx_1^2 + \cos^2 q \, dx_2^2, \\ II_2 = r_1 \sin q \, dx_1^2 - r_2 \cos q \, dx_2^2. \end{cases}$$

Thus the Gaussian curvature  $K_1(x) = -K_2(x)$ .

If  $f_1(x)$  is a surface with K = -1 parametrized by Tchebyshef line of curvature coordinates as in section 3, then  $r_1 = \sin q$ ,  $r_2 = -\cos q$ , q is a solution of SGE, and  $(f, e_3)$  is a 2-tuple of surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  of type O(2).

## Definition 5.12. Isothermic<sub> $\ell$ </sub> k-submanifolds in $\mathbb{R}^n$ [25]

A k-dimensional submanifold M in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is  $isothermic_{\ell}$  if

- (1) the normal bundle is flat,
- (2) there is a line of curvature coordinate system  $(x_1, \ldots, x_k)$  such that  $I = \sum_{i=1}^k g_{ii} dx_i^2$  satisfies  $\sum_{i=1}^{k-\ell} g_{ii} \sum_{i=k-\ell+1}^k g_{ii} = 0.$

## Remark 5.13.

- (1) A k-tuple in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of type  $O(k \ell, \ell)$  is of type  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$ ,
- (2) a Christoffel pair of isothermic surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is a 2-tuple in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of null  $\mathbb{R}^{1,1}$  type (cf. [11, 12])
- (3) The equation for k-tuples in ℝ<sup>n</sup> of type ℝ<sup>k-ℓ,ℓ</sup> is the O(n+k-ℓ,ℓ)/O(n)×O(k-ℓ,ℓ) system and there are Ribaucour transforms and permutability formulae for these k-tuples. These will be reviewed in sections 8 and 10.
- (4) If  $Y = (Y_1, \ldots, Y_k)$  is a k-tuple in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of null  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$  type, then each  $Y_i$  is an isothermic<sub> $\ell$ </sub> submanifold in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and  $Y_i$  and  $Y_j$  are related by Combescure O-transforms.

## 6. FROM MOVING FRAME TO LAX PAIR

Suppose the PDE for  $q : \mathbb{R}^n \to V$  has a  $\mathcal{G}$ -valued Lax pair  $\theta_{\lambda}$  on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , where  $\mathcal{G}$  is the Lie algebra of a Lie group G. If q is a solution of the PDE, then given  $c_0 \in G$  there is a unique G-valued solution  $E(x, \lambda)$  for

$$E^{-1} dE = \theta_{\lambda}, \quad E(0,\lambda) = c_0,$$

which will be called a *parallel frame* of the solution q or of its Lax pair  $\theta_{\lambda}$ . The solution with initial data  $c_0 = I$  is called the *normalized parallel frame*.

The existence of a Lax pair is one of the characteristic properties of soliton equations. The SGE, GSGE, and the Gauss-Codazzi equation for isothermic surfaces and for flat Lagrangian submanifolds in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , and the equation for k-tuples in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of type  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$  are soliton equations and their Lax pairs were found in [1, 2, 17, 58, 25] respectively. In general, it is not easy to determine whether a PDE has a Lax pair. We explain in this section how to construct

- (1) Lax pairs for SGE, GSGE, equations for flat Lagrangian submanifolds in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , and for k-tuples in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of type  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$  from the Maurer-Cartan forms of specially chosen moving frames of the *associated family* of these submanifolds,
- (2) the immersions of these submanifolds from parallel frames of the corresponding Lax pairs.

## K = -1 surfaces in $\mathbb{R}^3$

Lax pair (cf. [7, 56])

Suppose M is a surface in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  with K = -1, (s, t) the Tchebyshef asymptotic coordinate system, and q(s, t) is the solution of SGE corresponding to M. Let  $f^{\lambda} : M^{\lambda} \to \mathbb{R}^3$  denote the K = -1 surface corresponding to the solution  $q^{\lambda}(s, t) = q(\lambda s, \lambda^{-1}t)$ . We derive a Lax pair for the SGE from the

Maurer-Cartan form for  $M^{\lambda}$ : For each non-zero real  $\lambda$ , choose the orthonormal frame  $F^{\lambda} = (e_1^{\lambda}, e_2^{\lambda}, e_3^{\lambda})$  on  $M^{\lambda}$  such that  $e_1^{\lambda} = f_s^{\lambda}$ , and  $e_3^{\lambda}$  is the unit normal to  $M^{\lambda}$ . Set  $w^{\lambda} := (F^{\lambda})^{-1} dF^{\lambda}$ . Substitute  $(\frac{1}{2\lambda}s, 2\lambda t)$  for (s, t) in  $\omega^{\lambda}$ to get a one-parameter family of flat o(3)-valued connection 1-forms:

$$\omega^{\lambda} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -2q_s & 0\\ 2q_s & 0 & -2\lambda\\ 0 & 2\lambda & 0 \end{pmatrix} ds + \frac{1}{2\lambda} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \sin 2q\\ 0 & 0 & \cos 2q\\ -\sin 2q & -\cos 2q & 0 \end{pmatrix} dt.$$
(6.1)

To get the known Lax pair of SGE, we identify the Lie algebra o(3) as su(2) to rewrite the family  $\omega^{\lambda}$  of o(3)-valued connections as a family of flat su(2)-valued connection 1-forms:

$$\theta_{\lambda} = \begin{pmatrix} -\mathbf{i}\lambda & -q_s \\ q_s & \mathbf{i}\lambda \end{pmatrix} ds + \frac{\mathbf{i}}{4\lambda} \begin{pmatrix} \cos 2q & -\sin 2q \\ -\sin 2q & -\cos 2q \end{pmatrix} dt.$$
(6.2)

Moreover, given  $q : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ , then q is a solution of the SGE if and only if  $\theta_{\lambda}$  defined by (6.2) is flat for all non-zero  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ .

Sym's formula [46]

If q is a solution of the SGE, then we can construct the corresponding surface with K = -1 in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  from a parallel frame of the Lax pair associated to q as follows: Set  $\theta_{\lambda}$  by (6.2), and let  $E(s, t, \lambda)$  be a parallel frame for  $\theta_{\lambda}$ , i.e., the solution of

$$E^{-1} dE = \theta_{\lambda}, \quad E(0,0,\lambda) = c_0 \in SU(2).$$

Since  $\theta_{\bar{\lambda}}^* + \theta_{\lambda} = 0$ ,  $E(s, t, \bar{\lambda})^* E(s, t, \lambda) = I$ . Hence  $E(s, t, r) \in SU(2)$  for any real number r. Set

$$f_r = \frac{\partial E}{\partial \lambda} E^{-1} \Big|_{\lambda = r}$$

Because  $E(s,t,r) \in SU(2)$  for  $r \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have  $f_r \in su(2)$ . Also

$$\mathrm{d}f_r = E(s,t,r) \left( \begin{pmatrix} -\mathbf{i} & 0\\ 0 & \mathbf{i} \end{pmatrix} \mathrm{d}s + \frac{\mathbf{i}}{4r^2} \begin{pmatrix} -\cos 2q & \sin 2q\\ \sin 2q & \cos 2q \end{pmatrix} \mathrm{d}t \right) E(s,t,r)^{-1}.$$

If we identify su(2) as  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , then  $f := f_{\frac{1}{2}}(s,t)$  is a surface with K = -1, (s,t) is the Tchebyshef asymptotic coordinate system, and q is the solution of the SGE corresponding to f.

*n*-submanifolds in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$  with sectional curvature -1

Lax pair

Let  $f: M^n \to \mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$  be an immersion with sectional curvature -1, x the Tchebyshef line of curvature coordinate system,  $e_i$  the unit direction of  $f_{x_i}$ ,  $(e_{n+1}, \ldots, e_{2n-1})$  the parallel normal frame, and

$$I = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{1i} \, dx_i^2, \quad II = \sum_{i=1,j=2}^{n} a_{1i} a_{ji} \, dx_i^2 e_{n+j-1}$$

the fundamental forms as in Theorem 3.5. Set  $F = (f_{ij})$  as in (3.10),  $w_i = a_{1i} dx_i$ ,  $w_{i,n+j-1} = a_{ji} dx_i$ ,  $w_{ij} = f_{ij} dx_i - f_{ji} dx_j$  and  $w_{n+i-1,n+j-1} = 0$ .

We associate to the immersion f two flat connection 1-forms: The sectional curvature of  $I = \sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i^2$  is -1, giving

$$\mathrm{d}w_{ij} + \sum_{k} w_{ik} w_{kj} = -w_i w_j,$$

which is equivalent to

$$\zeta_1 = \begin{pmatrix} \omega & \xi^t \\ \xi & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \omega = (w_{ij})_{i,j \le n}, \quad \xi = (w_1, \dots, w_n)$$

being a flat o(n, 1)-valued connection 1-form. The Maurer-Cartan form of f gives a flat o(2n - 1)-valued 1-form

$$\varpi = g^{-1} \,\mathrm{d}g = (w_{AB}) = \begin{pmatrix} w & \eta \\ -\eta^t & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

where  $g = (e_1, \ldots, e_{2n-1}), w = (w_{ij})_{i,j \le n}$  and  $\eta_{ij} = a_{ji} dx_i$ .

It is easy to see that an o(2n-1)-valued 1-form  $\begin{pmatrix} \omega & \eta \\ -\eta^t & 0 \end{pmatrix}$  is flat if and only if

$$\zeta_2 = \begin{pmatrix} \omega & \mathbf{i}\eta \\ \mathbf{i}\eta^t & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -\mathbf{i} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} w & \eta \\ -\eta^t & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbf{i} \end{pmatrix}$$

is a flat  $o(n, n - 1, \mathbb{C})$ -valued 1-form. We embed o(n, 1) and o(n, n - 1) into o(n, n) as Lie subalgebras by

$$o(n,1) = \{ y = (y_{ij}) \in o(n,n) \mid y_{ij} = 0, \ \forall \ n+1 < i, j \le 2n \},\$$
  
$$o(n,n-1) = \{ y = (y_{ij}) \in o(n,n) \mid y_{i,n+1} = y_{n+1,i} = 0 \ \forall \ 1 \le i \le n \}.$$

Use these embeddings to write  $\zeta_1, \zeta_2$  as flat o(n, n)-valued 1-forms:

$$\zeta_j = \begin{pmatrix} \omega & \delta A^t D_j \\ D_j A \delta & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad j = 1, 2,$$

where  $\delta = \text{diag}(dx_1, \ldots, dx_n)$ ,  $D_1 = e_{11} = \text{diag}(1, 0, \ldots, 0)$  and  $D_2 = \mathbf{i}(\mathbf{I} - e_{11})$ . The flatness of  $\zeta_1$  and  $\zeta_2$  gives:

$$\begin{cases} d\omega + \omega \wedge \omega + \delta A^t D^2 A \delta = 0, & \text{where } w = \delta F - F^t \delta, \\ D \, dA \wedge \delta + D A \delta \wedge \omega = 0 \end{cases}$$
(6.3)

for  $D = D_1$  or  $D = D_2$ . Write system (6.3) in terms of A and F to get the GSGE (3.15).

Set  $D_{\theta} = \cos \theta D_1 + \sin \theta D_2 = \operatorname{diag}(\cos \theta, \mathbf{i} \sin \theta, \dots, \mathbf{i} \sin \theta)$ . Then  $D_{\theta}^2 = -\sin^2 \theta \mathbf{I} + D_1$ . Since  $\delta \wedge \delta = 0$ ,  $\delta A^t D_{\theta}^2 A \delta = \delta A^t e_{11} A \delta$ . So (6.3) is flat for all  $D = \frac{1}{2} (e^{i\theta} \mathbf{I} + e^{-i\theta} \mathbf{I}_{1,n-1})$ . Hence

$$\theta_{\lambda} = \begin{pmatrix} \omega & \delta A^t D_{\lambda} \\ D_{\lambda} A \delta & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{6.4}$$

is a flat o(n, n)-valued connection 1-form on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  for all  $\lambda = e^{i\theta}$ , where  $D_{\lambda} = \frac{1}{2}(\lambda \mathbf{I} + \lambda^{-1}J)$ ,  $w = \delta F - F^t \delta$ , and  $A^{-1} dA = \delta F^t - F \delta$ . Moreover, A is a

solution of GSGE if and only if  $\theta_{\lambda}$  is flat for all  $\lambda \neq 0$ . This is the Lax pair given in [2] for the GSGE.

## SGE has two Lax pairs

Note that SGE has two Lax pairs, one is the  $sl(2, \mathbb{C})$ -valued connection 1-form (6.2) in asymptotic coordinates and the other is the o(2, 2)-valued connection 1-form (6.4) in line of curvature coordinates.

#### Construct immersions

Suppose  $(A = (a_{ij}), F = (f_{ij}))$  is a solution of the GSGE (3.13), and  $\theta_{\lambda}$  the Lax pair defined by (6.4). Let  $E(x, \lambda)$  denote the normalized parallel frame of  $\theta_{\lambda}$ , and

$$g(x) := \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbf{i} \end{pmatrix} E(x, \mathbf{i}) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -\mathbf{i} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then  $g(x) \in O(2n)$ ,  $g(x)_{n+1,i} = g(x)_{i,n+1} = 0$  for  $i \neq n+1$ ,  $g(x)_{n+1,n+1} = 1$ , and

$$g^{-1} dg = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbf{i} \end{pmatrix} \theta_{\mathbf{i}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -\mathbf{i} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} w & \delta A^{t} (\mathbf{I} - e_{11}) \\ -(\mathbf{I} - e_{11}) A \delta & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

is a flat o(2n-1)-valued connection 1-form with g(0) = I. Hence  $g(x) \in O(2n-1)$ . Let  $e_i(x)$  denote the *i*-th column of g(x). Then the following system

$$\mathrm{d}f = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{1i} e_i \,\mathrm{d}x_i \tag{6.5}$$

is solvable for f in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$  and the solution f (up to translation) has sectional curvature -1.

## Flat Lagrangian submanifolds in $\mathbb{C}^n$ [58]

Egoroff line of curvature coordinate system

If  $f: M \to \mathbb{C}^n = \mathbb{R}^{2n}$  is a flat Lagrangian submanifold with flat and nondegenerate normal bundle, then there exist a coordinate system  $(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ and function  $\phi$  such that

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{I} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \phi_{x_i} \, \mathrm{d}x_i^2, \\ \mathbf{II} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \, \mathrm{d}x_i^2 \otimes J(f_{x_i}), \end{cases}$$
(6.6)

where J is the standard complex structure on  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}$ . We call x the Egoroff line of curvature coordinate system. Let

$$e_i = \frac{f_{x_i}}{(\phi_{x_i})^{\frac{1}{2}}}, \quad e_{n+i} = Je_i, \quad 1 \le i \le n,$$

 $g = (e_1, \ldots, e_{2n})$  the adapted frame for f, and  $\varpi = g^{-1} dg = (w_{AB})$ . Then the dual 1-forms for  $e_1, \ldots, e_n$  are  $w_i = (\phi_{x_i})^{\frac{1}{2}} dx_i$  and  $w_{i,n+j} = \delta_{ij} dx_i$ . By the Cartan Lemma 2.1 and (2.3), we have

$$w_{ij} = \beta_{ij} \,\mathrm{d}x_i - \beta_{ji} \,\mathrm{d}x_j, \quad \text{where } \beta_{ij} = \begin{cases} \frac{\phi_{x_i x_j}}{2(\phi_{x_i} \phi_{x_j})^{\frac{1}{2}}}, & i \neq j, \\ 0, & i = j \end{cases}$$

for  $i, j \leq n$ . Note that  $\beta = (\beta_{ij})$  is symmetric. Set  $h = (\phi_{x_1}^{\frac{1}{2}}, \dots, \phi_{x_n}^{\frac{1}{2}})^t$ . The Gauss-Codazzi equation and the structure equation for f is the PDE for  $(\beta, h)$  defined by the condition that

$$\tau = \begin{pmatrix} [\delta, \beta] & \delta & \delta h \\ -\delta & [\delta, \beta] & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(6.7)

is flat, i.e., it is the following system for  $(\beta, h)$ :

$$\begin{cases} (h_i)_{x_j} = \beta_{ij}h_j, & i \neq j, \\ (\beta_{ij})_{x_i} + (\beta_{ij})_{x_j} + \sum_k \beta_{ik}\beta_{kj} = 0, & i \neq j, \\ (\beta_{ij})_{x_k} = \beta_{ik}\beta_{kj}, & i, j, k \text{ distinct.} \end{cases}$$
(6.8)

Conversely, if  $(\beta, h)$  is a solution of (6.8) with  $\beta = (\beta_{ij})$  symmetric and h = $(h_1,\ldots,h_n)^t$ , then the first equation of (6.8) implies that  $h_i(h_i)_{x_i} = h_j(h_j)_{x_i}$ for all  $i \neq j$ . So  $(h_1^2, \ldots, h_n^2)$  is a gradient field, i.e., there is a function  $\phi$  such that  $h_i^2 = \phi_{x_i}$  for  $1 \le i \le n$ . Hence there is a flat Lagrangian immersion f(x) in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  such that I, II are of the form (6.6).

Associated family of flat Lagrangian submanifolds in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ 

If M is a flat Lagrangian submanifold in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  with I, II as in (6.6), then given  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ , there is a flat Lagrangian submanifold  $M_{\lambda}$  in  $C^n$  with

$$I_{\lambda} = I = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \phi_{x_i} \, \mathrm{d}x_i^2, \qquad II_{\lambda} = \lambda \sum_{i=1}^{n} \, \mathrm{d}x_i^2 \otimes J(f_{x_i}).$$

Lax pair

If  $f_{\lambda}$  is the associated family of f, then the Maurer-Cartan form (6.7) for  $f_{\lambda}$  is

$$\theta_{\lambda} = \begin{pmatrix} [\delta, \beta] & \lambda \delta & \delta h \\ -\lambda \delta & [\delta, \beta] & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (6.9)

Moreover, the following statements are equivalent: (i)  $\theta_1$  is flat, (ii)  $\theta_{\lambda}$  is flat for all  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ , (iii)  $(\beta, h)$  is a solution of (6.8).

Construct flat Lagrangian submanifold from parallel frame

If  $(\beta, h)$  is a solution of the (6.8) and E a parallel frame of  $\theta_{\lambda}$  given by (6.9), then

- (1) there exists  $\phi$  such that  $h_i^2 = \phi_{x_i}$  for  $1 \le i \le n$ , (2) for each real r, E(x,r) is of the form  $\begin{pmatrix} g(x,r) & f(x,r) \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$  with  $g \in U(n) \subset O(2n)$  and  $f(\cdot,r) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ ,

(3) 
$$f(\cdot, r)$$
 is a flat Lagrangian submanifold in  $\mathbb{C}^n = \mathbb{R}^{2n}$  with

$$\mathbf{I}_r = \sum_{i=1}^n \phi_{x_i} e_i \, \mathrm{d} x_i^2, \quad \mathbf{II}_r = \sum_{i=1}^n r \, \mathrm{d} x_i^2 \otimes J(f_{x_i}(\cdot, r)),$$

where  $e_i(x,r)$  is the *i*-th column of  $g(x,r) \in O(2n)$  and  $J(f_{x_i})$  is parallel to  $e_{n+i}$  for  $1 \le i \le n$ 

## Isothermic surfaces in $\mathbb{R}^3$

Lax pair

We use the associated family of Christoffel transforms to construct a Lax pair for isothermic surfaces. Suppose  $(f(x), \tilde{f}(x))$  is a Christoffel transform of isothermic immersions in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . Let  $e_1, e_2$  denote the coordinate directions. By Theorem 4.2, there exists a solution  $(q, r_1, r_2)$  of (4.3) such that

$$df = e^q (dx_1e_1 + dx_2e_2), \qquad d\tilde{f} = e^{-q} (dx_1e_1 - dx_2e_2).$$

Write the above equation in matrix form:

$$d(f, \tilde{f}) = (e_1, e_2, e_3) \begin{pmatrix} dx_1 & 0\\ 0 & dx_2\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \cosh q & \sinh q\\ \sinh q & \cosh q \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1\\ 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

 $\operatorname{Set}$ 

$$\begin{aligned} \zeta &:= (e_1, e_2, e_3) \begin{pmatrix} \mathrm{d}x_1 & 0\\ 0 & \mathrm{d}x_2\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \cosh q & \sinh q\\ \sinh q & \cosh q \end{pmatrix} \\ \xi &= \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \zeta\\ -J\zeta^t & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad J = \mathrm{diag}(1, -1). \end{aligned}$$

Compute directly to see that  $d\xi = 0$  and  $\xi \wedge \xi = 0$ , which implies that  $\xi$  is a flat 0(4, 1)-valued connection 1-form. Apply the above computation to the associated family  $\lambda(f, \tilde{f})$  to see that  $\lambda\xi$  is a flat connection 1-form for all  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ . Set

$$g_1 = (e_1, e_2, e_3), \quad g_2 = \begin{pmatrix} \cosh q & -\sinh q \\ -\sinh q & \cosh q \end{pmatrix}, \quad g = \begin{pmatrix} g_1 & 0 \\ 0 & g_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The gauge transformation of  $\lambda \xi$  by  $g^{-1}$  is

$$\theta_{\lambda} = \lambda g^{-1} \xi g + g^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}g = \begin{pmatrix} w & \lambda D \\ -\lambda J D^{t} & \tau \end{pmatrix}, \tag{6.10}$$

where

$$w = g_1^{-1} dg_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & q_{x_2} dx_1 - q_{x_1} dx_2 & r_1 dx_1 \\ -q_{x_2} dx_1 + q_{x_1} dx_2 & 0 & r_2 dx_2 \\ -r_1 dx_1 & -r_2 dx_2 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
  
$$\tau = g_2^{-1} dg_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -dq \\ -dq & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad D = \begin{pmatrix} \delta \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \delta = \text{diag}(dx_1, dx_2).$$

Since  $\xi\lambda$  is flat, so is  $\theta_{\lambda}$ . Moreover,  $(q, r_1, r_2)$  is a solution of the Gauss-Codazzi equation (4.3) of isothermic surfaces if and only if  $\theta_{\lambda}$  is flat for all parameters  $\lambda$ . In other words,  $\theta_{\lambda}$  is a Lax pair of the isothermic equation (4.3).

Note that  $\theta_{\lambda}$  can be written as

$$\theta_{\lambda} = \sum_{i=1}^{2} (a_i \lambda + [a_i, v]) \,\mathrm{d}x_i, \tag{6.11}$$

where  $J = I_{1,1}$ ,

$$a_{i} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & D_{i} \\ -JD_{i}^{t} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad D_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad D_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (6.12)$$

$$v = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \eta \\ -J\eta^t & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \eta = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & q_{x_1} \\ -q_{x_2} & 0 \\ -r_1 & r_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (6.13)

Construction of Christoffel pairs of isothermic surfaces from parallel frames Method 1

Let 
$$(q, r_1, r_2)$$
 be a solution of (4.3),  $\theta_{\lambda}$  its Lax pair defined by (6.10), and  
 $E(x, \lambda)$  a parallel frame for  $\theta_{\lambda}$  with initial data  $c_0 \in O(3) \times O(1, 1)$ . Since  
 $\theta_0 \in o(3) \times o(1, 1), g := E(x, 0) = \begin{pmatrix} g_1 & 0 \\ 0 & g_2 \end{pmatrix} \in O(3) \times O(1, 1)$ . Write  
 $g_1 = (e_1, e_2, e_3), \quad g_2 = \begin{pmatrix} \cosh q & -\sinh q \\ -\sinh q & \cosh q \end{pmatrix}.$ 

Then

$$g * \theta_{\lambda} = g \theta_{\lambda} g^{-1} - dg g^{-1} = \lambda \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \zeta \\ -J\zeta^t & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

where

$$\zeta = (e_1, e_2, e_3) \begin{pmatrix} dx_1 & 0\\ 0 & dx_2\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \cosh q & \sinh q\\ \sinh q & \cosh q \end{pmatrix}$$

The flatness  $g * \theta_{\lambda}$  implies that  $d\zeta = 0$ . Hence there exists a  $3 \times 2$  matrix valued map Y such that  $dY = \zeta$ . Moreover,  $(f_1, f_2) = Y \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$  is a Christoffel pair of isothermic surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  and  $(q, r_1, r_2)$  is the corresponding solution of (4.3).

## Method 2

We claim that if E is the normalized parallel frame of the Lax pair  $\theta_{\lambda}$  defined by (6.10) of a solution  $(q, r_1, r_2)$  of (4.3), then  $\frac{\partial E}{\partial \lambda} E^{-1} \Big|_{\lambda=0}$  is of the form  $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & Z \\ -I_{1,1}Z^t & 0 \end{pmatrix}$  for some  $3 \times 2$  matrix value map Z and  $(f_1, f_2) = Z \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$  is a Christoffel pair of isothermic surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  with fundamental forms as in Theorem 4.2.

To see this, we first note that  $\theta_{\lambda}$  is  $o(4, 1, \mathbb{C})$ -valued 1-form and satisfies the  $\frac{O(4,1)}{O(3) \times O(1,1)}$  reality condition:

$$\overline{\theta_{\bar{\lambda}}} = \theta_{\lambda}, \quad \mathrm{I}_{3,2} \theta_{\lambda} \mathrm{I}_{3,2} = \theta_{-\lambda}.$$

So the normalized parallel frame E of  $\theta_\lambda$  satisfies  $E(x,\lambda)\in O(4,1,\mathbb{C})$  satisfying

$$\overline{E(x,\overline{\lambda})} = E(x,\lambda), \quad I_{3,2}E(x,\lambda)I_{3,2} = E(x,-\lambda).$$
(6.14)

Note that  $\tau(y) = \bar{y}$  and  $\sigma(y) = I_{3,2}yI_{3,2}^{-1}$  are involutions on  $O(4, 1, \mathbb{C})$  that give the symmetric space  $\frac{O(4,1)}{O(3) \times O(1,1)}$ , and

$$o(4,1) = \mathcal{K} + \mathcal{P}, \quad \mathcal{K} = o(3) \times o(1,1), \ \mathcal{P} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \xi \\ -\mathbf{I}_{1,1}\xi^t & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right\}$$

is the Cartan decomposition of  $\pm 1$  eigenspaces of  $\sigma$  on the fixed point set o(4,1) of  $\tau$ . It follows from (6.14) that  $\frac{\partial E}{\partial \lambda} E^{-1}\Big|_{\lambda=0}$  lies in  $\mathcal{P}$ , hence is of the form  $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & Z \\ -JZ^t & 0 \end{pmatrix}$  for some  $3 \times 2$  valued map Z. A direct computation implies that

$$\mathrm{d}Z = g_1 \begin{pmatrix} \delta \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} g_2^{-1}$$

and  $Z\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1\\ 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$  is a Christoffel pair associated to the solution  $(q, r_1, r_2)$ , where  $g_1, g_2$  is given by  $E(x, 0) = \begin{pmatrix} g_1 & 0\\ 0 & g_2 \end{pmatrix}$ .

k-tuples in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of type  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$  [11, 25]

Lax pair

First we associate to a k-tuple Y in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of type  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$  two flat connections, and then use them to construct a Lax pair for the equation of Y.

**Theorem 6.1.** [25] Let  $Y = (Y_1, \ldots, Y_k) : \Omega \to \mathcal{M}_{n \times k}$  be a k-tuple in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ of type  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$ ,  $e_j$  the unit direction of  $(Y_1)_{x_j}$  for  $1 \leq j \leq k$ ,  $e_{k+1}, \ldots, e_n$ a parallel orthonormal normal frame for  $Y_1$ ,  $g = (e_1, \ldots, e_n)$ ,  $(w_{ij})_{i,j \leq n} = g^{-1} dg$ , and  $(a_{ij})_{i,j \leq k}$  the metric matrix associated to Y defined by  $(Y_i)_{x_j} = a_{ij}e_j$  for  $1 \leq i, j \leq k$ . Set

$$f_{ij} = \begin{cases} \frac{(a_{1i})_{x_j}}{a_{1j}}, & 1 \le i \ne j, \\ 0, & i = j, \end{cases} \quad \delta = \operatorname{diag}(dx_1, \dots, dx_k),$$

and  $\mathbf{a}_i = (a_{i1}, \dots, a_{ik})$  for all  $1 \leq i \leq k$ . Then

(1) fundamental forms of  $Y_i$  are

$$I_{i} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} a_{ij}^{2} dx_{j}^{2}, \quad II_{i} = \sum_{m,j=1}^{k,n-k} a_{im} h_{mj} e_{k+j}$$

for some  $\mathcal{M}_{k,n-k}$  matrix  $h = (h_{ij})$  (so  $w_{i,k+j} = h_{ij} dx_i$  for  $1 \le i \le k$ and  $1 \le j \le n-k$ ),

(2) 
$$w = (w_{ij})_{1 \le i,j \le n} := g^{-1} dg = \begin{pmatrix} \delta F - F^t \delta & \delta h \\ -h^t \delta & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
 is flat,

- (3)  $d\mathbf{a}_i = \mathbf{a}_i(\delta F^t JF\delta J)$  for  $1 \leq i \leq k$ , where  $J = I_{k-\ell,\ell}$ , in other words,  $\mathbf{a}_i$  is a parallel field for the  $o(k-\ell, \ell)$ -valued connection 1-form  $\delta F^t - JF\delta J.$
- (4)  $\tau := \delta F^t JF\delta J$  is a flat  $o(k \ell, \ell)$  connection 1-form, (5)

$$\theta_{\lambda} = \begin{pmatrix} w & -\lambda D^{t} J \\ \lambda D & \tau \end{pmatrix}$$
(6.15)

is flat for all  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ , where  $D = (\delta, 0)$  and  $\delta = \text{diag}(dx_1, \ldots, dx_k)$ , (6)  $let \begin{pmatrix} g_1 & 0 \\ 0 & g_2 \end{pmatrix}$  be a frame of  $\theta_0 = \begin{pmatrix} w & 0 \\ 0 & \tau \end{pmatrix}$ , then there exists a constant  $C \in GL(k)$  such that  $dY = g_1 D g_2^{-1} C$ 

The equation for k-tuples in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of type  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$  is the equation for (F,h) :  $\mathbb{R}^k \to gl(k)_* \times \mathcal{M}_{k \times (n-k)}$  such that w and  $\tau$  defined in Theorem 6.1 are flat, i.e.,

$$\begin{cases} dw + w \wedge w = 0, \quad w = \begin{pmatrix} \delta F - F^t \delta & \delta h \\ -h^t \delta & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \\ d\tau + \tau \wedge \tau = 0, \quad \tau = \delta F^t - JF \delta J, \end{cases}$$
(6.16)

where

$$gl(k)_* = \{(y_{ij}) \in gl(k) \mid y_{ii} = 0 \ \forall \ 1 \le i \le k\}$$

and  $J = I_{k-\ell,\ell}$ . So  $\theta_{\lambda}$  defined by (6.15) is the Lax pair for the equation (6.16) of k-tuples in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of type  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$ .

Construction of k-tuples from parallel frames

Let (F, h) be a solution of (6.16), and E is the normalized parallel frame for  $\theta_{\lambda}$  defined by (6.15). Since  $\theta_0 = \begin{pmatrix} w & 0 \\ 0 & \tau \end{pmatrix}$ ,  $E(x,0) = \begin{pmatrix} g_1 & 0 \\ 0 & g_2 \end{pmatrix}$  for some  $g_1 \in O(n)$  and  $g_2 \in O(k - \ell, \ell)$ . Similar argument as for Christoffel pairs of isothermic surfaces gives

- (1)  $g_1 D g_2^{-1}$  is closed, so there exists Y such that  $dY = g_1 D g_2^{-1}$ , (2) YC is a k-tuple in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of type  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$  for a constant  $C \in GL(k)$ .
- (3)  $\frac{\partial E}{\partial \lambda} E^{-1}\Big|_{\lambda=0} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & Z \\ -JZ^t & 0 \end{pmatrix}$  for some  $3 \times 2$  valued map Z and Y = $Z + c_0$  for some constant  $c_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

#### 7. Soliton hierarchies constructed from symmetric spaces

We review the method for constructing soliton hierarchies from a splitting of a Lie algebra (cf. [57]).

**Definition 7.1.** Let L be a formal Lie group,  $\mathcal{L}$  its Lie algebra, and  $L_{\pm}$ subgroups of L with Lie subalgebras  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}$ . The pair  $(\mathcal{L}_{+}, \mathcal{L}_{-})$  is called a splitting of  $\mathcal{L}$  if  $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_+ \oplus \mathcal{L}_-$  as a direct sum of linear subspaces and  $L_+ \cap$  $L_{-} = \{e\}$ , where e is the identity in L. We call the set  $\mathcal{O} = (L_{+}L_{-}) \cap (L_{-}L_{+})$ 

the big cell of L. In other words,  $f \in \mathcal{O}$  if and only if f can be factored uniquely as  $f_+f_-$  and  $g_-g_+$  with  $f_{\pm}, g_{\pm} \in L_{\pm}$ .

## Theorem 7.2. (Local Factorization Theorem) [42, 57]

Suppose L is a closed subgroup of the group of Sobolev  $H^1$ - loops in a finite dimensional Lie group G, and  $(\mathcal{L}_+, \mathcal{L}_-)$  is a splitting of the Lie algebra  $\mathcal{L}$ . Let  $\mathcal{V}$  be an open subset in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , and  $g: \mathcal{V} \to L$  a map such that  $(x, \lambda) \mapsto g(x)(\lambda)$  is smooth. If  $p_0 \in \mathcal{V}$  and  $g(p_0) = k_+k_- = h_-h_+$  with  $k_\pm, h_\pm \in L_\pm$ , then there exist an open subset  $\mathcal{V}_0 \subset \mathcal{V}$  containing  $p_0$  and unique  $f_\pm, g_\pm :$  $\mathcal{V}_0 \to L_\pm$  such that  $g = g_+g_- = f_-f_+$  on  $\mathcal{V}_0$  and  $g_\pm(p_0) = k_\pm, f_\pm(p_0) = h_\pm$ .

**Definition 7.3.** A commuting sequence  $\mathcal{J} = \{J_i \mid i \geq 1, \text{ integer}\}$  in  $\mathcal{L}_+$  is called a *vacuum sequence* of the splitting  $(\mathcal{L}_+, \mathcal{L}_-)$  if  $\mathcal{J}$  is linearly independent and each  $J_j$  is an analytic function of  $J_1$ .

#### Construction of soliton hierarchy

Let  $(\mathcal{L}_+, \mathcal{L}_-)$  be a splitting of  $\mathcal{L}$ , and  $\{J_j \mid j \geq 1\}$  a vacuum sequence. For  $\xi \in \mathcal{L}$ , let  $\xi_{\pm}$  denote the projection of  $\xi$  onto  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}$  with respect to  $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_+ + \mathcal{L}_-$ . Set

$$\mathcal{M} = \{ (g^{-1}J_1g)_+ \mid g \in L_- \}.$$
(7.1)

Assume that given smooth  $\xi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathcal{M}$ , there is a unique  $Q_j(\xi) \in \mathcal{L}$  such that

- (1)  $[\partial_x + \xi, Q_j(\xi)] = 0,$
- (2)  $Q_j(\xi)$  is a function of  $\xi$  and the derivatives of  $\xi$ ,
- (3)  $Q_j(\xi)$  is conjugate to  $J_j$  and  $Q_j(J_1) = J_j$ .

Claim that

$$\frac{\partial \xi}{\partial t_j} = [\partial_x + \xi, (Q_j(\xi))_+] \tag{7.2}$$

is a PDE system on  $\mathcal{M}$ . We only need to show that the right hand side is tangent to  $\mathcal{M}$  at  $\xi$ : Since  $[\partial_x + \xi, Q_j] = 0$ , the right hand side of (7.2) is equal to  $-[\partial_x + \xi, (Q_j)_-]$ . But it should be in  $\mathcal{L}_+$ , so it is equal to  $-[\xi, (Q_j)_-]_+$ , which is tangent to  $\mathcal{M}$ . Hence this defines a flow on  $\mathcal{M}$ . We call (7.2) the *j*-th flow and the collection of these flows the soliton hierarchy constructed from  $(\mathcal{L}_+, \mathcal{L}_-)$  and  $\{J_j \mid j \ge 1\}$ .

**Proposition 7.4.** The following statements are equivalent for  $\xi : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathcal{M}$ :

- (1)  $\xi$  is a solution of the flow (7.2),
- (2)  $[\partial_x + \xi, \partial_{t_j} + (Q_j(\xi))_+] = 0,$
- (3)  $\xi dx + (Q_i(\xi))_+ dt_i$  is a flat  $\mathcal{L}_+$ -valued connection 1-form.

So (3) is a Lax pair of the flow (7.2).

If  $\mathcal{L}$  is a Lie subalgebra of the Lie algebra of formal power series  $A(\lambda) = \sum_{i \ge n_0} A_i \lambda^i$  with  $A_i \in \mathcal{G}$  a finite dimensional simple Lie algebra, then equation (7.2) is a PDE with a parameter  $\lambda$ . For examples given in this article, it follows from  $[\partial_x + \xi, Q_j(\xi)] = 0$  that (7.2) gives a determined PDE system in  $\xi$ .

### Commuting flows on $L_{-}$

Given a splitting  $(\mathcal{L}_+, \mathcal{L}_-)$  of  $\mathcal{L}$  and a vacuum sequence  $\{J_j \mid j \geq 1\}$ , we consider a hierarchy of flows on the negative group  $L_-$ :

$$\frac{\partial M}{\partial t_j} = -M(M^{-1}J_jM)_{-}.$$
(7.3)

A direct computation implies that (7.3) are commuting flows on  $L_{-}$ , i.e.,

$$-(P_j)_{t_k} + (P_k)_{t_j} + [P_j, P_k] = 0$$

for all j, k, where  $P_j = -(M^{-1}J_jM)_{-}$ . Use  $[J_1, J_j] = 0$  and a straight forward computation to get the following known results (cf. [57]) :

**Proposition 7.5.** If  $M(t_1, t_j)$  solves the first and the *j*-th flows (7.3) on  $L_-$ , then  $(M^{-1}J_1M)_+$  is a solution of the *j*-th flow (7.2).

**Theorem 7.6.** The flows in the soliton hierarchy constructed from a splitting and a vacuum sequence commute.

#### Formal inverse scattering [55]

Given an element  $f \in L_-$ , we use the Local Factorization Theorem to construct a solution of the flow in the soliton hierarchy generated by  $J_j$  as follow: First note that  $J_1$  is in the phase space  $\mathcal{M}$  defined by (7.1) and (7.2) is satisfied, i.e., the constant map  $J_1$  is the solution of all flows in the hierarchy. The Lax pair of the flow generated by  $J_j$  is  $J_1 dx + J_j dt_j$ . Let  $E(x, t_j) = \exp(xJ_1 + t_jJ_j)$ , i.e., E is the normalized parallel frame of the solution on  $L_+$  satisfying

$$E^{-1}E_x = J_1, \quad E^{-1}E_{t_j} = J_j, \quad E(0,\lambda) = I.$$

By Theorem 7.2, given  $f \in L_{-}$ , we can factor

$$f^{-1}E(x,t_j) = \tilde{E}(x,t_j)\tilde{f}(x,t_j)^{-1}$$

with  $\tilde{E}(x,t_j) \in L_+$  and  $\tilde{f}(x,t_j) \in L_-$  for  $(x,t_j)$  in some open subset of the origin. We claim that  $\tilde{f}$  is a solution of (7.3) for the first and the *j*-th flow. To see this, note that  $\tilde{E} = f^{-1}E\tilde{f}$  and

$$\tilde{E}^{-1}\tilde{E}_x = \tilde{f}^{-1}J_1\tilde{f} + \tilde{f}^{-1}\tilde{f}_x, \quad \tilde{E}^{-1}\tilde{E}_{t_j} = \tilde{f}^{-1}J_j\tilde{f} + \tilde{f}^{-1}\tilde{f}_{t_j}.$$

Since the left hand sides are in  $\mathcal{L}_+$  and  $\tilde{f}^{-1}\tilde{f}_x, \tilde{f}^{-1}\tilde{f}_{t_j}$  are in  $\mathcal{L}_-$ , the above equation implies that

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{f}^{-1}\tilde{f}_x = -(\tilde{f}^{-1}J_1\tilde{f})_-, \\ \tilde{f}^{-1}\tilde{f}_{t_j} = -(\tilde{f}^{-1}J_j\tilde{f})_-. \end{cases}$$

Hence  $f(x, t_j)$  is a solution of (7.3) and this proves the claim. By Proposition 7.5,  $\xi = (\tilde{f}^{-1}J_1\tilde{f})_+$  is a solution of the flow generated by  $J_j$ .

## **Example 7.7. The** *G***-hierarchy** [1, 44, 63, 55]

Let G be a complex simple Lie group, and L(G) the group of smooth loops  $f: S^1 \to G$ ,  $L_+(G)$  the subgroup of  $f \in L(G)$  that can be extended holomorphically to  $|\lambda| < 1$ , and  $L_-(G)$  the subgroup of  $f \in L(G)$  that can be extended holomorphically to  $\infty = |\lambda| > 1$  and  $f(\infty) = I$ . The corresponding Lie algebras are

$$\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{G}) = \{A(\lambda) = \sum_{i} A_{i}\lambda^{i} \mid A_{i} \in \mathcal{G}\},\$$
$$\mathcal{L}_{+}(\mathcal{G}) = \{A \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{G}) \mid A(\lambda) = \sum_{j \ge 0} A_{j}\lambda^{j}\},\$$
$$\mathcal{L}_{-}(\mathcal{G}) = \{A \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{G}) \mid A(\lambda) = \sum_{j < 0} A_{j}\lambda^{j}\},\$$

where  $\mathcal{G}$  is the Lie algebra of G. Then  $(\mathcal{L}_+(\mathcal{G}), \mathcal{L}_-(\mathcal{G}))$  is a splitting of  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{G})$ 

Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a maximal abelian subalgebra of  $\mathcal{G}$ , and  $\mathcal{A}^{\perp}$  the orthogonal complement of  $\mathcal{A}$  with respect to the Killing form (,) of  $\mathcal{G}$ . The dimension of  $\mathcal{A}$  is the rank of  $\mathcal{G}$ . An element  $\xi \in \mathcal{G}$  is regular if  $\mathrm{ad}(\xi)$  is semi-simple and the centralizer  $\mathcal{G}_{\xi}$  is a maximal abelian subalgebra. If  $\xi$  is regular, then  $\mathrm{ad}(\xi)$  is a linear isomorphism of  $\mathcal{G}_{\xi}^{\perp}$ . Let  $\{a_1, \ldots, a_r\}$  be a basis of  $\mathcal{A}$  such that  $a_1$  is regular. Then

$$\mathcal{J} = \{J_{i,j} = a_i \lambda^j \mid 1 \le i \le r, j \ge 1\}$$

is a vacuum sequence with  $J_1 = J_{1,1} = a_1 \lambda$ . A direct computation shows that  $\mathcal{M}$  defined by (7.1) is

$$\mathcal{M} = J_1 + ([a_1\lambda, \mathcal{L}_-])_+ = J_1 + \mathcal{A}^\perp.$$

To write down the flow generated by  $J_{i,j}$ , we construct

$$Q_i(u) = a_i \lambda + \sum_{k \le 0} Q_{i,k}(u) \lambda^k$$

satisfying

$$\begin{cases} [\partial_x + a_1 \lambda + u, Q_i(u)] = 0, \\ f_j(Q_i(u)) = f_j(a_i \lambda), & 1 \le j \le r, \end{cases}$$
(7.4)

where  $f_1, \ldots, f_r$  are free generators of the ring of invariant polynomials on  $\mathcal{G}$  (for example, if  $\mathcal{G} = sl(n)$ , then r = n - 1 and  $f_j(A)$  can be chosen to be  $tr(A^j)$  for  $2 \leq j \leq n$ ). Equate the coefficient of  $\lambda^k$  in the first equation of (7.4) to get the recursive formula

$$(Q_{i,k})_x + [u, Q_{i,k}] + [a_1, Q_{i,k-1}] = 0.$$
(7.5)

We use (7.5) and the second equation of (7.4) to prove that  $Q_{i,k}$  is a polynomial differential operator of u. Since  $M^{-1}J_{i,j}M = \lambda^{j-1}M^{-1}J_{i,1}M$ , the flow generated by  $J_{i,j}$  is (7.2), i.e.,

$$\frac{\partial(a_1\lambda+u)}{\partial t_{i,j}} = [\partial_x + a_1\lambda + u, a_i\lambda^j + Q_{i,0}\lambda^{j-1} + \dots + Q_{i,1-j}].$$

Although the right hand side is a degree j + 1 polynomial in  $\lambda$ , it follows from the recursive formula (7.5) that all coefficients of  $\lambda^k$  of the right hand side are zero except the constant term. So the flow equation generated by  $J_{i,j}$  is the following PDE for u:

$$u_{t_{i,j}} = [\partial_x + u, Q_{i,1-j}] = [Q_{i,-j}, a_1].$$
(7.6)

By Proposition 7.4, equation (7.6) has a Lax pair

$$\theta_{\lambda} = (a_1\lambda + u) \,\mathrm{d}x + (a_i\lambda^j + Q_{i,0}\lambda^{j-1} + \dots + Q_{i,1-j}) \,\mathrm{d}t_{i,j}.$$

We call this hierarchy of flows the  $\mathcal{G}$ -hierarchy. For example, for general  $\mathcal{G}$ , the flow generated by  $J_{1,j}$  in the  $\mathcal{G}$ -hierarchy is the PDE for  $u : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathcal{A}^{\perp}$ :

$$u_{t_{1,j}} = \operatorname{ad}(a_j)\operatorname{ad}(a_1)^{-1}(u_x) + [u, \operatorname{ad}(a_j)\operatorname{ad}(a_1)^{-1}(u)],$$

and its Lax pair is

$$\theta_{\lambda} = (a_1\lambda + u) \,\mathrm{d}x + (a_j\lambda + \mathrm{ad}(a_j)\mathrm{ad}(a_1)^{-1}(u)) \,\mathrm{d}t_{1,j}.$$

## Example 7.8. The U-hierarchy [55]

Let  $\tau$  be a Lie group involution of G such that  $d\tau_e : \mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{G}$  (still denoted by  $\tau$ ) is conjugate linear. Let U denote the fixed point set of  $\tau$ , and  $\mathcal{U}$  the Lie algebra of U, i.e.,  $\mathcal{U}$  is a *real form* of  $\mathcal{G}$ . Let  $L^{\tau}(G)$  denote the subgroup of all  $f \in L(G)$  satisfying the U-reality condition

$$\tau(f(\lambda)) = f(\lambda), \tag{7.7}$$

and  $L^{\tau}_{\pm}(G) = L^{\tau}(G) \cap L_{\pm}(G)$ . Let  $\mathcal{L}^{\tau}(\mathcal{G})$  and  $\mathcal{L}^{\tau}_{\pm}(\mathcal{G})$  denote the corresponding Lie algebras. Let  $\{a_1, \ldots, a_n\}$  be a basis of a maximal abelian subalgebra of  $\mathcal{U}$  such that  $a_1$  is regular, and  $\mathcal{J} = \{J_{ij} = a_i\lambda^j \mid 1 \leq i \leq n, j \geq 1\}$ . Then  $(\mathcal{L}^{\tau}_{+}(\mathcal{G}), \mathcal{L}^{-}_{-}(\mathcal{G}))$  is a splitting and  $\mathcal{J}$  is a vacuum sequence. The flows generated by  $J_{ij}$ 's form the *U*-hierarchy and flows in the *U*-hierarchy are evolution equations on  $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{A}^{\perp} \cap \mathcal{U})$ . For example, for  $\tau(g) = (\bar{g}^t)^{-1}$  on  $sl(2, \mathbb{C})$ . Then  $\mathcal{U} = su(2)$ . Let  $a = \text{diag}(\mathbf{i}, -\mathbf{i})$ . The flows are evolution PDE on  $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, Y)$ , where  $Y = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0 & q \\ -\bar{q} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \mid q \in \mathbb{C} \right\}$  and the flow generated by  $J_{1,2} = a\lambda^2$  in the su(2)-hierarchy is the NLS

## Example 7.9. The $\frac{U}{K}$ -hierarchy [55]

Let  $\tau, \sigma$  be commuting involutions of G such that the induced involutions  $\tau$  and  $\sigma$  on  $\mathcal{G}$  are conjugate and complex linear respectively, and U the fixed point set of  $\tau$  on G and K the fixed point set of  $\sigma$  on U (so  $\frac{U}{K}$  is a symmetric space). Let  $\mathcal{P}$  denote the -1 eigenspace of  $\sigma$  in  $\mathcal{U}$ . Then we have  $\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{K} + \mathcal{P}$  and

$$[\mathcal{K},\mathcal{K}]\subset\mathcal{K},\quad [\mathcal{K},\mathcal{P}]\subset\mathcal{P},\quad [\mathcal{P},\mathcal{P}]\subset\mathcal{K}.$$

This is the Cartan decomposition for  $\frac{U}{K}$ . Note that K acts on  $\mathcal{P}$  by conjugation. An element  $b \in \mathcal{P}$  is regular if the K-orbit of b in  $\mathcal{P}$  is maximal. If b is regular, then  $\{\xi \in \mathcal{P} \mid [b,\xi] = 0\}$  is a maximal abelian subalgebra and is the kernel of  $ad(b) : \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{K}$ .

Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a maximal abelian subalgebra in  $\mathcal{P}$ , and  $\{a_1, \ldots, a_n\}$  a basis of  $\mathcal{A}$  such that  $a_1$  is regular (i.e.,  $\operatorname{ad}(a_1)$  is a linear isomorphism from  $\mathcal{K} \cap \mathcal{K}_{a_1}^{\perp}$  onto  $\mathcal{P} \cap \mathcal{A}^{\perp}$ , where  $\mathcal{K}_{a_1} = \{k \in K \mid [a_1, k] = 0\}$ . The dimension of  $\mathcal{A}$  is the rank of the symmetric space.

Let  $\mathcal{L}^{\tau,\sigma}(\mathcal{G})$  be the subalgebra of  $\xi \in L(\mathcal{G})$  satisfying the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -reality condition

$$\tau(\xi(\bar{\lambda})) = \xi(\lambda), \qquad \sigma(\xi(-\lambda)) = \xi(\lambda), \tag{7.8}$$

and

$$\mathcal{L}^{ au,\sigma}_{\pm}(\mathcal{G}) = \mathcal{L}^{ au,\sigma}(\mathcal{G}) \cap \mathcal{L}_{\pm}(\mathcal{G})).$$

Then  $(\mathcal{L}^{\tau,\sigma}_+(\mathcal{G}), \mathcal{L}^{\tau,\sigma}_-(\mathcal{G}))$  is a splitting and

$$\mathcal{J} = \{J_{ij} = a_i \lambda^j \mid 1 \le i \le n, j \ge 1 \text{ odd integer}\}\$$

is a vacuum sequence. The hierarchy constructed from these are called the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -hierarchy and the flows in this hierarchy are evolution equations on  $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{K}_{a_1}^{\perp})$ , where  $\mathcal{K}_{a_1}^{\perp} = \{y \in \mathcal{K} \mid (y, k) = 0 \forall k \in \mathcal{K}_{a_1}\}$ . For example, the symmetric space given by  $\tau(g) = (\bar{g}^{-1})^t$  and  $\sigma(g) = (g^t)^{-1}$  on  $G = SL(2, \mathbb{C})$ is  $\frac{SU(2)}{SO(2)} = S^2$ . Let  $a = \text{diag}(\mathbf{i}, -\mathbf{i})$ . The flows in the  $\frac{SU(2)}{SO(2)}$ -hierarchy are for  $u = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & q \\ -q & 0 \end{pmatrix}$  and the flow generated by  $J_{1,3} = a\lambda^3$  is the mKdV.

**Remark 7.10.** If  $\frac{U}{K}$  has maximal rank, i.e., the rank of  $\frac{U}{K}$  is equal to the rank of U, then:

- A maximal abelian subalgebra  $\mathcal{A}$  in  $\mathcal{P}$  is also a maximal abelian subalgebra of  $\mathcal{U}$  over  $\mathbb{R}$  and is a maximal abelian subalgebra of  $\mathcal{G}$  over  $\mathbb{C}$ .
- Fix a basis  $\{a_1, \ldots, a_n\}$  of  $\mathcal{A}$  over  $\mathbb{R}$ . The phase space for flows in the *G*-hierarchy is  $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{A}^{\perp})$ .
- The flow generated by  $J_{i,j}$  in the *G*-hierarchy leaves  $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{A}^{\perp} \cap \mathcal{U})$  invariant and the restricted flows form the *U*-hierarchy.
- The flow generated by  $J_{i,2j+1}$  of the *U*-hierarchy leaves the subspace  $\mathcal{K}_{a_1}^{\perp}$  invariant and the restricted flows form the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -hierarchy.

## The matrix NLS hierarchy [31, 55]

Let  $\tau(g) = (\bar{g}^t)^{-1}$  be the involution of  $G = GL(n, \mathbb{C})$  that defines the real form U = U(n), and  $(\mathcal{L}^{\tau}_{-}(\mathcal{G}), \mathcal{L}_{-}(\mathcal{G}))$  the splitting that gives the U-hierarchy. Let  $a = \mathbf{i} \mathbf{I}_{k,n-k}$ . Then

$$\mathcal{J} = \{a\lambda^j \mid j \ge 1\}$$

is a vacuum sequence. The flows constructed by this splitting and hierarchy are equations for  $u : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathcal{M}_{k \times (n-k)}$ , and the flow generated by  $a\lambda^2$  is the matrix NLS,  $q_t = \frac{\mathbf{i}}{2}(q_{xx} + 2q\bar{q}^t q)$ .

The -1 flow associated to  $\frac{U}{K}$  [51]

We use the same notation as for the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -hierarchy. Given  $b \in \mathcal{A}$ , the -1 flow associated to  $\frac{U}{K}$  is the equation for  $g : \mathbb{R}^2 \to K$ :

$$(g^{-1}g_x)_t = [a, g^{-1}bg].$$
(7.9)

It is easy to check that g is a solution of (7.9) if and only if  $\theta_{\lambda}$  is flat for all  $\lambda \neq 0$ , where

$$\theta_{\lambda} = (a_1 \lambda + g^{-1} g_x) \,\mathrm{d}x + \lambda^{-1} g^{-1} bg \,\mathrm{d}t. \tag{7.10}$$

For example, the -1-flow associated to  $\frac{SU(2)}{SO(2)}$  defined by  $a = \text{diag}(\mathbf{i}, -\mathbf{i})$  and  $b = -\frac{a}{4}$  is the equation for  $g = \begin{pmatrix} \cos q & -\sin q \\ \sin q & \cos q \end{pmatrix}$ , (7.10) is (6.2), and (7.9) gives the SGE.

## Example 7.11. Twisted $\frac{U}{K_1}$ -hierarchy [53]

Let  $\tau$  be the conjugate involution of the complex simple Lie group G that gives the real form U,  $\sigma_1$  and  $\sigma_2$  involutions of  $\mathcal{G}$  such that  $\sigma_1, \sigma_2$  and  $\tau$  commute, and

$$\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{K}_1 + \mathcal{P}_1, \quad \mathcal{U} = \mathcal{K}_2 + \mathcal{P}_2$$

Cartan decompositions for  $\sigma_1$  and  $\sigma_2$  respectively. Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a maximal abelian subalgebra in  $\mathcal{P}_1$ . Assume that

- 1.  $\sigma_2(\mathcal{A}) \subset \mathcal{A}$ ,
- 2.  $K_1 \cap K_2 = S_1 \times S_2$ ,  $K_1 = S_1 \times K'_1$ ,  $K_2 = K'_2 \times S_2$  as direct product of subgroups.

Let  $L = L^{\tau,\sigma_1}$  denote the group of holomorphic maps f from  $\epsilon < |\lambda| < \epsilon^{-1}$  to G satisfying the  $U/K_1$ -reality condition:

$$\tau(f(\overline{\lambda})) = f(\lambda), \quad \sigma_1(f(-\lambda)) = f(\lambda).$$

Let  $L_+$  denote the subgroup of  $f \in L$  such that  $\sigma_2(f(\lambda^{-1})) = f(\lambda)$  and  $f(1) \in K'_2$ , and  $L_-$  the subgroup of  $f \in L$  that can be extended holomorphically to  $\infty \geq |\lambda| > \epsilon$  and  $f(\infty) \in K'_1$ . Then  $L_+ \cap L_- = \{e\}$  and the Lie algebras are:

$$\mathcal{L} = \{\xi(\lambda) = \sum_{j} \xi_{j} \lambda^{j} \mid \xi_{j} \in \mathcal{K}_{1} \text{ if } k \text{ is even}, \in \mathcal{P}_{1}, \text{ if } k \text{ is odd.} \},$$
$$\mathcal{L}_{+} = \{\xi \in \mathcal{L} \mid \xi_{-j} = \sigma_{2}(\xi_{j}), \xi(1) \in \mathcal{K}_{2}' \},$$
$$\mathcal{L}_{-} = \{\xi(\lambda) = \sum_{j \leq 0} \xi_{j} \lambda^{j} \in \mathcal{L} \mid \xi_{0} \in \mathcal{K}_{1}' \}.$$

Let  $\{a_1, \ldots, a_n\}$  be a basis of  $\mathcal{A}$  such that  $a_1$  is regular with respect to the  $\operatorname{Ad}(K_1)$  action on  $\mathcal{P}_1$ , and  $\mathcal{J} = \{J_{i,j} \mid 1 \leq i \leq n, j \geq 1 \text{ odd}\}$ , where

$$J_{i,j} = a_i \lambda^j + \sigma_2(a_i) \lambda^{-j}.$$

Then  $(\mathcal{L}_+, \mathcal{L}_-)$  is a splitting of  $\mathcal{L}$  and  $\mathcal{J}$  is a vacuum sequence. We call the hierarchy constructed from this splitting and vacuum sequence the  $\frac{U}{K_1}$ hierarchy twisted by  $\sigma_2$ . The phase space of this hierarchy is  $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{M})$ , where

$$\mathcal{M} = \{ g^{-1}a_1g\lambda + v + \sigma_2(g^{-1}a_1g)\lambda^{-1} \mid g \in K'_1, v \in \mathcal{S}_1 \}.$$

**Example 7.12. A twisted**  $\frac{O(n,n)}{O(n) \times O(n)}$ -hierarchy [53] Let  $\mathcal{G} = o(n, n, \mathbb{C}), \tau(x) = \bar{x}$ , and

$$\sigma_1(x) = \mathbf{I}_{n,n} x \mathbf{I}_{n,n}^{-1}, \quad \sigma_2(x) = \mathbf{I}_{n+1,n-1} x \mathbf{I}_{n+1,n-1}^{-1}.$$

Then

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{U} &= o(n,n), \quad \mathcal{K}_1 = o(n) \times o(n), \quad \mathcal{K}_2 = o(n,1) \times o(n-1), \\ \mathcal{K}_1 \cap \mathcal{K}_2 &= \mathcal{S}_1 + \mathcal{S}_2, \text{ where } \quad \mathcal{S}_1 = o(n) \times 0, \ \mathcal{S}_2 = 0 \times o(n-1), \\ \mathcal{K}_2' &= \mathcal{S}_1 + (\mathcal{P}_1 \cap \mathcal{K}_2) = o(n,1), \quad \mathcal{K}_1' = 0 \times o(n). \end{split}$$

The space

$$\mathcal{A} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0 & D \\ D & 0 \end{pmatrix} \middle| D \in gl(n, \mathbb{R}) \text{ is diagonal} \right\}$$

is a maximal abelian subalgebra in  $\mathcal{P}_1$  and  $\sigma_2(\mathcal{A}) \subset \mathcal{A}$ . Choose a basis  $\{a_1, \ldots, a_n\}$  of  $\mathcal{A}$  such that  $a_1$  is regular. Then  $\tau, \sigma_1, \sigma_2$  satisfy all the conditions given above and we obtain the  $\frac{O(n,n)}{O(n) \times O(n)}$ -hierarchy twisted by  $\sigma_2$ .

Next we give a brief discussion of bi-Hamiltonian structure, conservation laws, and formal inverse scattering for the U-hierarchy.

Bi-Hamiltonian structure for the U-hierarchy (cf. [27, 51])

Let (,) denote a bi-invariant non-degenerate bilinear form on  $\mathcal{U}$ , and

$$\langle u, v \rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (u(x)v(x)) \,\mathrm{d}x$$

the induced bi-linear form on  $V = \mathcal{S}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{A}^{\perp})$  the space of Schwartz maps from  $\mathbb{R}$  to  $\mathcal{A}^{\perp}$ . Given a functional F on V, the gradient of F is defined by

$$dF_u(v) = \langle \nabla F(u), v \rangle,$$

(i.e.,  $\nabla F(u) = 0$  is the Euler-Lagrangian equation for F). A Poisson structure on V is an operator  $J: V \to L(V, V), u \mapsto J_u$  such that

$$\{F_1, F_2\}(u) = (J_u(\nabla F_1(u)), \nabla F_2(u))$$

defines a Lie bracket on V and  $\{\}$  satisfies the product rule. The Hamiltonian equation for  $F: V \to \mathbb{R}$  is

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}u}{\mathrm{d}t} = J_u(\nabla F(u)).$$

Two Poisson structures  $\{, \}_1, \{, \}_2$  on V are *compatible* if

$$c_1\{,\}_1+c_2\{,\}_2$$

is again a Poisson structure for any constant  $c_1, c_2$ .

Given a smooth map  $u : \mathbb{R} \to \mathcal{A}^{\perp}$ , let  $P_u$  be the operator on  $C(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{A}^{\perp})$  defined by

$$P_u(v) = (\tilde{v})_x + [u, \tilde{v}], \qquad \tilde{v} = v + T, \quad T(x) = -\int_{\infty}^x [u, v]_0,$$

where  $\xi_0$  and  $\xi^{\perp}$  denote the projection of  $\xi \in \mathcal{U}$  to  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{A}^{\perp}$  respectively. By definition,  $P_u(v) \in \mathcal{A}^{\perp}$ . Let  $J_0$  and  $J_1$  be the operator from V to L(V, V) defined by

$$(J_0)_u = -\mathrm{ad}(a_1), \quad (J_1)_u = P_u.$$

Define

$$\{F,G\}_0(u) = \langle [\nabla F(u), a_1], \nabla G(u) \rangle, \quad \{F,G\}_1(u) = \langle [P_u(\nabla F(u)), \nabla G(u) \rangle.$$

The following are known (cf. [27], [51]):

(1)  $\{,\}_0$  and  $\{,\}_1$  are compatible Poisson structures on  $C(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{A}^{\perp})$ . (2) Set

$$F_{i,j}(u) = -\frac{1}{j} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (Q_{i,-j}(u), a_1) \,\mathrm{d}x.$$
(7.11)

Then  $\nabla F_{i,j}(u) = Q_{i,-j+1}(u)^{\perp}$  and the flow generated by  $J_{i,j}$  is

$$u_t = J_0(\nabla F_{i,j+1}) = J_1(\nabla F_{i,j}).$$

(3) Both Poisson structures can be constructed from the natural Poisson structures of co-adjoint orbits of  $L^{\tau}_{-}(G)$ .

## 8. The $\frac{U}{K}$ -system and the Gauss-Codazzi equations

We review the definition of the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system, the twisted  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system, and the -1 flow on the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system and see that SGE, GSGE, equations for isothermic surfaces, for k-tuples in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of type  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$ , and for flat Lagrangian submanifolds in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  are  $\frac{U}{K}$ -systems.

## The $\frac{U}{K}$ -system [51]

Let  $\frac{U}{K}$  be a rank *n* symmetric space,  $\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{K} + \mathcal{P}$  a Cartan decomposition,  $\mathcal{A}$  a maximal abelian subspace in  $\mathcal{P}$ , and  $\{a_1, \ldots, a_n\}$  a basis of  $\mathcal{A}$ . The  $\frac{U}{K}$ system is the following over-determined first order non-linear PDE system for  $v : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathcal{A}^{\perp} \cap \mathcal{P}$ :

$$[a_i, v_{t_{1,j}}] - [a_j, v_{t_{1,i}}] = [[a_i, v], [a_j, v]], \qquad 1 \le i \ne j \le n,$$
(8.1)

It follows from the definition that the following statements are equivalent for  $v : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathcal{A}^{\perp} \cap \mathcal{P}$ :

(1) v is a solution of (8.1),

(2) the following connection 1-form on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is flat for all parameters  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ :

$$\theta_{\lambda} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (a_i \lambda + [a_i, v]) \,\mathrm{d}x_i \tag{8.2}$$

 $(\theta_{\lambda} \text{ is a Lax pair of the } \frac{U}{K} \text{-system}),$ 

- (3)  $\theta_s$  is flat for some  $s \in \mathbb{R} \cup i\mathbb{R}$ ,
- (4) if  $a_1$  is regular, then  $u = [a_1, v]$  is a solution of the flow generated by  $J_{i,1} = a_i \lambda$  in the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -hierarchy.

**Remark 8.1.** If we use a different basis of  $\mathcal{A}$ , the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -systems differ by a linear coordinate change. If two maximal abelian subalgebras  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}$  are conjugated by an element in K, then the corresponding  $\frac{U}{K}$ -systems are equivalent. If  $\frac{U}{K}$  is a Riemannian symmetric space, then any two maximal abelian subalgebras in  $\mathcal{P}$  are conjugate by an element of K, so there is a unique U/K-system. But when  $\frac{U}{K}$  is a pseudo-Riemannian symmetric space, there may be more than one maximal abelian subalgebras in  $\mathcal{P}$  modulo the conjugation action of K on  $\mathcal{P}$ . Hence there may be more than one non-equivalent  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system associated to  $\frac{U}{K}$ .

Statement (4) given above means that the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system combines the commuting flows in the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -hierarchy generated by  $J_{1,1} = a_1\lambda, \ldots, J_{n,1} = a_n\lambda$  together.

#### Curved flats in symmetric spaces

Recall that a *flat* of a symmetric space  $\frac{U}{K}$  is a totally geodesic flat submanifold of  $\frac{U}{K}$ . If  $\mathcal{A}$  is a maximal abelian subalgebra in  $\mathcal{P}$ , then  $A = \exp(\mathcal{A})K$ is a flat through eK and gA is a flat through gK. Moreover, all flats are obtained this way.

**Definition 8.2.** [29] A curved flat in  $\frac{U}{K}$  is an immersed flat submanifold of  $\frac{U}{K}$  that is tangent to a flat of  $\frac{U}{K}$  at every point.

**Definition 8.3.** [52] Let  $\frac{U}{K}$  be a symmetric space, and  $\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{K} + \mathcal{P}$  a Cartan decomposition. A flat submanifold M of  $\mathcal{P}$  is called an *abelian flat submanifold* if  $TM_x$  is a maximal abelian subalgebra of  $\mathcal{P}$  for all  $x \in M$ . Here the metric on  $\mathcal{P}$  is the restriction of the Killing form (,) of  $\mathcal{U}$  to  $\mathcal{P}$ .

If we identify the tangent space of  $\frac{U}{K}$  at eK to be  $\mathcal{P}$ , then a flat submanifold  $\Sigma$  in  $\frac{U}{K}$  is a curved flat if and only if  $g^{-1}T\Sigma_{gK}$  is a maximal abelian subalgebra of  $\mathcal{P}$  for all  $gK \in \Sigma$ . A curved flat  $\Sigma$  is semi-simple if  $g^{-1}T\Sigma_{gK}$ is a semi-simple maximal abelian subalgebra of  $\mathcal{P}$  for all  $gK \in \Sigma$ .

Let  $\frac{U}{K}$  be the symmetric space defined by  $\tau, \sigma$ . Then the map  $\frac{U}{K} \to U$  defined by  $gK \mapsto g\sigma(g)^{-1}$  is well-defined and gives an isometric embedding of the symmetric space  $\frac{U}{K}$  into U as a totally geodesic submanifold. This is called the *Cartan embedding* of  $\frac{U}{K}$  in U.

The following is known ([29, 52]):

**Theorem 8.4.** Suppose v is a solution of the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system and E is its a parallel frame. Then:

(1)  $Y = E(x,\lambda)\sigma(E(x,\lambda))^{-1}\Big|_{\lambda=1} = E(x,1)E(x,-1)^{-1}$  is a curved flat.

Conversely, all local semi-simple curved flats can be constructed this way. In other words, the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system can be viewed as the equation for curved flats in  $\frac{U}{K}$  with a "good coordinate system".

(2)  $Z = \frac{\partial E}{\partial \lambda} E^{-1} |_{\lambda=0}$  is an abelian flat in  $\mathcal{P}$ . Conversely, locally all abelian flats in  $\mathcal{P}_0$  can be constructed this way, where  $\mathcal{P}_0$  is the subset of regular points in  $\mathcal{P}_0$ .

# Example 8.5. The $\frac{U(n) \ltimes \mathbb{C}^n}{O(n) \times \mathbb{R}^n}$ -system [58]

Let  $U(n) \ltimes \mathbb{C}^n$  denote the group of unitary rigid motions of  $\mathbb{C}^n = \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ , and  $\mathcal{G}$  the complexified  $u(n) \ltimes \mathbb{C}^n$ , i.e.,

$$\mathcal{G} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} b & c & x \\ -c & b & y \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \middle| b^t = -b, c^t = -c, b, c \in gl(n, \mathbb{C}), x, y \in \mathbb{C}^n \right\}.$$

Let  $\tau, \sigma: G \to G$  be the involutions defined by

$$\tau(g) = \bar{g}, \quad \sigma(g) = TgT^{-1}, \quad \text{where } T = \begin{pmatrix} I_n & 0 & 0\\ 0 & -I_n & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

The fixed point set of  $\tau$  is  $U(n) \ltimes \mathbb{C}^n$ ,  $\sigma$  and  $\tau$  commute, and the corresponding symmetric space is  $\frac{U(n) \ltimes \mathbb{C}^n}{O(n) \ltimes \mathbb{R}^n}$ . The Cartan decomposition is  $u(n) \ltimes \mathbb{C}^n = \mathcal{K} + \mathcal{P}$ , where

$$\mathcal{K} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} b & 0 & x \\ 0 & b & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \middle| b \in o(n), x \in \mathbb{R}^n \right\},\$$
$$\mathcal{P} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -c & 0 \\ c & 0 & y \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \middle| c = c^t, \bar{c} = c, y \in \mathbb{R}^n \right\}$$

Then  $\{a_i = e_{n+i,i} - e_{i,n+i} \mid 1 \leq i \leq n\}$  form a basis of a maximal abelian algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  in  $\mathcal{P}$ . The  $\frac{U(n) \ltimes \mathbb{C}^n}{O(n) \ltimes \mathbb{R}^n}$ -system is the system for  $q = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \beta & 0 \\ -\beta & 0 & -h \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ given by the condition that

$$\theta_{\lambda} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (a_i \lambda + [a_i, q]) \, \mathrm{d}x_i = \begin{pmatrix} [\delta, \beta] & \lambda \delta & \delta h \\ -\lambda \delta & [\delta, \beta] & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(8.3)

is flat for all  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ . Note that this is the Lax pair (6.9) for flat Lagrangian submanifolds in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ .

**Example 8.6. The**  $\frac{O(4,1)}{O(3) \times O(1,1)}$ -system The involutions that gives  $\frac{O(4,1)}{O(3) \times O(1,1)}$  is  $\tau(g) = \bar{g}$  and  $\sigma(g) = I_{3,2}gI_{3,2}^{-1}$ . and the Cartan decomposition is  $o(4,1) = \mathcal{K} + \mathcal{P}$  with  $\mathcal{K} = o(3) \times o(1,1)$ and

$$\mathcal{P} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \xi \\ -J\xi^t & 0 \end{pmatrix} \mid \xi \text{ is a real } 3 \times 2 \text{ matrix} \right\}, \quad J = \text{diag}(1, -1).$$

Note that

The

$$\mathcal{A} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \xi \\ -J\xi^t & 0 \end{pmatrix} \middle| \xi = \begin{pmatrix} c_1 & 0 \\ 0 & c_2 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right\}$$

is a maximal abelian subalgebra in  $\mathcal{P}$ . Let  $\{a_1, a_2\}$  be a basis of  $\mathcal{A}$  defined by / \

$$a_{i} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & D_{i} \\ -JD_{i}^{t} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad D_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad D_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
$$\frac{O(4,1)}{O(3) \times O(1,1)} \text{-system (8.1) is for } v = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \xi \\ -J\xi^{t} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \text{ with } \xi = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & f_{1} \\ f_{2} & 0 \\ -r_{1} & r_{2} \end{pmatrix}$$
e down this system in terms of  $f_{1}$  f\_{2} r\_{1} ro we get

Write down this system in terms of  $f_1, f_2, r_1, r_2$  we get

$$\begin{cases} (f_1)_{x_2} = -(f_2)_{x_1}, \\ (f_2)_{x_2} - (f_1)_{x_1} - r_1 r_2 = 0, \\ (r_1)_{x_2} = -f_2 r_2, \\ (r_2)_{x_1} = f_1 r_1. \end{cases}$$
(8.4)

Its Lax pair is

$$\theta_{\lambda} = \begin{pmatrix} -DJ\xi^{t} + \xi JD^{t} & D\lambda \\ -JD^{t}\lambda & -JD^{t}\xi + J\xi^{t}D \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{where } D = \begin{pmatrix} dx_{1} & 0 \\ 0 & dx_{2} \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(8.5)

The first equation of (8.4) implies that there exists q such that  $f_1 = q_{x_1}$ and  $f_2 = -q_{x_2}$ . Write (8.4) in terms of  $q, r_1, r_2$  we get the Gauss-Codazzi equation (4.3) for isothermic surfaces. Moreover, the Lax pair (8.5) is the Lax pair (6.11) for isothermic surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ .

Example 8.7. The  $\frac{O(n+k-\ell,\ell)}{O(n)\times O(k-\ell,\ell)}$ -system We choose

$$a_i = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -D_i J \\ D^t & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad 1 \le i \le k, \quad v = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\xi^t J \\ \xi & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

where  $D_i^t = (e_{ii}, 0) \in \mathcal{M}_{k \times n}$ , and  $e_{ii}$  is the diagonal  $k \times k$  matrix with all entries zero except the *ii*-th entry is 1. The  $\frac{O(n+k-\ell,\ell)}{O(n) \times O(k-\ell,\ell)}$ -system is the PDE

for  $\xi = (y, \gamma) : \mathbb{R}^k \to gl_*(k) \times \mathcal{M}_{k,n-k}$  with Lax pair  $\theta_{\lambda} = \sum_{i=1}^k (a_i \lambda + i)$  $[a_i, v]$  dx<sub>i</sub>. We write  $\theta_{\lambda}$  in terms of  $y, \gamma$  to get

$$\theta_{\lambda} = \begin{pmatrix} w & -\lambda\eta J \\ \eta^{t}\lambda & \tau \end{pmatrix}, \text{ where}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} -\delta Jy + y^{t}J\delta & \delta J\gamma \\ -\gamma^{t}J\delta & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tau = -\delta y^{t}J + y\delta J, \quad \eta^{t} = (\delta, 0),$$
(8.6)

and  $\delta = \operatorname{diag}(\mathrm{d}x_1, \ldots, \mathrm{d}x_k)$ .

w =

Set F = -Jy and  $h = J\gamma$ , then (8.6) is the same Lax pair (6.15) for k-tuples in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of type  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$  given in Theorem 6.1. So the  $\frac{O(n+k-\ell,\ell)}{O(n)\times O(k-\ell,\ell)}$ . system is the equation for k-tuples in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of type  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$ .

**Example 8.8.** [11] The  $\frac{O(5)}{O(3) \times O(2)}$ -system is the equation for

- (1) 2-tuples in R<sup>3</sup> of type O(2),
   (2) flat surfaces in S<sup>4</sup> with flat and non-degenerate normal bundle,
- (3) surfaces in  $S^4$  with constant sectional curvature 1 and flat and nondegenerate normal bundle.

Moreover, if v is a solution of the  $\frac{O(5)}{O(3) \times O(2)}$ -system, and E a parallel frame of the Lax pair of v. Write  $E(x,0) = \begin{pmatrix} g_1 & 0 \\ 0 & g_2 \end{pmatrix}$ , and  $D = \begin{pmatrix} \delta \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$  is  $\mathcal{M}_{3\times 2}$ valued, where  $\delta = \text{diag}(dx_1, dx_2)$ . Then:

- (1)  $g_1 D g_2^{-1}$  is closed, so there exists  $Y = (Y_1, Y_2) \in \mathcal{M}_{3 \times 2}$  such that  $dY = g_1 D g_2^{-1}$ , and Y is a 2-tuple of surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  of type O(2). (2) The first column of  $E(x, r) \begin{pmatrix} g_1^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & I_2 \end{pmatrix}$  is a flat surface in  $S^4$  with
- flat and non-degenerate normal bundle
- (3) The third column of  $E(x,r) \begin{pmatrix} I_3 & 0 \\ 0 & g_2^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$  is a surface in  $S^4$  with constant curvature 1 and flat, non-degenerate normal bundle.

Analogous results hold for  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system when  $\frac{U}{K}$  is a real Grassmannian.

**Example 8.9.** [58]: The  $\frac{U(n)}{O(n)}$ -system is the equation for

- (1) Egoroff orthogonal coordinate systems of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ,
- (2) flat Lagrangian submanifolds of  $\mathbb{C}^n$  that lie in  $S^{2n-1}$ .
- (3) flat Lagrangian submanifolds of  $\mathbb{C}P^{n-1}$ .

Twisted  $\frac{U}{K_1}$ -system [30, 10, 53]

We use the same notation as for twisted  $\frac{U}{K_1}$ -hierarchy. The  $\frac{U}{K_1}$ -system twisted by  $\sigma_2$  is the PDE for maps  $g: \mathbb{R}^n \to K'_1$  and  $v_i: \mathbb{R}^n \to S_1$  such that the connection 1-form

$$\theta_{\lambda} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} ((ga_{i}g^{-1})\lambda + v_{i} + \sigma_{2}(ga_{i}g^{-1})\lambda^{-1}) \,\mathrm{d}x_{i}$$
(8.7)

is flat for all non-zero parameters  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ . So the  $\frac{U}{K_1}$ -system twisted by  $\sigma_2$  is given by the collection of flows in the  $\frac{U}{K_1}$ -hierarchy twisted by  $\sigma_2$  generated by  $a_i\lambda + \sigma_2(a_i)\lambda^{-1}$  for  $1 \leq i \leq n$ .

Example 8.10. A twisted  $\frac{O(n,n)}{O(n) \times O(n)}$ -system [53]

We use the same notations as in Example 7.12, i.e,  $G = O(n, n, \mathbb{C})$ , and

$$\tau(g) = \bar{g}, \quad \sigma_1(g) = \mathbf{I}_{n,n}g\mathbf{I}_{n,n}^{-1}, \quad \sigma_2(g) = \mathbf{I}_{n+1,n-1}g\mathbf{I}_{n+1,n-1}^{-1}$$

Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be the maximal abelian subalgebra in  $\mathcal{P}_1$  spanned by

$$a_i = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & e_{ii} \\ e_{ii} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad 1 \le i \le n,$$

Then  $\mathcal{K}'_1 = 0 \times o(n)$ ,  $\mathcal{S}_1 = o(n) \times 0$ , and the Lax pair  $\theta_{\lambda}$  of the  $\frac{O(n,n)}{O(n) \times O(n)}$ -system twisted by  $\sigma_2$  is (8.7) with

$$g = \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix} : \mathbb{R}^n \to K'_1, \qquad v_i = \begin{pmatrix} u_i & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathcal{S}_1, \quad 1 \le i \le n.$$

In other words,

$$\theta_{\lambda} = \frac{\lambda}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \delta A^{t} \\ A\delta & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} u & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \frac{\lambda^{-1}}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \delta A^{t}J \\ JA\delta & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(8.8)

where  $A : \mathbb{R}^n \to O(n)$ ,  $\delta = \operatorname{diag}(dx_1, \ldots, dx_n)$ ,  $J = \operatorname{diag}(1, -1, \ldots, -1)$ , and  $u = \sum_{i=1}^n u_i dx_i$ .

The flatness of  $\theta_{\lambda}$  is equivalent to (A, u) satisfying the following system

$$\begin{cases} dA \wedge \delta + A\delta \wedge u = 0, \\ du + u \wedge u + \delta A^t (\frac{\lambda I}{2} + \frac{\lambda^{-1}J}{2})^2 A\delta = 0. \end{cases}$$
(8.9)

The first equation implies that there exists  $F = (f_{ij})$  with  $f_{ii} = 0$  for all  $1 \le i \le n$  such that

$$A^{-1} dA = \delta F^t - F\delta, \qquad u = \delta F - F^t \delta.$$

Since this is the Lax pair (8.8) for the GSGE, the twisted  $\frac{O(n,n)}{O(n) \times O(n)}$ -system is the GSGE.

## The -1 flow on the $\frac{U}{K}$ -system

We combine the -1 flow and the flows in the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -hierarchy generated by  $a_i \lambda$  for  $1 \leq i \leq n$  to get the -1 flow on the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system. This is the equation for  $v : \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to \mathcal{A}^{\perp} \cap \mathcal{P}$  and  $g : \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to K$ :

$$\begin{cases}
-[a_i, v_{x_j}] + [a_j, v_{x_i}] + [[a_i, v], [a_i, v]] = 0, & i \neq j, \\
[g^{-1}g_{x_i} - [a_i, v], g^{-1}bg] = 0, & 1 \le i \le n, \\
[a_i, v_t] = [a_i, g^{-1}bg], & 1 \le i \le n.
\end{cases}$$
(8.10)

Equation (8.10) has a Lax pair

$$\theta_{\lambda} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} (a_i \lambda + [a_i, v]) \,\mathrm{d}x_i\right) + \lambda^{-1} g^{-1} bg \,\mathrm{d}t.$$

If  $\mathcal{K}_b = \{k \in \mathcal{K} \mid [k, b] = 0\} = 0$ , then the second equation of (8.10) gives  $g^{-1}g_{x_i} = [a_i, v]$  for  $1 \leq i \leq n$ . If  $\frac{U}{K}$  has maximal rank and  $a \in \mathcal{A}$  is regular, then the -1 flow on the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system becomes the following system:

$$\begin{cases}
-[a_i, v_{x_j}] + [a_j, v_{x_i}] + [[a_i, v], [a_i, v]] = 0, & i \neq j, \\
g^{-1}g_{x_i} = [a_i, v], & 1 \le i \le n, \\
[a, v_t] = [a, g^{-1}bg].
\end{cases}$$
(8.11)

Note that

- (1) when  $\frac{U}{K}$  is of rank one, the -1 flow on the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system is the -1 flow for the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -hierarchy by changing the dependent variable u = [a, v],
- (2) (8.11) is an evolution equation on the space of solutions of the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system.

## Higher flows on the space of solutions of the $\frac{U}{K}$ -system

Assume  $a \in \mathcal{A}$  is a regular element, and  $Q = \sum_{j \leq 1} Q_j \lambda^j$  is constructed from (7.4) using u = [a, v]. Note that Q satisfies the recursive formula

$$(Q_j)_x + [[a, v], Q_j] = [Q_{j-1}, a],$$

 $Q_1 = a$ , and  $f_j(Q) = f_j(a\lambda)$ , where  $f_1, \ldots, f_n$  are a set of free generators of the ring of  $\operatorname{Ad}(K)$ -invariant polynomials on  $\mathcal{P}$ . The flow in the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -hierarchy generated by  $a\lambda^j$  written in v is

$$[a, v_t] = (Q_{1-j})_x + [[a, v], Q_{1-j}] = [Q_j, a].$$
(8.12)

Recall that v is a solution of the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system if and only if  $[a, v(x_1, \ldots, x_n)]$ solves the flow generated by  $a_i\lambda$  in the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -hierarchy for  $1 \le i \le n$ . Since all flows in the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system commute, the space of solutions of the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system is invariant under the evolution equation (8.12) for all odd j. In other words, the following system for  $v : \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathcal{A}^{\perp} \cap \mathcal{P}$ ,

$$\begin{cases} -[a_i, v_{x_k}] + [a_k, v_{x_i}] + [[a_i, v], [a_k, v]] = 0, & 1 \le i, k \le n, \\ [a, v_t] = (Q_{1-j})_{x_i} + [[a_i, v], Q_{1-j}], & 1 \le i \le n, \end{cases}$$
(8.13)

has a Lax pair

$$(a\lambda^{j} + Q_{0}\lambda^{j-1} + \dots + Q_{1-j}) dt + \sum_{i=1}^{n} (a_{i}\lambda + [a_{i}, v]) dx_{i}.$$

System (8.13) can be viewed as an evolution equations on the space of solutions of  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system as follows: Write  $a = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i a_i$  and u = [a, v]. Then

$$\begin{cases} u_{x_i} = \operatorname{ad}(a_i)\operatorname{ad}(a)^{-1}(\sum_{i=1}^n c_i u_{x_i}) + [u, \operatorname{ad}(a_i)\operatorname{ad}(a)^{-1}(u)], & 1 \le i \le n, \\ u_t = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i(Q_{1-j}(u))_{x_i} + [u, Q_{1-j}(u)], \end{cases}$$

are commuting flows for u. The first set of equation in the above system means that v = [a, u] is a solution of the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system. Hence

$$[a, v_t] = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i (Q_{1-j}(u))_{x_i} + [u, Q_{1-j}(u)]$$

leaves the space of solutions of the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system invariant.

#### 9. LOOP GROUP ACTIONS

We review the dressing action of  $L^{\tau,\sigma}_{-}(G)$  on the space of solutions of the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system, and explain the relation between the action of "simple" rational elements in  $L^{\tau,\sigma}_{-}(G)$  and geometric Bäcklund and Ribaucour transforms.

Let v be a solution of the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system, and E the normalized parallel frame for the Lax pair  $\theta_{\lambda} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (a_i \lambda + [a_i, v]) dx_i$ , i.e.,  $E(x, \lambda)$  is the solution of

$$\begin{cases} E^{-1}E_{x_i} = a_i\lambda + [a_i, v], & 1 \le i \le n, \\ E(0, \lambda) = \mathbf{I}. \end{cases}$$

Since  $\theta_{\lambda}$  is holomorphic in  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  and satisfies the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -reality condition

$$\tau(\theta_{\bar{\lambda}}) = \theta_{\lambda}, \qquad \sigma(\theta_{-\lambda}) = \theta_{\lambda},$$

its frame  $E(x) \in L^{\tau,\sigma}_+(G)$ , where  $E(x)(\lambda) = E(x,\lambda)$ . Given  $f \in L^{\tau,\sigma}_-(G)$ , by the Local Factorization Theorem 7.2, we can factor

$$fE(x) = E(x)f(x)$$

with  $\tilde{E}(x) \in L^{\tau,\sigma}_+(G)$  and  $\tilde{f}(x) \in L^{\tau,\sigma}_-(G)$  in an open subset of x = 0 in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Expand

$$\tilde{f}(x)(\lambda) = \mathbf{I} + f_1(x)\lambda^{-1} + \cdots$$

Then  $f_1(x) \in \mathcal{P}$  and we have

## **Theorem 9.1.** [55]

Let  $f, v, E, \tilde{f}, \tilde{f}_1, \tilde{E}$  be as above. Then

- (1)  $\tilde{v}(x) := (f_1)_*$  is a solution of the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system, where  $(f_1)_*$  denotes the projection of  $f_1 \in \mathcal{P}$  onto  $\mathcal{A}^{\perp} \cap \mathcal{P}$  along  $\mathcal{A}$ .
- (2) E is the normalized parallel frame for  $\tilde{v}$ .
- (3)  $f * v := \tilde{v}$  defines an action of  $L^{\tau,\sigma}_{-}(G)$  on the space of solutions of the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system.
- (4)  $f * E := \tilde{E}$  defines an action of  $L^{\tau,\sigma}_{-}(G)$  on normalized parallel frames of solutions of the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system.
- (5) If  $f \in L^{\tau,\sigma}_{-}(G)$  is rational, then f \* v can be computed explicitly using E and the poles and residues of f.
- (6) If U is compact,  $a_1$  is regular and  $f \in L^{\tau,\sigma}_{-}(G)$  is rational, then f \* 0 is globally defined and rapidly decaying as  $|x_1| \to \infty$ .

Remark 9.2.

(1) We say  $f: S^1 \to \mathbb{C}^* \times G$  satisfies the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -reality condition up to scalar functions if there is a  $\phi: S^1 \to \mathbb{C}$  such that

 $\tau(f(\bar{\lambda})) = \phi(\lambda)f(\lambda), \quad \sigma(f(-\lambda)) = \phi(\lambda)f(\lambda).$ 

Since scalar functions commute with  $L^{\tau,\sigma}(G)$ , Theorem 9.1 works for rational maps f that satisfy the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -reality condition up to scalar functions.

(2) Given  $f \in L^{\tau,\sigma}_{-}(G)$ , if E is a parallel frame of a solution v of the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system and  $fE(0,\cdot)$  lies in the big cell of  $L^{\tau,\sigma}(G)$  then Theorem 9.1(1) still holds and  $\tilde{E}$  is a parallel frame for f \* v (but may not be normalized).

## Bäcklund transformations for U(n)-system [55]

We use the U(n)-system as an example to demonstrate how to compute explicitly the action of the subgroup  $\mathcal{R}^{\tau}_{-}(G)$  of rational elements in  $\mathcal{L}^{\tau}_{-}(G)$ . Note that  $\mathcal{R}^{\tau}_{-}(G)$  is the group of rational maps  $f : S^2 \to GL(n, \mathbb{C})$  that satisfying the U(n)-reality condition and  $f(\infty) = I$ . First we find a rational element  $f \in \mathcal{R}^{\tau}_{-}(G)$  with only one simple pole, then use residue calculus to compute the action of f on solutions of the U(n)-system.

Let  $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ ,  $\pi$  a Hermitian projection of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , and  $\pi^{\perp} = I - \pi$ . Then

$$g_{\alpha,\pi}(\lambda) = \pi + \frac{\lambda - \bar{\alpha}}{\lambda - \alpha} \pi^{\perp} = \mathbf{I} + \frac{\alpha - \bar{\alpha}}{\lambda - \alpha} \pi^{\perp}$$
(9.1)

satisfies the U(n)-reality condition  $g(\bar{\lambda})^*g(\lambda) = I$ .

Three methods to compute  $g_{\alpha,\pi} * v$ 

Method 1: Algebraic Bäcklund Transformation

Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be the space of diagonal matrices in u(n),  $a_j = \mathbf{i}e_{jj}$ , v a solution of the U(n)-system, and E the normalized parallel frame, i.e.,  $E^{-1} dE = \theta_{\lambda} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (a_i \lambda + [a_i, v]) dx_i$  and  $E(0, \lambda) = \mathbf{I}$ . We claim that

$$g_{\alpha,\pi} * v = v + (\alpha - \bar{\alpha})\tilde{\pi}_*,$$

where  $\tilde{\pi}(x)$  is the Hermitian projection of  $\mathbb{C}^n$  onto  $E(x, \alpha)^{-1}(\operatorname{Im} \pi)$  and  $\tilde{\pi}_*$ is the projection of u(n) onto  $\mathcal{A}^{\perp}$  along  $\mathcal{A}$ . To see this, we need to factor  $g_{\alpha,\pi}E(x) = \tilde{E}(x)\tilde{g}(x)$  with  $\tilde{E}(x) \in L^{\tau}_{+}(G)$  and  $\tilde{g}(x) \in L^{\tau}_{-}(G)$ . We make an Ansatz that  $\tilde{g} = g_{\alpha,\tilde{\pi}(x)}$  and solve  $\tilde{\pi}(x)$  by requiring that

$$\tilde{E}(x,\lambda) := g_{\alpha,\pi}(\lambda)E(x,\lambda)\tilde{g}^{-1}(x,\lambda)$$
$$= (\mathbf{I} + \frac{\alpha - \bar{\alpha}}{\lambda - \alpha}\pi^{\perp})E(x,\lambda)(\mathbf{I} - \frac{\alpha - \bar{\alpha}}{\lambda - \bar{\alpha}}\tilde{\pi}(x)^{\perp})$$

lies in  $L^{\tau}_{+}(G)$ . Hence the residues of  $\tilde{E}(x,\lambda)$  at  $\lambda = \alpha, \bar{\alpha}$  should be zero. This implies that

$$\pi^{\perp} E(x,\alpha) \tilde{\pi}(x) = 0, \qquad \pi E(x,\bar{\alpha}) \tilde{\pi}(x)^{\perp} = 0.$$

Both conditions are satisfied if

$$\operatorname{Im}(\tilde{\pi}(x)) = E(x, \alpha)^{-1}(\operatorname{Im}(\pi)).$$

This gives the formula for  $\tilde{\pi}(x)$ . The formula for  $\tilde{E}$  implies that  $\tilde{E}^{-1} d\tilde{E}$  has a simple pole at  $\lambda = \infty$  and  $\tilde{E}^{-1} d\tilde{E} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i \lambda + [a_i, \tilde{v}]$ , where  $\tilde{v} = v + (\alpha - \bar{\alpha})\tilde{\pi}_*$ . This proves the claim.

## Method 2: ODE Bäcklund transformation

The new solution  $g_{\mathbf{i}s,\pi} * v$  can be also obtained by solving a system of compatible ODEs: Set  $\theta_{\lambda} = E^{-1} dE$  and  $\tilde{\theta}_{\lambda} = \tilde{E}^{-1} d\tilde{E}$ . Since  $\tilde{E} = g_{\alpha,\pi} E g_{\alpha,\tilde{\pi}}^{-1}$ and  $g_{\alpha,\pi}$  is independent of x,  $\tilde{\theta}_{\lambda} = \tilde{g}\theta_{\lambda}\tilde{g}^{-1} - d\tilde{g}\tilde{g}^{-1}$ ; or equivalently,

$$\tilde{\theta}_{\lambda}\tilde{g} = \tilde{g}\theta_{\lambda} - \mathrm{d}\tilde{g},\tag{9.2}$$

where  $\tilde{g} = g_{\alpha,\tilde{\pi}}$ . Multiply (9.2) by  $(\lambda - \alpha)$  and compare coefficients of  $\lambda^i$  to see that  $\tilde{\pi}$  must satisfy

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{\pi}_{x_j} + [\alpha a_j + [a_j, v], \ \tilde{\pi}] = (\alpha - \bar{\alpha})[a_j, \tilde{\pi}]\tilde{\pi}^{\perp}, \quad 1 \le j \le n, \\ \tilde{\pi}(x)^* = \tilde{\pi}(x). \quad \tilde{\pi}^2 = \tilde{\pi}, \end{cases}$$
(9.3)

and  $g_{\alpha,\pi} * v = v + (\alpha - \bar{\alpha})\tilde{\pi}_*$  Moreover, given v,

- (1) system (9.3) is solvable for  $\tilde{\pi}$  if and only if v is a solution of the U(n)-system,
- (2) if v is a solution of the U(n)-system and  $\tilde{\pi}$  the solution of (9.3), then  $\tilde{v} = v + (\alpha \bar{\alpha})\tilde{\pi}_*$  is a solution of the U(n)-system, where  $\tilde{\pi}_*$  is the projection of  $\tilde{\pi}$  onto  $\mathcal{A}^{\perp}$  along  $\mathcal{A}$ .

Method 3: Linear Bäcklund transformations

Suppose  $\pi$  is the Hermitian projection of  $\mathbb{C}^n$  onto  $V = \mathbb{C}y_0$ . Set

$$y(x) = E(x, \alpha)^{-1}(y_0)$$

The normalized parallel frame of  $g_{\alpha,\pi} * v$  is  $g_{\alpha,\pi} E(x, \cdot)g_{\alpha,\tilde{\pi}(x)}^{-1}$ , where  $\tilde{\pi}(x)$  is the projection onto  $\mathbb{C}y(x)$ . Differentiate y to get

$$\mathrm{d}y = -E^{-1}\,\mathrm{d}EE^{-1}y_0 = -\theta_\alpha y.$$

So y is the solution of the following linear system

$$\begin{cases} dy = -\theta_{\alpha}y = -\sum_{j=1}^{n} (a_{j}\alpha + [a_{j}, v]) \, dx_{j}, \\ y(0) = y_{0}. \end{cases}$$
(9.4)

In fact, given  $v : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathcal{A}^{\perp} \cap \mathcal{P}$ ,

- (1) system (9.4) is solvable if and only if v is a solution of the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system,
- (2) if v is a solution of the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system and y is a solution of (9.4), then  $g_{\alpha,\pi} * v = v + (\alpha \bar{\alpha})\tilde{\pi}_*$ , where  $\tilde{\pi}(x)$  is the Hermitian projection of  $\mathbb{C}^n$  onto  $\mathbb{C}y(x)$ .

Note that the first and third methods are essentially the same because solutions y of (9.4) is  $E(\cdot, \alpha)^{-1}(y_0)$ , where  $E(\cdot, \alpha)$  is a parallel frame for  $\theta_{\alpha}$ .

If dim $(\text{Im}\pi) = k$ , then we first choose a basis  $y_1^0, \ldots, y_k^0$  of Im $\pi$ . Let  $y_i$  be the solution of (9.4) with  $y_i(0) = y_i^0$ ,  $\tilde{V}(x)$  the linear subspace spanned by

 $y_1(x), \ldots, y_k(x)$ , and  $\tilde{\pi}(x)$  the Hermitian projection of  $\mathbb{C}^n$  onto  $\tilde{V}(x)$ . Then the new solution is  $g_{\alpha,\pi} * v = v + (\alpha - \bar{\alpha})\tilde{\pi}_*$ .

#### Permutability formula [55]

The permutability formulae for Bäcklund transformations for the SGE, the GSGE, Ribaucour transforms for flat Lagrangian submanifolds in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ and for k-tuples in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of type  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$  can be obtained in a unified way. This is because

- (1) geometric transforms on these submanifolds correspond to actions of simple rational elements in the negative loop group,
- (2) if  $g_i$  have poles at  $\alpha_i$  for i = 1, 2, then we use residue calculus to factor  $g_1g_2 = f_2f_1$  such that  $f_i$  have poles at  $\alpha_i$  for i = 1, 2.

Permutability formulae can then be obtained from the fact that the geometric transforms are actions.

We use U(n)-system as an example to explain this method: Given  $g_{\alpha_1,\pi_1}$ ,  $g_{\alpha_2,\pi_2}$  with  $\alpha_1 \neq \pm \bar{\alpha}_2$ , let  $\tau_1, \tau_2$  be the projections such that

Im
$$\tau_1 = g_{\alpha_2, \pi_2}(\alpha_1)(\text{Im}\pi_1), \quad \text{Im}\tau_2 = g_{\alpha_1, \pi_1}(\alpha_2)(\text{Im}\pi_2).$$
 (9.5)

Then

$$g_{\alpha_2,\tau_2} \circ g_{\alpha_1,\pi_1} = g_{\alpha_1,\tau_1} \circ g_{\alpha_2,\pi_2}.$$
 (9.6)

This gives a relation for rational elements in  $R_{-}^{\tau}(G)$  with only one simple pole.

Formula (9.6) leads to a Bianchi type permutability formulae for Bäcklund transformations as follows: Let  $v_0$  be a solution of the U(n)-system, and  $E_0(x,\lambda)$  its normalized parallel frame. Let  $\tilde{\pi}_j(x)$  denote the Hermitian projections of  $\mathbb{C}^n$  onto  $E_0(x,\alpha_j)^{-1}(\operatorname{Im}\pi_j)$  for j = 1, 2. Then

$$E_j(x,\lambda) = g_{\alpha_j,\pi_j}(\lambda) E_0(x,\lambda) g_{\alpha_j,\tilde{\pi}_j(x)}(\lambda)^{-1}$$

is the normalized parallel frame for

$$v_j = g_{\alpha_j, \pi_j} * v_0 = v_0 + (\alpha_j - \bar{\alpha}_j)(\tilde{\pi}_j)_*, \quad j = 1, 2.$$

Use the fact that  $L^{\tau}_{-}(G)$  acts on the space of solutions and the permutability formula (9.6) to get

$$v_3 = g_{\alpha_2,\tau_2} * v_1 = g_{\alpha_2,\tau_2} * (g_{\alpha_1,\pi_1} * v_0) = g_{\alpha_1,\tau_1} * (g_{\alpha_2,\pi_2} * v_0) = g_{\alpha_1,\tau_1} * v_2$$

But

$$v_3 = v_1 + (\alpha_2 - \bar{\alpha}_2)(\tilde{\tau}_2)_* = v_2 + (\alpha_1 - \bar{\alpha}_1)(\tilde{\tau}_1)_*, \text{ where} \\ \operatorname{Im} \tilde{\tau}_2 = E_1(x, \alpha_2)^{-1}(\operatorname{Im} \tau_2), \quad \operatorname{Im} \tilde{\tau}_1 = E_2(x, \alpha_1)^{-1}(\operatorname{Im} \tau_1).$$

So  $v_3$  can be given by an explicit formula in terms of  $v_0, v_1, v_2$ . This gives the *permutability formula* for the U(n)-system.

Action of  $\mathcal{R}^{\tau}_{-}(G)$ 

The method we used to construct the action of  $g_{\alpha,\pi} * v$  works for the action of any  $f \in \mathcal{R}^{\tau}_{-}(G)$  on v as follows: First we write

$$f(\lambda) = \mathbf{I} + \sum_{i=1,j=1}^{k,n_i} \frac{P_{ij}}{(\lambda - \alpha_i)^j}$$

for some constants  $\alpha_i \in \mathbb{C}$  and  $P_{ij} \in gl(n)$ . Let E be the normalized parallel frame of a solution v of the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system. We assume  $fE(x) = \tilde{E}(x)\tilde{f}(x)$  where  $\tilde{f}(x)$  has poles at  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_k$  with order  $n_1, \ldots, n_k$  respectively, i.e.,

$$\tilde{f}(x,\lambda) = \mathbf{I} + \sum_{i=1,j=1}^{k,n_i} \frac{\tilde{P}_{ij}(x)}{(\lambda - \alpha_i)^j}$$

Reality condition gives  $\tilde{f}(x,\lambda)^{-1} = \overline{\tilde{f}(x,\bar{\lambda})}^t$ . Then  $f(\lambda)E(x,\lambda)\tilde{f}(x,\lambda)^{-1} = f(\lambda)E(x,\lambda)\tilde{f}(x,\bar{\lambda})^*$  should have no poles at  $\lambda = \alpha_i$  for  $1 \leq i \leq k$ . We can use these conditions to solve  $\tilde{P}_{ij}(x)$ . This computation is long and tedious. However, if we find a set of generators of the negative rational loop group  $\mathcal{R}^{\tau}_{-}(G)$  with minimal number of poles then we can simplify the computation by using permutability formulas (relations) for these generators or the algebraic BT.

## Simple elements and generators

Let  $\frac{U}{K}$  denote the symmetric space constructed from two commuting involutions  $\tau, \sigma$ , and  $\mathcal{R}^{\tau,\sigma}_{-}(G)$  denote the subgroup of rational maps  $f: S^2 \to G$  that are in  $L^{\tau,\sigma}_{-}(G)$ . A  $f \in \mathcal{R}^{\tau,\tau}_{-}(G)$  is called a simple element if f can not be factored as product of  $f_1 f_2$  with both  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  in  $\mathcal{R}^{\tau,\sigma}_{-}(G)$ . The following are known:

(1) Uhlenbeck [59] proved that

$$\{g_{\alpha,\pi} \mid \alpha \in \mathbb{C}, \pi^* = \pi, \pi^2 = \pi\}$$

generates the negative rational loop group satisfying the U(n)-reality condition.

(2) Note that

(a)  $g_{\mathbf{i}s,\pi}$  satisfies the  $\frac{U(n)}{O(n)}$  reality condition if  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\bar{\pi} = \pi$ .

(b) if  $\alpha \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbf{i}\mathbb{R}$ ,  $\pi$  is a Hermitian projection of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , and  $\mathrm{Im}\rho = g_{\alpha,\pi}(-\bar{\alpha})(\mathrm{Im}\bar{\pi})$ , then

$$f_{\alpha,\pi} = g_{-\bar{\alpha},\rho}g_{\alpha,\pi}$$

satisfies the  $\frac{U(n)}{O(n)}$  reality condition.

Terng and Wang [58] proved that these elements generate the negative rational loop group satisfying the  $\frac{U(n)}{O(n)}$ -reality condition.

(3) Donaldson, Fox, and Goertsches [24] construct a set of generators for  $\mathcal{R}^{\tau,\sigma}(G)$  when G is a classical group.

Bäcklund transforms for  $\frac{U(n)}{O(n)}$ -system [55]

The methods described above for constructing algebraic and analytic BT and permutability formula for U(n)-system work the same way for general  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system. For example,  $g_{\mathbf{i}s,\pi}$  satisfies the  $\frac{U(n)}{O(n)}$  reality condition. If v is a solution of the  $\frac{U(n)}{O(n)}$ -system and E is its normalized parallel frame for the Lax pair of v, then:

- (1)  $E(x, \cdot)$  satisfies the  $\frac{U(n)}{O(n)}$  reality condition.
- (2) Since  $\theta_{\mathbf{i}s} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\mathbf{i}sa_i + [a_i, v]) \, \mathrm{d}x_i$  and  $a_i$  is diagonal in u(n),  $\theta_{\mathbf{i}s}$  is a  $sl(n, \mathbb{R})$ -valued 1-form. Hence  $E(x, \mathbf{i}s) \in SL(n, \mathbb{R})$  and  $E(x, \mathbf{i}s)(\mathrm{Im}\pi)$  is real.
- (3)  $g_{\mathbf{i}s,\pi} * v = v + 2\mathbf{i}s\tilde{\pi}_*$  is a solution of the  $\frac{U(n)}{O(n)}$ -system, where  $\tilde{\pi}$  is the orthogonal projection of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  onto  $E(x, \mathbf{i}s)^{-1}(\mathrm{Im}\pi)$ .

#### 10. Action of simple elements and geometric transforms

Suppose a class of submanifolds in Euclidean space admits a local coordinate system and an adapted frame such that its Gauss-Codazzi equation is the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system (or twisted  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system) for some symmetric space  $\frac{U}{K}$ . If the adapted frame and the immersion of the submanifold can be obtained from the parallel frame of the Lax pair of the corresponding solution of the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system, then the action of a simple rational loop on the parallel frame of a solution of the  $\frac{U}{K}$ -system gives rise to a geometric transform of these submanifolds. We explain how this is done for K = -1 surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , flat Lagrangian submanifolds in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , and k-tuples in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of type  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$ . We have given a unified method to construct Permutability formula for actions of simple elements on the space of solutions and normalized parallel frames of  $\frac{U}{K}$ -systems in section 9. Hence if we know how to read geometric transforms from the action of simple elements on parallel frames then we can obtain an analogue of Bianchi's Permutability Theorem for these geometric transforms.

## **BT** for K = -1 surfaces in $\mathbb{R}^3$ and action of $g_{\mathbf{i}s,\pi}$

Let  $g_{\mathbf{i}s,\pi}$  be the rational map defined by (9.1) with  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\pi$  real. It was noted by Uhlenbeck in [60] that the dressing action of  $g_{\mathbf{i}s,\pi}$  on solutions SGE gives rise the Bäcklund transforms for K = -1 surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ .

Let q be a solution of the SGE,  $2q_{xt} = \sin 2q$ , and  $E(x, t, \lambda)$  the normalized parallel frame for the Lax pair

$$\theta_{\lambda} = \left(\lambda \begin{pmatrix} -\mathbf{i} & 0\\ 0 & \mathbf{i} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -q_x\\ q_x & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right) \, \mathrm{d}x + \frac{i}{4\lambda} \begin{pmatrix} \cos 2q & -\sin 2q\\ -\sin 2q & -\cos 2q \end{pmatrix} \, \mathrm{d}t.$$

Then

$$f = \frac{\partial E}{\partial \lambda} E^{-1} \bigg|_{\lambda = \frac{1}{2}}$$
(10.1)

is the immersion of a K = -1 surface in su(2) (identified as  $\mathbb{R}^3$ ) corresponding to the solution q of SGE. We have seen that  $\tilde{E} = g_{\mathbf{i}s,\pi} E g_{\mathbf{i}s,\tilde{\pi}}^{-1}$  is the normalized parallel frame for  $g_{\mathbf{i}s,\pi} * q$ , where  $\tilde{\pi}(x)$  is the orthogonal projection of  $\mathbb{R}^2$  onto  $E(x, \mathbf{i}s)^{-1}(\mathrm{Im}\pi)$ . Then

$$\hat{E} = \left(\frac{\lambda + \mathbf{i}s}{\lambda - \mathbf{i}s}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} E g_{\mathbf{i}s,\tilde{\pi}}^{-1}.$$
(10.2)

is a parallel frame for  $g_{\mathbf{i}s,\pi} * q$ , and

$$\hat{f} = \frac{\partial \hat{E}}{\partial \lambda} \hat{E}^{-1} \Big|_{\lambda = \frac{1}{2}}$$
(10.3)

is the immersion of a K = -1 surface in su(2) corresponding to  $g_{is,\pi} * q$ . Note that  $\hat{E} \in SU(2)$ . To see the properties of the transform  $f \mapsto \hat{f}$ , we use (10.2) and (10.3) to get

$$\hat{f} = f + \frac{2\mathbf{i}s}{\frac{1}{4} + s^2} E(\cdot, \frac{1}{2})(\tilde{\pi}^{\perp} - \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{I})E(\cdot, \frac{1}{2})^{-1}.$$

Let  $(\cos y(x), \sin y(x))^t$  denote the unit direction of the real line  $\operatorname{Im} \tilde{\pi}(x) \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ . Then a direct computation then implies that

$$f = f + \sin \theta e_1,$$

where  $\sin \theta = \frac{s}{\frac{1}{4} + s^2}$  and

$$e_{1} = \cos 2y E_{\frac{1}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} -\mathbf{i} & 0\\ 0 & \mathbf{i} \end{pmatrix} E_{\frac{1}{2}}^{-1} - \sin 2y E_{\frac{1}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathbf{i}\\ \mathbf{i} & 0 \end{pmatrix} E_{\frac{1}{2}}^{-1}$$

is tangent to f, where  $E_{\frac{1}{2}} = E(\cdot, \frac{1}{2})$ . Use (10.2) to see that  $\hat{f} - f$  is tangent to  $\tilde{f}$ . In other words,  $f \mapsto \hat{f}$  is a BT with angle  $\theta$ .

*n*-submanifolds in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n-1}$  with constant curvature -1

Let  $L_{\pm}$  denote the positive and negative groups defined in Example 7.11 for the  $\frac{O(n,n)}{O(n) \times O(n)}$ -system twisted by  $\sigma_2$ . First we construct a simple rational map satisfies the  $\frac{O(n,n)}{O(n) \times O(n)}$ -reality condition up to scalar functions. A direct computation shows that if  $g(\lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \beta \end{pmatrix} + \frac{s}{\lambda - s}P$  satisfies the  $\frac{O(n,n)}{O(n) \times O(n)}$ reality condition up to scalar functions, then

$$P = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & C^t \\ C & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \beta \end{pmatrix}.$$

In other words, g must be of the form

$$g_{\beta,C}(\lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & \beta \end{pmatrix} + \frac{s}{\lambda - s} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & C^t \beta\\ C & \beta \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{\lambda - s} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & sC^t \beta\\ sC & \lambda\beta \end{pmatrix},$$

where  $\beta, C \in O(n)$ .

Let A be a solution of the GSGE, and  $E(x, \lambda)$  the normalized parallel frame for the corresponding Lax pair  $\theta_{\lambda}$  defined by (6.4). Note that  $E(x, \cdot) \in$   $L_+$ . Suppose  $g_{\beta,I}(\lambda)E(x,\lambda) = \tilde{E}(x,\lambda)g_{\tilde{\beta}(x),\tilde{C}(x)}(\lambda)$  with  $\tilde{\beta}(x), C(x) \in O(n)$ and  $\tilde{E}(x,\cdot) \in L_+$ . Then

$$\tilde{E}(x,\lambda) = g_{\beta,\mathrm{I}}(\lambda)E(x,\lambda)g_{\tilde{\beta}(x),\tilde{C}(x)}(\lambda)^{-1}$$

is holomorphic for  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ . So the residue at  $\lambda = s$  is zero, i.e.,

$$(1,\beta)E(x,s)\begin{pmatrix} 1 & -\tilde{C}^t\\ -\tilde{\beta}^t\tilde{C} & \tilde{\beta}^t \end{pmatrix} = 0.$$

This implies that

$$\tilde{\beta}^t \tilde{C} = (\eta_2 + \beta \eta_4)^{-1} (\eta_1 + \beta \eta_3), \quad \text{where } E(\cdot, s) = \begin{pmatrix} \eta_1 & \eta_2 \\ \eta_3 & \eta_4 \end{pmatrix}.$$

 $\operatorname{Set}$ 

$$(P,Q) := (1,\beta)E(\cdot,s)$$

Then  $d(P,Q) = (P,Q)\theta_s = (P,Q)\begin{pmatrix} w & \delta A^t D_s \\ D_s A \delta & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ ,  $D_s = \frac{1}{2}(sI + s^{-1}J)$ , or equivalently,

$$\begin{cases} \mathrm{d}P = Pw + QD_s A\delta, \\ \mathrm{d}Q = P\delta A^t D_s. \end{cases}$$

If  $X := -Q^{-1}P$ , then we get the BT given in Theorem 3.8:

 $\mathrm{d}X = X\delta A^t D_s X - Xw - D_s A\delta.$ 

This explains the following Theorem of [6] in terms of the action of  $g_{\beta,C}$ :

**Theorem 10.1.** Let s be a non-zero real constant. Consider the linear system for  $y : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathcal{M}_{n \times 2n}$ :

$$dy = y \begin{pmatrix} w & \delta A^t D_s \\ D_s A \delta & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad D_s = \frac{1}{2} (sI + s^{-1}J).$$
(10.4)

Then

- (1) System (10.4) is solvable if and only if A is a solution of the GSGE.
- (2) If y = (P,Q) is a solution of (10.4) with  $Q \in GL(n)$ , then  $X = -Q^{-1}P$  is a solution of BT (3.16) for GSGE and X is a solution of GSGE.

In other words, (10.4) can be viewed as the *Linear Bäcklund transform* for GSGE.

#### Definition 10.2. Ribaucour transform for submanifolds [21]

Let M and  $\tilde{M}$  be two *n*-dimensional submanifolds in  $\mathbb{R}^{n+k}$  with flat normal bundle. A *Ribaucour transform* is a vector bundle isomorphism  $\Phi: \nu(M) \to \nu(\tilde{M})$  covers a diffeomorphism  $\phi: M \to \tilde{M}$  satisfying the following conditions:

(1)  $\Phi$  maps parallel normal fields of M to parallel normal fields of  $\tilde{M}$ ,

- (2) for each  $p \in M$  and  $v \in \nu(M)_p$ , the normal line p + tv intersects the normal line  $\phi(p) + t\Phi(v)$  at equal distance r(p, v),
- (3)  $d\phi_p$  maps common eigenvectors of shape operators of M at p to common eigenvectors of shape operators of M at  $\phi(p)$ ,
- (4) the tangent line through p in a principal direction v meets the tangent line through  $\phi(p)$  in the direction of  $d\phi_p(v)$  at equal distance,

Let M be a submanifold in  $\mathbb{R}^{n+k}$ , and  $(e_1, \ldots, e_{n+k})$  an orthonormal frame on M such that  $(e_1, \ldots, e_n)$  are principal directions (i.e., a common eigenframe for the shape operator of M) and  $(e_{n+1}, \ldots, e_{n+k})$  is a parallel normal frame. Let M be another n-submanifold with flat normal bundle,  $\phi: M \to \infty$ M a diffeomorphism,  $(\tilde{e}_{n+1}, \ldots, \tilde{e}_{n+k})$  a parallel normal frame for M, and  $\tilde{e}_i$  is the direction of  $d\phi(e_i)$  for  $1 \leq i \leq n$ . Then  $\phi$  is a Ribaucour transform if

- (a)  $\tilde{e}_i$  is a principal direction for M for  $1 \leq i \leq n$ ,
- (b) there exist functions  $h_1, \ldots, h_{n+k}$  on M such that

$$\phi(p) + h_i(p)\tilde{e}_i(p) = p + h_i(p)e_i(p), \qquad 1 \le i \le n + k$$

for all  $p \in M$ .

Flat Lagrangian submanifolds in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ Let  $(\beta, h)$  be a solution of the  $\frac{U(n) \ltimes \mathbb{C}^n}{O(n) \ltimes \mathbb{R}^n}$ -system,  $\theta_{\lambda}$  its Lax pair (6.9), and  $F = \begin{pmatrix} E & X \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$  the normalized parallel frame of  $\theta_{\lambda}$ . We have seen in section 6 that for each  $r \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $X(\cdot, r)$  is a flat Lagrangian immersion in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  corresponding to solution  $(\beta, h)$  (the associated family). We review the action of two types of simple elements on the space of solutions of the  $\frac{U(n) \ltimes \mathbb{C}^n}{O(n) \ltimes \mathbb{R}^n}$ -system and derive the corresponding geometric transformations ([58]).

The action of  $h_{\alpha,\pi}$ 

We compute the action of  $h_{\alpha,\pi}$  on flat Lagrangian submanifolds in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , where

$$h_{\alpha,\pi} = \begin{pmatrix} g_{\mathbf{i}\alpha,\pi} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{\lambda + \mathbf{i}\alpha}{\lambda - \mathbf{i}\alpha} \end{pmatrix}$$

with  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\bar{\pi} = \pi$ . Note that  $h_{\alpha,\pi}$  satisfies the  $\frac{U(n) \ltimes \mathbb{C}^n}{O(n) \ltimes \mathbb{R}^n}$  reality condition up to scalar functions.

We claim that the action of  $h_{\alpha,\pi}$  gives a Ribaucour transform for flat Lagrangian submanifolds in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . To see this, first we factor  $gF = \tilde{F}\tilde{f}$  with

$$\tilde{F} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{E} & \tilde{X} \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \tilde{f} = \begin{pmatrix} g_{\mathbf{i}\alpha,\tilde{\pi}} & \xi \\ 0 & \frac{\lambda + \mathbf{i}\alpha}{\lambda - \mathbf{i}\alpha} \end{pmatrix}$$

where  $\xi = \frac{-2i\alpha}{\lambda - i\alpha} \tilde{\pi} \eta$ ,  $\eta(x) = E(x, -i\alpha)^{-1} X(x, -i\alpha)$ , and  $\tilde{\pi}(x)$  is the Hermitian projection onto  $\tilde{y}(x) = E(x, \mathbf{i}\alpha)^{-1}(\mathrm{Im}\pi)$ . It follows from reality conditions that both  $\tilde{\pi}$  and  $\eta$  are real.

We assume  $\text{Im}\pi$  is of one dimension and is equal to  $\mathbb{R}y_0$ . Let

$$\tilde{y}(x) = E(x, \mathbf{i}\alpha)^{-1}(y_0)$$

Then

$$\tilde{\pi} = \frac{\tilde{y}\tilde{y}^t}{||\tilde{y}||^2}.$$
(10.5)

Equate the 12-entry of  $fF = \tilde{F}\tilde{f}$  to get  $gX = \tilde{E}\xi + \frac{\lambda + i\alpha}{\lambda - i\alpha}\tilde{X}$ . This implies that

$$X = \tilde{g}^{-1}\tilde{E}\xi + \frac{\lambda + i\alpha}{\lambda - i\alpha}g^{-1}\tilde{X},$$

where  $g = g_{\mathbf{i}\alpha,\pi}$  and  $\tilde{g} = g_{\mathbf{i}\alpha,\tilde{\pi}}$ . Set  $\hat{X} = \frac{\lambda + \mathbf{i}\alpha}{\lambda - \mathbf{i}\alpha} g_{\mathbf{i}\alpha,\pi}^{-1} \tilde{X}$ . Then

$$\hat{X} = X + \frac{2i\alpha}{\lambda - i\alpha} E\tilde{\pi}\eta \tag{10.6}$$

is a flat Lagrangian submanifold in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  corresponding to the solution  $(\tilde{\beta}, \tilde{h})$ , where  $\tilde{\beta} = \beta - 2\alpha(\tilde{\pi})_*$  and  $\tilde{h} = h - 2\alpha\tilde{\pi}\eta$ .

Claim that (10.6) is a Ribaucour transform. To see this we first note that

$$\hat{E} = \frac{\lambda + \mathbf{i}\alpha}{\lambda - \mathbf{i}\alpha} g_{\mathbf{i}\alpha,\pi}^{-1} \tilde{E} = E(\mathbf{I} + \frac{2\mathbf{i}\alpha}{\lambda - \mathbf{i}\alpha} \tilde{\pi})$$
(10.7)

is a parallel frame for the Lax pair of  $(\tilde{\beta}, \tilde{h})$ . Hence

$$\hat{E} - E = \frac{2\mathbf{i}\alpha}{\lambda - \mathbf{i}\alpha} E\tilde{\pi}.$$
(10.8)

Write  $E = (e_1, \ldots, e_n)$  and  $\hat{E} = (\hat{e}_1, \ldots, \hat{e}_n)$ . By (10.5), we see that the *j*-th column of  $\frac{2i\alpha}{\lambda - i\alpha} E\tilde{\pi}$  is equal to  $\tilde{y}_j Z$ , where

$$Z = \frac{2\mathbf{i}\alpha}{\lambda - \mathbf{i}\alpha} \frac{E\tilde{y}}{||\tilde{y}||^2}$$

By (10.6) and (10.8), we get

$$\hat{e}_j - e_j = \tilde{y}_j Z,\tag{10.9}$$

$$\hat{X} - X = \frac{(\tilde{y}, \eta)}{\tilde{y}_i} (\hat{e}_i - e_i)$$
(10.10)

It remains to compute the relation between parallel normal fields of X and  $\hat{X}$ . The parallel tangent frames for X and  $\hat{X}$  are  $V = EA^{-1}$  and  $\hat{V} = \hat{E}\hat{A}^{-1}$  respectively, where A(x) = E(x,0) and  $\hat{A}(x) = \hat{E}(x,0)$ . By (10.7),  $\hat{A} = A(I - 2\tilde{\pi})$ . Compute directly to see that

$$\begin{split} \hat{V} &= \hat{E}\hat{A}^{-1} = E(\mathbf{I} + \frac{2\mathbf{i}\alpha}{\lambda - \mathbf{i}\alpha}\tilde{\pi})(\mathbf{I} - 2\tilde{\pi})A^{-1} \\ &= E(\mathbf{I} - \frac{2\lambda}{\lambda - \mathbf{i}\alpha}\tilde{\pi})A^{-1} = EA^{-1} - \frac{2\lambda}{\lambda - \mathbf{i}\alpha}E\tilde{\pi}A^{-1} \\ &= V - \frac{2\lambda}{\lambda - \mathbf{i}\alpha}E\tilde{\pi}A^{-1}. \end{split}$$

Thus we have

$$\hat{v}_j - v_j = \frac{\mathbf{i}\lambda}{\alpha} (\sum_{k=1}^n a_{jk} \tilde{y}_k) Z, \qquad (10.11)$$

where  $\tilde{v}_j$  and  $v_j$  are the *j*-th column of  $\hat{V}$  and V respectively. Since  $X, \hat{X}$  are Lagrangian,  $v_{n+j} = \mathbf{i}v_j$  and  $\hat{v}_{n+j} = \mathbf{i}\hat{v}_j$  are parallel normal fields for X and  $\hat{X}$  respectively. As a consequence of (10.11), (10.9) and (10.10), we have

$$\hat{X} - X = -\frac{\alpha(\eta, \tilde{y})}{\lambda \sum_{k=1}^{n} a_{jk} \tilde{y}_k} (\hat{v}_{n+j} - v_{n+j}).$$

This proves that  $X \mapsto \hat{X}$  is a Ribaucour transform. In fact, this is the Ribaucour transform found in [20].

## The action of $k_{\mathbf{i}\alpha,b}$

We claim that the action of  $k_{i\alpha,b}$  gives an Combescure O-transform for flat Lagrangian submanifolds in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , where

$$k_{\mathbf{i}\alpha,b}(\lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{I} & \frac{\mathbf{i}b}{\lambda - \mathbf{i}\alpha} \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

First factor

$$k_{\mathbf{i}\alpha,b}F = \tilde{F}\tilde{k} = \begin{pmatrix} E & Y \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{I} & \frac{\mathbf{i}E_{\mathbf{i}\alpha}^{-1}b}{\lambda - \mathbf{i}\alpha} \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

Then

$$Y = X + \frac{\mathbf{i}(b - E_{\lambda}E_{\mathbf{i}\alpha}^{-1}b)}{\lambda - \mathbf{i}\alpha}.$$

Moreover, if  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  then Y is a flat Lagrangian submanifold of  $\mathbb{C}^n$  corresponding to the solution  $(\beta, \tilde{h})$ , where  $\tilde{h} = h + E(\cdot, \mathbf{i}\alpha)^{-1}b$ . Note that the transform  $X \mapsto Y$  is a Combescure O-transform.

## k-tuples in $\mathbb{R}^n$ of type $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$

It is known that the Darboux (or Ribaucour) transforms for Christoffel pairs of isothermic surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  and for Christoffel pairs of isothermic surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  can be derived from the action of a simple rational map by dressing actions (cf. [16, 34] and [11, 12] respectively). Ribaucour transforms are constructed for k-tuples in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of type  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$  in [11, 25] using dressing action of a simple rational loop. Recall that Christoffel pairs of isothermic surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  (for  $n \geq 3$ ) are 2-tuples in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of type  $\mathbb{R}^{1,1}$ . So the construction of Ribaucour transforms for k-tuples in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of type  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$  contains the surface case.

Simple elements for the  $\frac{O(n+k-\ell,\ell)}{O(n)\times O(k-\ell,\ell)}$ -system Let  $W \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $Z \in \mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$  with length 1, i.e.,  $W^tW = Z^t \mathbf{I}_{k-\ell,\ell}Z = 1$ , and  $\pi$  the projection of  $\mathbb{C}^{n+k}$  onto  $\mathbb{C}\begin{pmatrix}W\\\mathbf{i}Z\end{pmatrix}$ , i.e.,  $\pi = \frac{1}{2}\begin{pmatrix}WW^t & \mathbf{i}WZ^t\\\mathbf{i}ZW^t & ZZ^t\end{pmatrix}$ . Note that  $\pi \bar{\pi} = \bar{\pi} \pi = 0$ . Let  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then

$$p_{\mathbf{i}s,\pi} = (\pi + \frac{\lambda + \mathbf{i}s}{\lambda - \mathbf{i}s}(\mathbf{I} - \pi))(\bar{\pi} + \frac{\lambda - \mathbf{i}s}{\lambda + \mathbf{i}s}(\mathbf{I} - \bar{\pi}))$$
$$= \frac{\lambda + \mathbf{i}s}{\lambda - \mathbf{i}s}\bar{\pi} + \frac{\lambda - \mathbf{i}s}{\lambda + \mathbf{i}s}\pi + \mathbf{I} - \pi - \bar{\pi}$$

satisfies the  $\frac{O(n+k-\ell,\ell)}{O(n)\times O(k-\ell,\ell)}$ -reality condition.

## **Theorem 10.3.** [11, 25]

Let  $\xi = (F, \gamma)$  be a solution of the  $\frac{O(n+k-\ell,\ell)}{O(n)\times O(k-\ell,\ell)}$ -system, and  $E(x,\lambda)$  a parallel frame for the Lax pair  $\theta_{\lambda}$  defined by (8.6). Let  $W \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$  and  $Z \in \mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$  be unit vectors,  $\pi$  the projection of  $\mathbb{C}^{n+k}$  onto  $\mathbb{C}\begin{pmatrix}W\\\mathbf{i}Z\end{pmatrix}$ . Then:

- (1)  $E(x, \mathbf{i}s)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} W \\ \mathbf{i}Z \end{pmatrix}$  is of the form  $\begin{pmatrix} \tilde{W}(x) \\ \mathbf{i}\tilde{Z}(x) \end{pmatrix}$  with  $\tilde{W} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $\tilde{Z} \in \mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$ , and  $\tilde{W}^t \tilde{W} = \tilde{Z}^t \mathbf{I}_{k-1,1} \tilde{Z}$ .
- (2) The action  $p_{\mathbf{i}s,\pi} * \xi = (F,\gamma) + 4s(\hat{Z}\hat{W}^t)_*$ , where  $\eta_* = \eta \sum_{i=1}^k \eta_{ii}e_{ii}$ for  $k \times n$  matrix  $\eta = (\eta_{ij})$  and  $\hat{W}(x)$  and  $\hat{Z}(x)$  are the unit directions of  $\tilde{W}(x)$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\hat{Z}(x)$  in  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$  respectively.
- (3)  $\hat{E}(x,\lambda) := E(x,\lambda)p_{\mathbf{i}s,\hat{\pi}(x)}(\lambda)$  is a parallel frame for the Lax pair of  $p_{\mathbf{i}s,\pi} * \xi$ , where  $\hat{\pi}$  is the projection onto  $\mathbb{C}(\hat{W}, \mathbf{i}\hat{Z})^t$ .

We use Theorem 10.3,  $\hat{E} = Ep_{\mathbf{i}s,\hat{\pi}}$  and a straight-forward computation to write down the geometric transform on k-tuples of type  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$  corresponding to the action of  $p_{\mathbf{i}s,\pi}$ . We state the results for the case n = k+1, and similar results hold for higher co-dimension.

## Theorem 10.4. Ribaucour transform for k-tuples [11, 25]

Let  $E, p_{\mathbf{i}s,\hat{\pi}}, \hat{E}$  be as in Theorem 10.3, and n = k + 1. Then:

(1) There are  $\mathcal{M}_{(k+1)\times k}$  valued maps  $\Xi, \hat{\Xi}$  such that

$$\frac{\partial E}{\partial \lambda} E^{-1} \Big|_{\lambda=0} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \Xi \\ -\Xi^t J & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \frac{\partial \hat{E}}{\partial \lambda} \hat{E}^{-1} \Big|_{\lambda=0} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \hat{\Xi} \\ -J\hat{\Xi}^t & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
  
where  $J = I_{k-\ell,\ell} = \operatorname{diag}(\epsilon_1, \dots, \epsilon_k).$ 

- (2) Given a non-zero vector  $\mathbf{c} \in \mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$ ,  $\Xi(x)\mathbf{c}$  is a hypersurface in  $\mathbb{R}^{k+1}$ with flat normal bundle, x is a line of curvature coordinate system, and the first fundamental form  $\mathbf{I} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} g_{ii} \, dx_i^2$  satisfies the condition that  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \epsilon_i g_{ii}$  is equal to the length of  $\mathbf{c}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$ . In particular, if  $\mathbf{c}$  is a null vector in  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$  then  $\Xi \mathbf{c}$  is an isothermic\_{\ell} hypersurface (as defined in 5.12).
- (3) For any  $\mathbf{c}_1, \mathbf{c}_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}, \ \Xi(x)\mathbf{c}_1 \mapsto \Xi(x)\mathbf{c}_2$  is a Combescure O-transform.
- (4) Let  $C = (\mathbf{c}_1, \dots, \mathbf{c}_k)$  be a constant matrix in GL(k), and

$$Y = (Y_1, \dots, Y_k) = \Xi C, \quad Y = (Y_1, \dots, Y_k) = \Xi C.$$

Then:

- (a)  $Y, \hat{Y}$  are k-tuples in  $\mathbb{R}^{k+1}$  of type  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$ ,
- (b) If all columns of C are null vectors in  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$ , then  $Y_i, \hat{Y}_i$  are isothermic\_{\ell} hypersurfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^{k+1}$  for  $1 \leq i \leq k$ .
- (c)  $E(x,0), \hat{E}(x,0) \in O(k+1) \times O(k-\ell,\ell).$
- (d) Write  $E(\cdot, 0) = \begin{pmatrix} g_1 & 0 \\ 0 & g_2 \end{pmatrix}, \hat{E}(\cdot, 0) = \begin{pmatrix} \hat{g}_1 & 0 \\ 0 & \hat{g}_2 \end{pmatrix},$

$$g_1 = (e_1, \dots, e_{k+1}), \quad \hat{g}_1 = (\hat{e}_1, \dots, \hat{e}_{k+1}),$$

and  $\hat{W} = (q_1, \dots, q_{k+1})^t$ . Then

$$\hat{Y}_i = Y_i - \frac{\hat{Z}^t J g_2^{-1} \mathbf{c}_i}{s} \sum_{j=1}^{k+1} q_j e_j.$$

(e)  $Y_i(x) \mapsto \hat{Y}_i(x)$  is a Ribaucour transform for  $1 \le i \le k$ . In fact, we have

$$\hat{Y}_i - \frac{\hat{Z}^t g_2^{-1} \mathbf{c}_i}{sq_j} \hat{e}_j = Y_i - \frac{\hat{Z}^t g_2^{-1} \mathbf{c}_i}{sq_j} e_j$$

for all  $1 \leq i, j \leq k+1$ .

Note that a solution of the  $\frac{O(n+k-\ell,\ell)}{O(n)\times O(k-\ell,\ell)}$ -system gives rise to a family of isothermic<sub> $\ell$ </sub> k-submanifolds in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  parametrized by the null cone of  $\mathbb{R}^{k-\ell,\ell}$  and any two submanifolds in this family are related by Combescure O-transforms. But for the converse, we need to have k or k-1 isothermic<sub> $\ell$ </sub> k-submanifolds in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  related by Combescure O-transforms to construct a solution of the  $\frac{O(n+k-\ell,\ell)}{O(n)\times O(k-\ell,\ell)}$ -system. This is because Theorem 6.1 (1)-(3) hold for any Combescure O-map  $Y = (Y_1, \ldots, Y_m) : \mathbb{R}^k \to \mathcal{M}_{n\times m}$ . So the connection  $o(k-\ell,\ell)$ -valued 1-form  $\tau = \delta F^t - JF\delta J$  has m parallel sections, and  $\tau$  is flat if m = k - 1 or m = k.

#### References

- Ablowitz, M.J., Kaup, D.J., Newell, A.C. and Segur, H., The inverse scattering transform - Fourier analysis for nonlinear problems, Stud. Appl. Math. 53 (1974), 249-315
- [2] Ablowitz, M. J., Beals, R., Tenenblat, K., On the solution of the generalized wave and generalized sine-Gordon equations, Stud. Appl. Math. 74 (1986), 177-203
- [3] Ablowitz, M.J., Clarkson, P.A., Solitons, non-linear evolution equations and inverse scattering, Cambridge Univ. Press (1991)
- [4] Adler, M., On a trace functional for formal pseudo-differential operators and the symplectic structure of the Korteweg-de Vries Type Equations, Invent. Math., 50 (1979), 219-248
- Beals, R., Coifman, R.R., Scattering and inverse scattering for first order systems, Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 37 (1984), 39-90
- [6] Beals, R., Tenenblat, K., Inverse scattering and the Bäcklund transformation for the generalized wave and generalized sine-Gordon equations, Stud. Appl. Math. 78 (1988), 227-256

- [7] Bobenko, A. I., Surfaces in terms of 2 by 2 matrices. Old and new integrable cases, Harmonic maps and integrable systems, Aspects Math., Vieweg, Braunschweig, E23 (1994), 83-127
- [8] Bobenko, A.I., Discrete indefinite affine spheres, Discrete integrable geometry and physics, Oxford Lecture Ser. Math. Appl., Oxford Univ. Press, New York, 16 (1999), 113-138
- [9] Brander, D., Curved flats, pluriharmonic maps and constant curvature immersions into pseudo-Riemannian space forms, Ann. Global Anal. Geom. 32 (2007), 253275.
- [10] Brander, D., Grassmann geometries in infinite dimensional homogeneous spaces and an application to reflective submanifolds, Int. Math. Res. Not. 21 (2007), 38pp
- [11] Brück, M., Du, X., Park, J., and Terng, C.L., Submanifold geometry of real Grassmannian systems, The Memoirs, vol 155, AMS, 735 (2002), 1-95
- [12] Burstall F.E., Isothermic surfaces, conformal geometry, Clifford algebras and integrable systems, in Integrable systems, geometry, and topology, 36 (2006), AMS/IP Stud. Adv. Math., 1-82
- [13] Burstall F.E., Donaldson, N.M., Pedit, F., Pinkall, U., Isothermic submanifolds of symmetric R-spaces, preprint: arXiv:0906.1692
- [14] Burstall, F., Hertrich-Jeromin, U., Pedit, F., Pinkall, U., Curved ats and isothermic surfaces, Math. Z. 225 (1997), 199209
- [15] Cartan, E., Sur les variétés de courbure constante d'un espace euclidien ou noneuclidien, Bull. Soc. Math. France, 47 (1919), 132-20
- [16] Cieśliński, J., The Darboux-Bianchi transformation for isothermic surfaces. Classical results versus the soliton approach, Differential Geom. Appl. 7 (1997), 1-28.
- [17] Cieśliński, J., Goldstein, P., and Sym, A., Isothermic surfaces in E<sup>3</sup> as soliton surfaces, Phys. Lett. A 205 (1995), 37-43.
- [18] Dai, B., Terng, C.L., Periodic and homoclinic solutions of the modified 2+1 Chiral model, J. Math. Physics 46 (2005), 14 pp
- [19] Dajczer, M., Tojeiro, R., Flat totally real submanifolds of CP<sup>n</sup> and the symmetric generalized wave equation, Tohoku Math. J., 47 (1995), 117-123
- [20] Dajczer, M., Tojeiro, R., The Ribaucour transformation for flat Lagrangian submanifolds, J. Geom. Anal. 10 (2000), 269-280
- [21] Dajczer, M., Tojeiro, R., An extension of the classical Ribaucour transformation, Proc. London Math. Soc., 85 (2002), 211-232.
- [22] Darboux, G., Sur les surfaces isothermiques, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, 128 (1899) 1299-1305
- [23] Darboux, G., Lecons sur les systèmes orthogonaux et les coordonneées curvilignes, (1910), Gauthier-Villars
- [24] Donaldson, N., Fox, D., Goertsches, O., Generators for Rational Loop Groups and Geometric Applications, preprint: arXiv:0803.0029, to appear in Transactions of AMS
- [25] Donaldson, N.; Terng, C.L., Isothermic hypersurfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ , preprint: arXiv:0809.3608
- [26] Donaldson, N., Terng, C.L., Conformally flat submanifolds in spheres and integrable systems, preprint: arXiv:0803.2754
- [27] Drinfel'd, V.G., Sokolov, V.V., Lie algebras and equations of Korteweg-de Vries type, (Russian) Current problems in mathematics, 24 (1984), 81-180, Itogi Nauki i Tekhniki, Akad. Nauk SSSR, Vsesoyuz. Inst. Nauchn. i Tekhn. Inform., Moscow
- [28] Eisenhart, L.P., Transformations of surfaces, (1962), Dover
- [29] Ferus, D., Pedit, F., Curved flats in symmetric spaces, Manuscripta Math., 91 (1996), 445-454
- [30] Ferus, D., Pedit, F., Isometric immersions of space forms and soliton theory, Math. Ann., 305 (1996), 329-342
- [31] Fordy, A.P., Kulish, P.P., Nonlinear Schrödinger equations and simple Lie algebra, Commun. Math. Phys., 89 (1983), 427-443

- [32] Fordy, A.P., A historical introduction to solitons and Backlund transformations, Harmonic maps and integrable systems, Aspects Math., E23 (1994), Vieweg, Braunschweig, 728
- [33] Gu, C., Hu, H., Zhou, Z., Darboux transformations in soliton theory and its geometric applications, Modern Mathematics Series, (1999), Shanghai Scientific and Technical Publishers
- [34] Hertrich-Jeromin, U., Pedit, F., Remarks on the Darboux transform of isothermic surfaces, Doc. Math. 2 (1997), 313-333
- [35] Hertrich-Jeromin, U., Introduction to Mobius differential geometry, London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series, 300 (2003), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- [36] Krichever, I.M., Methods of algebraic geometry in the theory of nonlinear equations, (Russian) Uspehi Mat. Nauk 32 (1977), no. 6(198), 183-208; English translation: Russian Math. Surveys 36 (1981), 11-92
- [37] Kupershmidt, B.A., Wilson, G., Modifying Lax equations and the second Hamiltonian structure, Invent. Math. 62 (1981), 403-436
- [38] Moore, J.D., Isometric immersions of space forms in space forms, Pacific J. Math., 40 (1979), 157-166
- [39] Musso, E., Nicolodi, L., Tableaux over Lie algebras, integrable systems, and classical surface theory, Comm. Anal. Geom., 14 (2006), 475-496
- [40] Palais, R.S., The symmetries of solitons, Bulletin AMS, 34 (1997), 339-403
- [41] Palais R.S., Terng C.L., Critical Point Theory and Submanifold Geometry, Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1353 (1988), Springer-Verlag, Berlin and New York
- [42] Pressley, A., Segal, G. B., *Loop Groups*, Oxford Science Publ., Clarendon Press, Oxford, (1986)
- [43] Rogers, C., Schief, W. K. Bcklund and Darboux transformations. Geometry and modern applications in soliton theory, Cambridge Texts in Applied Mathematics, (2002) Cambridge University Press
- [44] Sattinger, D.H., Hamiltonian hierarchies on semi-simple Lie algebras, Stud. Appl. Math., 72 (1984), 65-86
- [45] Schief, W. K., Konopelchenko, B. G., On the unification of classical and novel integrable surfaces. I. Differential geometry. R. Soc. Lond. Proc. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 459 (2003), 67-84
- [46] Sym, A., Soliton surfaces and their application in: Soliton geometry from spectral problems, Lecture Notes in Physics 239 (1985), 154-231
- [47] Tenenblat, K., Bäcklund's theorem for submanifolds of space forms and a generalized wave equation, Boll. Soc. Brasil. Mat., 16 (1985), 67-92
- [48] Tenenblat, K., Transformations of manifolds and applications to differential equations, Pitman Monographs and Surveys in Pure and Applied Mathematics, 93 (1998), Longman, Harlow
- [49] Tenenblat, K., Terng, C.L., Bäcklund's theorem for n-dimensional submanifolds of R<sup>2n-1</sup>, Ann. Math. **111** (1980), 477-490
- [50] Terng, C.L., A higher dimensional generalization of the sine-Gordon equation and its soliton theory, Ann. Math. 111 (1980), 491-510
- [51] Terng, C.L., Soliton equations and differential geometry, J. Differential Geometry, 45 (1997), 407-445
- [52] Terng, C.L., Geometries and symmetries of soliton equations and integrable elliptic systems, Advanced Studies in Pure Mathematics, 51 (2008), Survey on Geometry and Integrable systems, 401-488
- [53] Terng, C.L., *Soliton Hierarchies from involutions*, to appear in the Proceedings of 2007 ICCM at Hangzhou, China.

- [54] Terng, C.L., Uhlenbeck, K., Poisson actions and scattering theory for integrable systems, Surveys in Differential Geometry: Integrable systems (A supplement to J. Differential Geometry), 4 (1998), 315-402
- [55] Terng, C.L., Uhlenbeck, K., Bäcklund transformations and loop group actions, Comm. Pure. Appl. Math., 53 (2000), 1-75
- [56] Terng, C.L., Uhlenbeck, K., Geometry of solitons, Notice, A.M.S., 47 (2000), 17-25
- [57] Terng, C.L., Uhlenbeck, K., The  $n \times n \ KdV$  flows, preprint: arXiv:nlin/0611006
- [58] Terng C.L., Wang, E., Transformations of flat Lagrangian immersions and Egoroff nets, Asian J. Math. 12 (2008) 99-119.
- [59] Uhlenbeck, K., Harmonic maps into Lie group (classical solutions of the Chiral model), J. Differential Geometry, **30** (1989), 1-50
- [60] Uhlenbeck, K., On the connection between harmonic maps and the self-dual Yang-Mills and the sine-Gordon equations, J. Geom. Phys. 8 (1992), 283-316
- [61] van Moerbeke, P., Integrable foundations of string theory. Lectures on integrable systems, (1991), 163-267, World Sci. Publ., River Edge, NJ, 1994
- [62] Wang, E., Tzitzica transformation is a dressing action, J. Math. Phys. 47 (2006), 13 pp.
- [63] Wilson, G., The τ-functions of the GAKNS equations, Integrable systems, the Verdier Memorial, Progress in Math., 115 (1991), 147-162
- [64] Zakharov, V.E., Shabat, A.B., Exact theory of two-dimensional self-focusing and onedimensional of waves in nonlinear media, Sov. Phys. JETP 34 (1972), 62-69
- [65] Zakharov, V.E., Shabat, A.B., Integration of non-linear equations of mathematical physics by the inverse scattering method, II, Funct. Anal. Appl., 13 (1979), 166-174

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA AT IRVINE, IRVINE, CA 92697-3875

*E-mail address*: cterng@math.uci.edu